de la société mathématique de france

Numéro171ON THE EVOLUTIONNouvelle sérieBY DUALITYOF DOMAINS ON MANIFOLDS

K. COULIBALY-PASQUIER & L. MICLO

2 0 2 1

SOCIÉTÉ MATHÉMATIQUE DE FRANCE

Comité de rédaction

Christine BACHOC Yann BUGEAUD François DAHMANI Béatrice de TILLIÈRE Clotilde FERMANIAN Wendy LOWEN Laurent MANIVEL Julien MARCHÉ Kieran O'GRADY Emmanuel RUSS Eva VIEHMANN

Marc HERZLICH (dir.)

Diffusion

Maison de la SMF Case 916 - Luminy 13288 Marseille Cedex 9 France commandes@smf.emath.fr AMS P.O. Box 6248 Providence RI 02940 USA www.ams.org

Tarifs

Vente au numéro : 35 € (\$53) Abonnement électronique : 113 € (\$170) Abonnement avec supplément papier : 167 €, hors Europe : 197 € (\$296) Des conditions spéciales sont accordées aux membres de la SMF.

Secrétariat

Mémoires de la SMF Société Mathématique de France Institut Henri Poincaré, 11, rue Pierre et Marie Curie 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France Tél : (33) 01 44 27 67 99 • Fax : (33) 01 40 46 90 96 memoires@smf.emath.fr • http://smf.emath.fr/

© Société Mathématique de France 2021

Tous droits réservés (article L 122-4 du Code de la propriété intellectuelle). Toute représentation ou reproduction intégrale ou partielle faite sans le consentement de l'éditeur est illicite. Cette représentation ou reproduction par quelque procédé que ce soit constituerait une contrefaçon sanctionnée par les articles L 335-2 et suivants du CPI.

ISSN papier 0249-633-X; électronique : 2275-3230 ISBN 978-2-85629-935-7 doi:10.24033/msmf.479

Directeur de la publication : Fabien DURAND

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

ON THE EVOLUTION BY DUALITY OF DOMAINS ON MANIFOLDS

Koléhè Coulibaly-Pasquier Laurent Miclo

Société Mathématique de France 2021

K. Coulibaly-Pasquier

Institut Élie Cartan de Lorraine, Université de Lorraine, Site de Nancy, B.P. 70239, F-54506 Vandœuvre-lès-Nancy Cedex.

E-mail: kolehe.coulibaly@univ-lorraine.fr

L. Miclo

Toulouse School of Economics, 1, Esplanade de l'université, 31080 Toulouse cedex 06, France.

E-mail: miclo@math.cnrs.fr

Reçu le 22 avril 2019, révisé le 16 avril 2020, accepté le 10 juin 2020.

2000 *Mathematics Subject Classification.* – 60J60; 58J65, 53C21, 53C44, 60J35, 35K59.

Key words and phrases. – Elliptic diffusions, Riemannian manifolds, stochastic domain dynamics, duality by intertwining, Bessel processes, modified mean curvature flows, constant curvature spaces.

Mots clefs. – Diffusions elliptiques, variétés riemanniennes, dynamiques stochastiques de domaines, dualité par entrelacement, processus de Bessel, flots par courbure moyenne modifiés, espaces à courbure constante.

LM acknowledges funding from the French National Research Agency (ANR) under the Investments for the Future (Investissements d'avenir) program, grants ANR-12-BS01-0019 and ANR-17-EURE-0010.

The authors are grateful to Marc Arnaudon, Jérôme Bertrand and Yuxin Ge for all their discussions about Riemannian geometry, to the referee for her/his suggestions and to the hospitality of the Institut Élie Cartan de Lorraine and of the Institut Mittag-Leffler, where this work was partially done.

ON THE EVOLUTION BY DUALITY OF DOMAINS ON MANIFOLDS

Koléhè Coulibaly-Pasquier, Laurent Miclo

Abstract. – On a manifold, consider an elliptic diffusion X admitting an invariant measure μ . The goal of this paper is to introduce and investigate the first properties of stochastic domain evolutions $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ which are intertwining dual processes for X (where τ is an appropriate positive stopping time before the potential emergence of singularities). They provide an extension of Pitman's theorem, as it turns out that $(\mu(D_t))_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ is a Bessel-3 process, up to a natural time-change. When X is a Brownian motion on a Riemannian manifold, the dual domain-valued process is a stochastic modification of the mean curvature flow to which is added an isoperimetric ratio drift to prevent it from collapsing into singletons.

Résumé (Sur l'évolution par dualité de domaines dans des variétés)

Sur une variété, considérons une diffusion elliptique X de mesure invariante μ . Le but de ce papier est d'introduire et d'étudier les premières propriétés d'évolutions stochastiques de domaines $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ qui sont des processus duaux par entrelacement de X (où τ est un temps d'arrêt strictement positif précédant l'apparition éventuelle de singularités). Il s'agit d'une extension du théorème de Pitman, puisqu'il ressort que $(\mu(D_t))_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ est un processus de Bessel-3, à un changement naturel de temps près. Quand X est un mouvement brownien sur une variété compacte, ce processus dual à valeurs domaines est une modification stochastique du flot par courbure moyenne auquel est ajouté une dérive fournie par un quotient isopérimétrique qui l'empêche de s'effondrer en des singletons.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1	
2.	Homogeneous situations	9	
	2.1. Euclidean spaces	9	
	2.2. Spherical spaces	10	
	2.3. Hyperbolic spaces	12	
3.	Smooth initial conditions	15	
4.	Existence of a stochastic modified mean curvature flow	33	
	4.1. Local existence of a pushed mean curvature flow	34	
	4.2. Local existence of (51)	53	
5.	Back to the homogeneous situations	65	
	5.1. About the Euclidean and constant curvature spaces	65	
	5.2. Comparison of two Doss-Sussman approaches	73	
6.	About the martingale problems associated to \mathfrak{L}	81	
	6.1. Proof of Theorem 5	81	
	6.2. The stochastic differential equation associated with the martingale		
	problem	83	
	6.3. Enrichment of the elementary observables	85	
	6.4. Asymptotic behavior for large times on the plane	92	
7.	Elliptic density theorem revisited	101	
Aj	Appendix. About product situations105		
Bi	Bibliography		

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

In the finite state space framework, Diaconis and Fill [5] have shown that ergodic Markov chains can be intertwined with Markov chains living on the set of non-empty subsets of the state space and ending up being absorbed at the full state space. This result enabled them to construct strong stationary times for ergodic Markov chains, leading to quantitative bounds on their convergence to equilibrium, in the separation discrepancy and in the total variation distance. In [19], this point of view was extended to real ergodic diffusion processes, but the one-dimensionality seemed crucial in the method. As noted in this previous paper, it is quite unfortunate, since otherwise it could lead to a new probabilistic approach to the hypoellipticity theorem of Hörmander [11]. Here we make an important step further in this program, by showing that elliptic diffusions on differential manifolds admitting an invariant measure can indeed be intertwined with domain-valued Markov processes. Although the hypoellipticity is not yet entering in the game (but see [18] for a first illustration in dimension 1), the introduced domain-valued processes are already very intriguing and promising in themselves. When dealing with the Brownian motion on a Riemannian manifold, they are natural stochastic modifications of the mean curvature flow. In the more general case, when a gradient drift is added to the Brownian motion, one has to consider some weighted extensions.

Let L be an elliptic diffusion generator on a differentiable manifold V. Here we will not be interested in regularity problems, so V and the coefficients of L are supposed to be smooth. Assume there exists a σ -finite measure μ on V which is invariant for Lin the sense that

$$\forall f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(V), \qquad \mu[L[f]] = 0,$$

where $\mathcal{C}_{c}^{\infty}(V)$ stands for the space of smooth functions on V with compact support. By ellipticity, the measure μ admits a positive density with respect to the Riemannian measure. Note that in general μ is not unique, even up to a positive factor, e.g., for the generator $\partial^{2} + \partial$ on \mathbb{R} , all the measures with a density of the form $\mathbb{R} \ni x \mapsto a + b \exp(x)$, with $a, b \ge 0$, are invariant. But there is at most one finite invariant measure and in this case it is usual to normalize μ into a probability measure. Let \mathcal{D} be the set of non-empty, compact and connected domains D in V, which coincide with the closure of their interior and whose boundary $C \coloneqq \partial D$ is smooth. Denote also $\underline{\mathcal{D}} \coloneqq \mathcal{D} \sqcup \{\{x\} : x \in V\}$, obtained by adjunction of all the singletons to \mathcal{D} , and $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$ the set of all measurable subsets D of V which either satisfy $\mu(V) \in (0, +\infty)$ or are singletons (so that $\mathcal{D} \subset \underline{\mathcal{D}} \subset \overline{\mathcal{D}}$). Consider the Markov kernel Λ from $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$ to Vgiven by

(1)
$$\forall D \in \overline{\mathcal{D}}, \forall A \in \mathcal{B}(V), \qquad \Lambda(D,A) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{\mu(A \cap D)}{\mu(D)}, & \text{if } \mu(D) > 0, \\ \delta_x(A) & \text{if } D = \{x\}, \text{ with } x \in V, \end{cases}$$

where $\mathcal{B}(V)$ is the set of measurable subsets of V and δ_x the Dirac mass at x. As usual, such an integral kernel can be seen as an operator transforming bounded (respectively positive) measurable functions on V into finite-valued (resp. $(0, +\infty]$ -valued) functions on $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$.

The main goal of this paper is to find a Markov generator \mathfrak{L} with state space \mathcal{D} satisfying, in an appropriate sense, the *intertwining relation*

(2)
$$\mathfrak{L}\Lambda = \Lambda L$$

and for which the singletons are entrance boundaries.

REMARK 1. – This was done in [19] when $V = \mathbb{R}$ and when $-\infty$ and $+\infty$ were entrance boundaries for L. The latter assumption was needed to insure that the resulting Markov processes on the set of the closed segments (which were not assumed to be compact in [19]) end up being absorbed at the whole state space \mathbb{R} , because we were primarily interested in constructing strong stationary times. This is no longer our objective here (even if we should come back to this question in a future work), that is why no assumption is made on the behavior of L at infinity.

Note also that in general there is not a unique Markov generator satisfying the above requirements, since in [19] we constructed a whole family of such operators when $V = \mathbb{R}$. Nevertheless, among them, one was the fastest to be absorbed at \mathbb{R} , it is a generalization of this Markov generator that will be considered below.

As a consequence of the previous remark, from now on, we assume that the dimension of V is larger or equal to 2. To describe our candidate \mathfrak{L} , we need to introduce some notations.

By using the inverse of the matrix diffusion of L to induce a Riemannian structure on V (see e.g., the book [13] of Ikeda and Watanabe for the details), L can be decomposed as $L = \Delta + b$, where Δ is the *Laplacian operator* associated to the Riemannian structure and b is a vector field (seen as a first order differential operator). We assume that V is complete, endowed with the *Riemannian distance* d. Let λ be the *Riemannian measure* on V. It is well-known that μ is absolutely continuous with respect to λ and that its density is smooth. Let us write $U \coloneqq \ln(d\mu/d\lambda) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ (a priori defined up to an additive constant, except when μ is normalized into a probability measure). The vector field b can written as $\nabla U + \beta$, with the vector field β satisfying div $(\exp(U)\beta) = 0$; it corresponds to the μ -weighted Hodge decomposition of b. In the previous sentence, ∇ and div(·) are the gradient and divergence operators associated to the Riemannian structure. Other Riemannian notions that will be useful for our purpose are the scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, as well as the exterior normal vector ν_C , the "mean" curvature ρ_C and the $(\dim(V) - 1)$ -Hausdorff measure σ_C , all the last three objects being defined on the boundary C of an element $D \in \mathcal{D}$. The mean curvature is signed with respect to our choice of the orientation of ν_C and it is not really a mean, since it is the trace (without renormalization) of the second fundamental form. A priori the orientation of ν_C and the sign of ρ_C require to know on which side of C is the interior of D (except when V is not compact, then the mapping $\mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto C$ is one-to-one, otherwise it is two-to-one), but $\rho_C \nu_C$ depends only on C.

Let us first describe heuristically the type of stochastic evolution $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ in \mathcal{D} we want to consider. The positive stopping time τ is earlier than the exit time from \mathcal{D} , typically due to the apparition of singularities on the boundary $C_t \coloneqq \partial D_t$. We want, as long as $t \in [0, \tau)$, the infinitesimal evolution of any $Y_t \in C_t$ to be given by

(3)
$$dY_t = \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t + \left(2\frac{\sigma_{C_t}(\exp(U))}{\mu(D_t)} + \left\langle\beta - \nabla U, \nu_{C_t}\right\rangle(Y_t) - \rho_{C_t}(Y_t)\right)dt\right)\nu_{C_t}(Y_t),$$

where $B := (B_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is a standard real Brownian motion. The evolution (3) can be seen as a deterministic and stochastic modification of the mean curvature flow, which corresponds to

$$dy_t = -\rho_{C_t}(y_t)\nu_{C_t}(y_t)\,dt$$

for the points y_t on the evolving boundary.

The global term $\sigma_{C_t}(\exp(U))/\mu(D_t)$ (it does not depend on the position of Y_t on C_t) in (3) can be seen as an isoperimetric ratio with respect to μ . Indeed, it can be rewritten as $\mu(C_t)/\mu(D_t)$, where μ is the $(\dim(V) - 1)$ -dimensional measure on C_t admitting $\exp(U)$ as density with respect to σ_{C_t} . So this term explodes as D_t becomes closer and closer to a point. In some sense, it will compensate the trend of the mean curvature flow on compact boundaries to make them smaller and smaller (and rounder and rounder). Though too qualitative to be convincing, this observation is a first hint of why the singletons will be entrance boundaries for the Markov processes determined by (3).

The term $\langle \beta, \nu_{C_t} \rangle (Y_t) \nu_{C_t}(Y_t)$ in (3) could be replaced by $\beta(Y_t)$, since the tangential components in the description of the evolution of the points on the boundary can be removed, up to a diffeomorphism of C_t (see e.g., Section 1.3 of Mantegazza [17]). Only the radial component (i.e., the projection on the normal vectors ν_{C_t}) is important, thus an equation such as (3) will be said to be *radial*.

In fact, the radial stochastic differential Equation (3) of the points on the boundary is not the most convenient way to work with the process $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$. In Markov theory, the martingale problem approach is usually more helpful (for a general introduction and an extensive development of this notion, cf. for instance the book of Ethier and Kurtz [7]). It needs convenient observables on the state space. On \mathcal{D} , the role of *elementary observables* is played by the mappings

(4)
$$F_f : \mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto F_f(D) \coloneqq \int_D f \, d\mu$$

associated to the functions $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, the space of smooth mappings on V.

To proceed in the direction of the definition of the generator \mathfrak{L} on an appropriate algebra \mathfrak{D} of functionals defined on \mathcal{D} , we begin by defining the action of \mathfrak{L} on the above elementary observables: for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$,

(5)
$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D) \coloneqq \int_D L[f] \, d\mu + 2 \frac{\underline{\mu}(C)}{\mu(D)} \int_C f \, d\underline{\mu}.$$

Using Stokes formula, we will check in Section 3 that the above r.h.s. can be written as an integral over C only:

(6)
$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D) = \int_C \langle \nabla f, \nu_C \rangle + \left(2\frac{\mu(C)}{\mu(D)} + \langle \beta, \nu_C \rangle\right) f d\mu.$$

Furthermore, we introduce a bilinear form $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}$ (which will be the *carré du champs* associated to \mathfrak{L}) on such functionals, via

(7)
$$\forall f, g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V), \forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_g](D) \coloneqq \left(\int_C f \, d\underline{\mu}\right) \left(\int_C g \, d\underline{\mu}\right)$$

Since the \mathcal{D} -valued Markov processes we are interested in will have continuous sample paths (namely they will be *diffusions*), we are naturally led to the following definitions (see e.g., the book of Bakry, Gentil and Ledoux [3]). Consider \mathfrak{D} the algebra consisting of the functionals of the form $\mathfrak{F} := \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \ldots, F_{f_n})$, where $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+, f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ and $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a \mathcal{C}^{∞} mapping, with \mathcal{R} an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n containing the image of \mathcal{D} by $(F_{f_1}, \ldots, F_{f_n})$. For such a functional \mathfrak{F} , define

(8)
$$\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}] := \sum_{j \in \llbracket 1, n \rrbracket} \partial_j \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \dots, F_{f_n}) \mathfrak{L}[F_{f_j}] + \sum_{k, l \in \llbracket 1, n \rrbracket} \partial_{k, l} \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \dots, F_{f_n}) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f_k}, F_{f_l}]$$

To two elements of $\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{F} \coloneqq \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \ldots, F_{f_n})$ and $\mathfrak{G} \coloneqq \mathfrak{g}(F_{g_1}, \ldots, F_{g_m})$, we also associate

(9)
$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{G}] \coloneqq \sum_{l \in \llbracket n \rrbracket, k \in \llbracket m \rrbracket} \partial_l \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \dots, F_{f_n}) \partial_{k \operatorname{J}}(F_{g_1}, \dots, F_{g_m}) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f_l}, F_{g_k}]$$

REMARK 2. – A priori the above definitions are ambiguous, since they seem to depend on the writing of $\mathfrak{F} \in \mathfrak{D}$ under the form $\mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \ldots, F_{f_n})$ and similarly for \mathfrak{G} . To see that they are indeed well-defined, note that

$$\forall\,\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{G}\in\mathfrak{D},\qquad\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{G}]=\frac{1}{2}\left(\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{FG}]-\mathfrak{FL}[\mathfrak{G}]-\mathfrak{GL}[\mathfrak{F}]\right)$$

This property implies that if \mathfrak{f} is a polynomial in n variables, then for any $\mathfrak{F} \coloneqq \mathfrak{f}(f_1, \ldots, f_n)$, with $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, the object $\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}]$ is uniquely defined. Indeed, it relies on an iteration on the degree of \mathfrak{f} , starting from (6) and (7). The general case of smooth functions \mathfrak{f} is deduced from their approximation over compact domains by polynomial mappings. Let us come back to the Markov operator Λ defined in (1). For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$, $\Lambda[f]$ is an element of \mathfrak{D} , since it can be written

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \Lambda[f](D) = \frac{F_f}{F_1}(D),$$

where 1 is the constant function taking the value 1. This relation also leads us to endow \mathcal{D} with the σ -algebra generated by the mappings F_f , for $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, so that Λ is really a Markov kernel from \mathcal{D} to V: for any fixed $A \in \mathcal{B}(V)$, the mapping $\mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto \Lambda(D, A)$ is measurable. For this mapping to be measurable on $\underline{\mathcal{D}}$, put on the set $\{\delta_x : x \in V\}$ the σ -algebra obtained by identifying it with V (seeing δ_x as x) and consider on $\underline{\mathcal{D}}$ the σ -algebra generated by those on \mathcal{D} and on $\{\delta_x : x \in V\}$. Since we already mentioned continuity of trajectories, we must also endow $\underline{\mathcal{D}}$ with a topology. The simplest way to do so would be to consider the smallest topology such that all the mappings F_f , for $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, are continuous (with the natural extension that the F_f vanish on the singletons). But for our purpose, we will need a stronger topology making continuous the following functionals, for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$:

(10)
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}} \ni D \mapsto \Lambda[f](D)$$

(11)
$$\underline{\mathcal{D}} \ni D \mapsto \int_C f \, d\underline{\mu}$$

with the convention that if D is a singleton, then $C = \emptyset$ (so that the latter r.h.s. is 0). Condition (10) enables us to topologically identify $\{\delta_x : x \in V\}$ with V. The topology on \mathcal{D} will be such that the σ -algebra put on $\underline{\mathcal{D}}$ is the Borelian one. Condition (11) implies that for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, $\mathfrak{L}[F_f]$ is continuous on \mathcal{D} . For the precise definition of this topology, see Section 3, where \mathcal{D} will furthermore be endowed with an infinitedimensional differential structure.

After these structural precisions, let us come back to \mathfrak{L} , whose main interest is to fulfill our goal (2):

THEOREM 3. – For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, we have

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]](D) = \Lambda[L[f]](D).$$

To go further, we want to construct Markov processes whose generator is \mathfrak{L} and to establish a link with (3).

Let be given a filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, \mathbb{P})$, all subsequent notions from stochastic process theory will be relative to the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$. Consider a stopped continuous and adapted stochastic process $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$, taking values in $\underline{\mathcal{D}}$ and where τ is a positive stopping time. It is said to be a solution to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, if for all $t \in (0, \tau)$, $D_t \in \mathcal{D}$ and if for any $\mathfrak{F} \in \mathfrak{D}$, the process $M^{\mathfrak{F}} \coloneqq (M_t^{\mathfrak{F}})_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ defined by

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad M_t^{\mathfrak{F}} \coloneqq \mathfrak{F}(D_t) - \mathfrak{F}(D_0) - \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}](D_s) \, ds$$

is a local martingale. More precisely, in this situation we say that $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ is a solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and to the initial distribution $\mathcal{L}(D_0)$, the law of D_0 , or starting from $D_0 \in \underline{\mathcal{D}}$, when $\mathcal{L}(D_0)$ is a Dirac mass.

One key to the following result is the adaptation of the Doss [6] and Sussman [28] method to the infinite dimensional stochastic differential Equation (3).

THEOREM 4. – For any $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, there is a solution to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ starting from D_0 .

In certain homogeneous spaces, it is possible to start from singletons, because these situations can be brought back to the 1-dimensional setting treated in [19]. Indeed, the processes $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ end up being balls centered at the point from the initial singleton and it is sufficient to study the evolution of the radius. This is the case of the Laplacian operator on Euclidean, hyperbolic and spheric spaces. The stopping time τ is infinite in the two former situations and corresponds to the hitting time of the whole sphere in the latter one. But in general to consider \mathcal{D} as state space is probably too restrictive. We believe there exists a set \mathcal{G} of subdomains of V, with $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{G} \subset \overline{\mathcal{D}}$, such that \mathfrak{L} can be naturally extended to \mathcal{G} , in particular one should be able to define μ and $\nu_{\partial D}$, μ -a.e. Heuristically, the set of singular points of the boundary of a domain from \mathcal{G} should be very small. We hope to investigate this question in a future work via the geometric measure theory, but for the moment being, let us assume that we are given such a set \mathcal{G} with Theorem 4 holding up to a positive stopping time earlier than the exit time of \mathcal{G} . Still denote by $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ the corresponding Markov processes.

(12)
$$\varsigma \coloneqq 2 \int_0^\tau (\underline{\mu}(C_s))^2 \, ds \ \in (0, +\infty]$$

and the time change $(\theta_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma]}$ defined by

(13)
$$\forall t \in [0,\varsigma], \qquad 2\int_0^{\theta_t} (\underline{\mu}(C_s))^2 \, ds = t.$$

THEOREM 5. – The process $(\mu(D_{\theta_{t\wedge\varsigma}}))_{t\geq 0}$ is a (possibly stopped) Bessel process of dimension 3.

By taking into account that 0 is an entrance boundary for the Bessel process of dimension 3, a consequence of Theorem 5 is that the set of singletons is an entrance boundary for the Markov processes associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, if we were able to extend Theorem 4 to initial conditions that are singletons. Theorem 5 can be seen as a multidimensional extension of the intertwining relation between the real standard Brownian motion and the Bessel process of dimension 3 by Pitman [25]: it corresponds to (2) when L is the Laplacian on \mathbb{R} (see also Remark 37 in [19]).

Up to now, we did not consider the Markov processes associated to L, whereas their study is the first motivation for the above developments. The martingale problems

associated to $(\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V), L)$ are well-posed (see e.g., the book of Ikeda and Watanabe [13]), so to any initial distribution on V, we can associate a stopped Markov process $(X_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ where τ is the explosion time (maybe infinite). The conjunction of Theorems 3 and 4 should lead to the following result, which is the reason behind our interest in the relation (2):

CONJECTURE 6. – Assume that the martingale problems associated to $(\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V), L)$ are well-posed and defined for all times (no explosion). Let $x_0 \in V$ be given and let $X \coloneqq (X_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a solution starting from $x_0 \in V$ for the martingale problems associated to $(\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V), L)$. Up to enlarging the underlying probability space, it is possible to couple the trajectory $(X_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with a solution $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ starting from the singleton $\{x_0\}$ to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, such that for any stopping time T with $T \leq \tau$, we have for the conditional laws:

(14)
$$\mathcal{L}(D_{[0,T]}|X) = \mathcal{L}(D_{[0,T]}|X_{[0,T]})$$

(15)
$$\mathcal{L}(X_T|D_{[0,T]}) = \Lambda(D_T, \cdot).$$

The difficulty behind the proof of such a result is technical, since conceptually it is an immediate extension of the ideas of Diaconis and Fill [5] in the context of finite Markov chains. Two different approaches to such couplings for diffusions via coalescing stochastic flows have been proposed in Machida [16] and [21], but they would need to be developed further to deal with the generality of our present framework. A related point of view is currently under construction in [2]. Note that Conjecture 6 would enable us to come back to our initial motivation, first by recovering the density theorem for elliptic diffusions:

COROLLARY 7. – Assume that a coupling of $(X_t)_{t\geq 0}$ with $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ can be constructed as in Conjecture 6. Then for any t > 0, the restriction to V of the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to the Riemannian measure λ .

To obtain this result, only the existence of a domain-valued dual process is needed (as well as its coupling with the process X), its uniqueness is irrelevant. The well-posedness of the martingale problems associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ is not crucial for this kind of consideration, more important for us would be the possibility for the dual process to start from singletons.

Another interesting stochastic domain evolution is obtained by removing the isoperimetric ratio from the generator, namely corresponding to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}})$, where (5) is replaced by

(16)
$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f](D) \coloneqq \int_D L[f] \, d\mu$$

for its action on the elementary observables (but (7), (8) and (9) remain unchanged). The associated Markov processes are the analogues of the evolving sets considered by Morris and Peres [22] in discrete settings. One downside of the processes $(\widetilde{D}_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}})$ is that they have a strong tendency to

collapse in singletons in finite time and they remain singletons when starting from a singleton. The heuristic reason behind this collapse is that $(\mu(\tilde{D}_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a nonnegative martingale, due to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1] = 0$. Thus, assuming for instance that $\tau = +\infty$, $(\mu(\widetilde{D}_t))_{t\in[0,+\infty)}$ must converge in large time, as well as its bracket. It follows that $\liminf_{t\to+\infty} \mu(\widetilde{C}_t) = 0$ and appropriate geometric assumptions will enable to conclude that D_t becomes closer and closer to a singleton, at least along a sequence of diverging times (in the same spirit, an isoperimetric-type inequality between μ and μ will imply that $\lim_{t\to+\infty} \mu(\tilde{D}_t) = 0$. The convergence toward a singleton can be checked rigorously when starting from a ball in the constant curvature framework of the next section. In fact, taking into account the general theory of Doob transforms (with respect to the mappings $\underline{\mathcal{D}} \ni D \mapsto \mu(D)$), the processes $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ correspond to the process $(\widetilde{D}_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ conditioned not to hit the set of singletons, or more precisely, conditioned so that $(\mu(\widetilde{D}_t))_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ does not hit zero. This property gives an understanding of the emergence of the Bessel-3 process in Theorem 5, seen as the Brownian motion conditioned not to hit 0 (see also the observations at the end of Section 7).

The plan of the paper is as follows. In the next section, we will deal with the simple but illustrative situation of the Euclidean, spheric and hyperbolic Brownian motion starting from a point. In Section 3 we prove Theorem 3 and Theorem 4. Section 4 presents a result on the existence of stochastic modified mean curvature flows, which was required by the proof of Theorem 4. Section 5 comes back to the homogeneous situations of Section 2, pursuing further some computations relative to the mean curvature addressed in Section 3. It will also show some critical differences between two ways of applying the Doss-Sussman method in these homogeneous geometric frameworks. In Section 6, Theorem 5 is proved as well as other properties of the solutions to the martingale problems associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$. In particular, we will see that if the evolution $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is defined for all times, relatively to the usual Laplacian $L = \Delta$ on the plane, then renormalizing the domains so that their areas is brought back to 1, we get a convergence in large time toward the disk centered at 0 of radius $1/\sqrt{\pi}$. An appendix provides supplementary informations on product situations and alternative dual processes (on domains whose boundaries are naturally non smooth).

CHAPTER 2

HOMOGENEOUS SITUATIONS

There are examples where the radial evolution Equation (3) can be globally solved by coming back to the one-dimensional situation as it is treated in [19] (see also Fill and Lyzinski [9]). They correspond to spaces V with constant curvature endowed with the Laplacian \triangle and we take $\mu = \lambda$ and $\underline{\mu} = \sigma_C$ (denoted σ , to simplify), for $C = \partial D$ and $D \in \mathcal{D}$, with the notation of the introduction. For them, we investigate solutions $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of the form $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t\geq 0}$, where **0** is any fixed point of the state space, $B(\mathbf{0}, r)$ is the closed ball centered at **0** of radius $r \geq 0$ and $(R_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a \mathbb{R}_+ -valued diffusion process starting from 0. We will describe separately the three situations of null, negative and positive constant curvature spaces.

2.1. Euclidean spaces

We consider here the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n , with $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$. Without loss of generality, we can assume that **0** is the point zero from \mathbb{R}^n . For r > 0, the Lebesgue volume of $B(\mathbf{0},r)$ is $\lambda(B(\mathbf{0},r)) = \frac{\pi^{n/2}}{\Gamma(n/2+1)}r^n$ and the corresponding hypersurface volume of the sphere $\partial B(\mathbf{0},r)$ is $\sigma(\partial B(\mathbf{0},r)) = n \frac{\pi^{n/2}}{\Gamma(n/2+1)}r^{n-1}$. The mean curvature of any element $x \in \partial B(\mathbf{0},r)$ is $\rho(x) = (n-1)/r$. Thus a solution $(B(\mathbf{0},R_t))_{t\geq 0}$ of the radial evolution Equation (3), is given by

$$dR_t = \sqrt{2}dB_t + \left(\frac{2n}{R_t} - \frac{n-1}{R_t}\right)dt$$
$$= \sqrt{2}dB_t + \frac{n+1}{R_t}dt,$$

where $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a standard Brownian motion. Thus $(R_{t/2})_{t\geq 0}$ has for generator the operator A given by

$$\forall f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+), \forall x \in \mathbb{R}_+ \qquad A[f](x) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2}f''(x) + \frac{n+1}{2x}f'(x)$$

(in the sequel such a generator will be denoted $\frac{1}{2}\partial^2 + \frac{n+1}{2x}\partial$), namely it is a Bessel process of dimension n + 2. In particular 0 is an entrance boundary for $(R_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and we can make it start from 0, i.e., we can let $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t\geq 0}$ start from $\{\mathbf{0}\}$.

Let us check directly that $(\lambda(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t)))_{t\geq 0}$ is a Bessel of process of dimension 3, up to a time change, as announced in Theorem 5. It is sufficient to show that the same is true for $(R_t^n)_{t\geq 0}$. We compute

$$dR_t^n = nR_t^{n-1} \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t + \frac{n+1}{R_t} dt \right) + 2\frac{n(n-1)}{2}R_t^{n-2}dt$$

= $\sqrt{2}nR_t^{n-1}dB_t + 2n^2R_t^{n-2}dt.$

So the generator of $(R_t^n)_{t\geq 0}$ is $2n^2x^{2-2/n}[\frac{1}{2}\partial^2 + \frac{1}{x}\partial]$. It follows that $(R_{\theta_t}^n)_{t\geq 0}$ is a Bessel process of dimension 3, where the time change $(\theta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad \int_0^{\theta_t} R_s^{2-2n} \, ds = 2n^2 t$$

2.2. Spherical spaces

We consider now the sphere $\mathbb{S}^n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, with $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Without loss of generality, we can assume that **0** is the point (1, 0, 0, ..., 0) from \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . For any $r \in [0, \pi]$, $B(\mathbf{0}, r)$ is the closed cap centered at **0** of radius r. In particular, we have $B(\mathbf{0}, 0) = \{\mathbf{0}\}$ and $B(\mathbf{0}, \pi) = \mathbb{S}^n$. Let λ be the uniform distribution on \mathbb{S}^n and σ be the corresponding hypersurface volume. The projection of λ on the first coordinate of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} is the measure $Z_n^{-1}(1-x^2)^{n/2-1}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]}(x) dx$, where the renormalizing factor is given by the Wallis integral

$$Z_n = \int_{-1}^{1} (1 - x^2)^{n/2 - 1} dx$$
$$= \int_0^{\pi} \sin^{n - 1}(u) du$$
$$= \sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2} + 1\right)}.$$

The cap $B(\mathbf{0}, r)$ is exactly the set of elements of \mathbb{S}^n whose first coordinate belongs to $[\cos(r), 1]$. So we get

$$\lambda(B(\mathbf{0},r)) = Z_n^{-1} I(r) := Z_n^{-1} \int_0^r \sin^{n-1}(u) \, du$$

$$\sigma(\partial B(\mathbf{0},r)) = Z_n^{-1} \sin^{n-1}(r).$$

The mean curvature of any element $x \in \partial B(\mathbf{0}, r)$ is $\rho(x) = (n-1)\cot(r)$. Indeed, the mean curvature ρ on $\partial B(\mathbf{0}, r)$ is the function such that for any $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^n)$, we have

$$\partial_r \int_{\partial B(\mathbf{0},r)} f \, d\sigma = \int_{\partial B(\mathbf{0},r)} \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle \, d\sigma + \int_{\partial B(\mathbf{0},r)} f \rho \, d\sigma$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

(for more details, see e.g., Lemma 10 in Section 3 below). Due to the symmetries of $\partial B(\mathbf{0}, r)$, one sees that ρ must be constant on $\partial B(\mathbf{0}, r)$. Thus considering f = 1 in the above equality, we get

$$\rho = \frac{\partial_r \sigma(\partial B(\mathbf{0}, r))}{\sigma(\partial B(\mathbf{0}, r))}$$
$$= (n-1)\cot(r).$$

It follows that a solution $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ of the radial evolution Equation (3), where τ is the hitting time of π by $(R_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, is given by

(17)
$$dR_t = \sqrt{2}dB_t + \left(\frac{2\sin^{n-1}(R_t)}{I(R_t)} - (n-1)\cot(R_t)\right)dt,$$

where $(B_t)_{t>0}$ is a standard Brownian motion.

As $r \to 0_+$, we have

$$\frac{2\sin^{n-1}(r)}{I(R_t)} - (n-1)\cot(r) \sim \frac{2r^{n-1}}{\int_0^r u^{n-1} du} - \frac{n-1}{r}$$
$$= \frac{n+1}{r}$$

and this enables us to see that 0 is an entrance boundary for $(R_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ and we can make it start from 0, namely we can let $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ start from $\{\mathbf{0}\}$.

In general we did not find a nice expression for the drift of (17), but in the case n = 2, this evolution equation can be written

$$dR_t = \sqrt{2}dB_t + \frac{2 + \cos(R_t)}{\sin(R_t)}dt.$$

Similarly to the Euclidean situation, let us check directly Theorem 5, i.e., that $(\lambda(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t)))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a stopped Bessel of process of dimension 3, up to a time change. It is sufficient to show that the same is true for $(I(R_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$. We compute

$$\begin{split} dI(R_t) &= I'(R_t) \left(\sqrt{2} dB_t + \left(\frac{2 \sin^{n-1}(R_t)}{I(R_t)} - (n-1) \cot(R_t) \right) dt \right) + I''(R_t) dt \\ &= \sqrt{2} \sin^{n-1}(R_t) dB_t + \left(\frac{2 \sin^{2n-2}(R_t)}{I(R_t)} - (n-1) \sin^{n-1}(R_t) \cot(R_t) \right) dt \\ &+ (n-1) \sin^{n-2}(R_t) \cos(R_t) dt \\ &= \sqrt{2} \sin^{n-1}(R_t) dB_t + \frac{2 \sin^{2n-2}(R_t)}{I(R_t)} dt. \end{split}$$

So the generator of $(I(R_t))_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ is $2\sin^{2n-2}(I^{-1}(x))[\frac{1}{2}\partial^2 + \frac{1}{x}\partial]$, where I^{-1} is the inverse mapping of $I : [0,\pi] \to [0,Z_n]$. This shows that $(I(R_{\theta_t}))_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ is a Bessel

process of dimension 3 starting from 0 and stopped when it hits Z_n , where the time change $(\theta_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is defined by

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad \int_0^{\theta_t} \frac{1}{\sin^{2n-2}(I^{-1}(R_s))} \, ds = 2t.$$

Consider the case where $R_0 = 0$. Then θ_{τ} has the same law as the first hitting time of Z_n by a Bessel process of dimension 3 starting from 0. It follows that τ is a.s. finite. Thus, starting from $\{\mathbf{0}\}$, the process $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ ends up covering the whole sphere \mathbb{S}^n at the (a.s.) finite time τ . According to the theory of strong duality (see e.g., the initial paper of Diaconis and Fill [5] for the principe and Section 7 for its application to the present context), this property leads to the construction of strong stationary times for the Brownian motion on \mathbb{S}^n starting from **0** (and more generally for any initial distribution on \mathbb{S}^n , by symmetry and conditioning with respect to the initial position of the spheric Brownian motion).

2.3. Hyperbolic spaces

Consider the Poincaré's ball model of the hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^n of dimension $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$. For references on the subject, one can consult the book of Anderson [1] and we find the unpublished report of Parkkonen [24] very convenient. As above, the choice of the point **0** is irrelevant, let us choose for instance the center of the Euclidean ball on which is imposed the classical hyperbolic metric. Let λ be the Riemannian distribution on \mathbb{S}^n and σ be the corresponding hypersurface volume. Denote by $B(\mathbf{0}, r)$ the closed ball in \mathbb{H}^n centered at **0** and of radius $r \geq 0$. Up to a factor, we have

(18)
$$\lambda(B(\mathbf{0},r)) = \int_0^r \sinh^{n-1}(u) \, du$$

(19)
$$\sigma(\partial B(\mathbf{0}, r)) = \sinh^{n-1}(r).$$

From these formulas (and even only from (19), since (18) is already a consequence of (19)), one can develop the same arguments as in the spherical situation, replacing the trigonometric functions by their hyperbolic counter-parts, to get the following results. A solution $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t>0}$ of the radial evolution Equation (3), is given by

$$dR_t = \sqrt{2}dB_t + \left(\frac{2\sinh^{n-1}(R_t)}{J(R_t)} - (n-1)\coth(R_t)\right)dt,$$

where $J : \mathbb{R}_+ \ni r \mapsto \int_0^r \sinh^{n-1}(u) \, du$. In particular, for the hyperbolic plane (n = 2), we get

$$dR_t = \sqrt{2}dB_t + \frac{2 + \cosh(R_t)}{\sinh(R_t)}dt.$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

Again, 0 is an entrance boundary for $(R_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and we can make it start from 0, namely we can let $(B(\mathbf{0}, R_t))_{t\geq 0}$ start from $\{\mathbf{0}\}$. From this initial point, the process $(\lambda(R_{\theta_t}))_{t\geq 0}$ is a Bessel process of dimension 3 starting from 0, where the time change $(\theta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad \int_0^{\theta_t} \frac{1}{\sinh^{2n-2}(J^{-1}(R_s))} \, ds = 2t,$$

where J^{-1} is the inverse mapping of $J : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$. This is obtained through computations similar to those of Subsection 2.2 or as a consequence of Theorem 5.

CHAPTER 3

SMOOTH INITIAL CONDITIONS

After proving Theorem 3, we will show how to solve (3) for small times, when the initial domain has a smooth boundary. It will provide a solution of the martingale problem associated to \mathcal{L} , thus showing Theorem 4.

As announced, we begin by the

Proof of Theorem 3. – Consider $\mathcal{R} \coloneqq \{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y > 0\}$ and the mapping

$$\mathfrak{f}: \mathcal{R} \ni (x,y) \mapsto \frac{x}{y}.$$

For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, we have $\Lambda[f] = \mathfrak{f}(F_f, F_1)$, so that $\Lambda[f] \in \mathfrak{D}$.

It follows that

$$\mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]] = \frac{1}{F_1} \mathfrak{L}[F_f] - \frac{F_f}{F_1^2} \mathfrak{L}[F_1] - \frac{2}{F_1^2} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_1] + \frac{2F_f}{F_1^3} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1],$$

which can be rewritten under the form

$$F_1\mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]] = \mathfrak{L}[F_f] - \frac{2}{F_1}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_1] + F_f\left(\frac{2}{F_1^2}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1] - \frac{1}{F_1}\mathfrak{L}[F_1]\right).$$

We compute, for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$, with $C \coloneqq \partial D$, $\nu \coloneqq \nu_C$ and $\sigma \coloneqq \sigma_C$,

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{L}[F_1](D) &= \int_D L[1] \, d\mu + 2 \frac{\underline{\mu}(C)}{\mu(D)} \int_C 1 \, d\underline{\mu} \\ &= 2 \frac{\underline{\mu}(C)^2}{\mu(D)}. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, remark that

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1](D) = \left(\int_C 1 \, d\underline{\mu}\right)^2$$
$$= \underline{\mu}(C)^2.$$

so taking into account that $F_1(D) = \mu(D)$, we get

$$\frac{2}{F_1^2}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1,F_1] - \frac{1}{F_1}\mathfrak{L}[F_1] = 0.$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} F_1 \mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]](D) &= \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D) - \frac{2}{F_1} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_1](D) \\ &= \int_D L[f] \, d\mu + 2 \frac{\mu(C)}{\mu(D)} \int f \, d\mu - \frac{2\mu(C)}{\mu(D)} \int_C f \, d\mu \\ &= \int_D L[f] \, d\mu \end{split}$$

and we conclude to the announced intertwining relation

$$\mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]] = \frac{F_{L[f]}}{F_1}.$$

In the above proof, Definition (5) was helpful. Nevertheless to understand the dynamic of the domains generated by \mathfrak{L} , it is preferable to resort to (6), so let us show its equivalence with (5). It amounts to check that for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, we have

(20)
$$\int_D L[f] d\mu = \int_C \langle \nabla f, \nu_C \rangle + \langle \beta, \nu_C \rangle f d\underline{\mu}.$$

This equality is based on the integration by parts formula (Stokes' theorem), stating that for any smooth vector field v on V, we have

(21)
$$\int_{D} \operatorname{div}(v) \, d\lambda = \int_{C} \langle v, \nu \rangle \, d\sigma$$

Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_D L[f] \, d\mu &= \int_D (\Delta f + \langle \nabla U + \beta, \nabla f \rangle) \, \exp(U) d\lambda \\ &= \int_D \operatorname{div}(\exp(U) \nabla f) + \langle \exp(U)\beta, \nabla f \rangle \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

By integration by parts formula, we get

$$\int_{D} \operatorname{div}(\exp(U)\nabla f) \, d\lambda = \int_{C} \langle \exp(U)\nabla f, \nu \rangle \, d\alpha$$
$$= \int_{C} \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle \, d\mu.$$

Recalling that $\operatorname{div}(\exp(U)\beta) = 0$, we have $\operatorname{div}(\exp(U)f\beta) = \langle \exp(U)\beta, \nabla f \rangle + \operatorname{div}(\exp(U)\beta)f = \langle \exp(U)\beta, \nabla f \rangle$, so another integration by parts gives us

$$\int_{D} \langle \exp(U)\beta, \nabla f \rangle \ d\lambda = \int_{C} \langle \beta, \nu \rangle f \, d\underline{\mu}$$

ending the proof of (20).

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

Now that we know that \mathfrak{L} satisfies the wanted intertwining relation with L, given $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, we would like to construct a Markov process $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ starting from D_0 and whose generator is \mathfrak{L} , where τ will be a positive stopping time, in a first step. To do so, we come back to the radial evolution Equation (3) that we reinterpret under the heuristic \mathcal{D} -valued stochastic differential equation

(22)
$$dD_t = \mathfrak{V}_1(D_t) \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t + 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(C_t)}{\mu(D_t)}dt\right) + \mathfrak{V}_2(D_t) dt,$$

where \mathfrak{V}_1 and \mathfrak{V}_2 are "vector fields" on \mathcal{D} . This formulation will enable us to adapt the Doss-Sussman method [6, 28] to this infinite dimensional setting to construct a solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator \mathfrak{L} and to the initial position D_0 , at least for small times.

Before explaining in general what we mean by a vector fields on \mathcal{D} , we study the flow generated by \mathfrak{V}_1 , which is very simple to describe. For any $r \in \mathbb{R}$, denote

(23)
$$\Psi(D,r) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \{x \in V : d(x,D) \le r\} & \text{if } r > 0, \\ D & \text{if } r = 0, \\ \{x \in D : d(x,D^{c}) \ge -r\} & \text{if } r < 0, \end{cases}$$

where we recall that for any subset $A \subset D$ and $x \in V$,

$$d(x, A) \coloneqq \inf\{d(x, y) : y \in A\},\$$

with d the Riemannian distance on V.

It is easy to realize that the family $(\Psi(D, r))_{r \in \mathbb{R}}$ does not behave well for some $r \in \mathbb{R}$: it does not stay in \mathcal{D} and does not satisfy the flow property (see Remark 9 below). So we are going to restrict the parameter r to a convenient open segment containing 0.

For any $x \in V$ and $v \in T_x V$, let $(\exp_x(rv))_{r \in \mathbb{R}}$ stand for the geodesic flow whose position and speed at time 0 are x and v. By our assumption of completeness on V, these geodesic flows are defined for all times. For any $r \in \mathbb{R}$, define the mapping

(24)
$$\psi_{C,r} : C \ni x \mapsto \exp_x(r\nu_C(x)).$$

Define

(25)
$$R_+(D) = \inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) : \psi_{C,r} \text{ is not a diffeomorphism on its image}\},\$$

(26)
$$R_{-}(D) = -\inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) : \psi_{C,-r} \text{ is not a diffeomorphism on its image}\}.$$

Due to the existence of a normal tubular neighborhood around the compact set C, we have that $R_+(D) > 0$ and $R_-(D) < 0$. The interest of the segment $(R_-(D), R_+(D))$ is summarized as follows:

PROPOSITION 8. – Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$ be given. For any $r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$, we have

(27)
$$\partial \Psi(D,r) = \psi_{C,r}(C) = \begin{cases} \{x \in D^{c} : d(D,x) = r\} & \text{if } r > 0, \\ C & \text{if } r = 0, \\ \{x \in D : d(D^{c},x) = -r\} & \text{if } r < 0, \end{cases}$$

showing that $\Psi(D,r) \in \mathcal{D}$.

Furthermore, for any $r, r' \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$ such that $r + r' \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$, the "semi-group property" holds:

$$\Psi(D, r+r') = \Psi(\Psi(D, r), r') = \Psi(\Psi(D, r'), r)$$

Proof. – The above result is certainly standard, even we were not able to find a corresponding reference.

For the first assertion, we begin by considering the case $r \in (0, R_+(D))$. For any $x \in \Psi(D, r) \setminus D$, there exists $y \in C$ such that $d(x, y) = d(x, D) \in (0, r]$. Let us check that $x = \psi_{C,d(x,y)}(y)$. Denote $(\gamma(s))_{s \in [0,d(x,y)]}$ a unitary minimizing geodesic going from y to x. There exists $v \in T_y V$ with ||v|| = 1 such that $\gamma(s) = \exp_y(sv)$ for all $s \in [0, d(x, y)]$. If v is not orthogonal to $T_y C$, then for small s > 0, we could find $y_s \in C$ with $d(y_s, \gamma(s)) < d(y, \gamma(s))$, contradicting the minimizing property of y, since we would get $d(x, y) = d(y, \gamma(s)) + d(\gamma(s), x) > d(y_s, \gamma(s)) + d(\gamma(s), x) \ge d(x, y_s)$. If v was directed toward the interior of D, we would also end up with a contradiction, by considering the last time $s \in (0, d(x, y))$ such that $\gamma(s) \in D$. It follows that $v = \nu_C(y)$, showing that $x = \psi_{C,d(x,y)}(y)$. We furthermore get such a point $y \in C$ is unique, otherwise we would be in contradiction with the fact that $\psi_{C,d(x,D)}$ is injective. Conversely, if $s \in (0, r]$ and $y \in C$, then $x \coloneqq \psi_{C,s}(y) \in \Psi(D, s)$, with $d(x, D) \le d(x, y) \le s$. Thus we have the description

$$\forall r \in (0, R_+(D)), \qquad \Psi(D, r) = D \bigcup_{s \in (0, r]} \psi_{C, s}(C).$$

Let us show that all the sets of the r.h.s. are disjoint. First we prove by contradiction that

(28)
$$\forall s \in (0, r], \qquad D \cap \psi_{C,s}(C) = \emptyset.$$

So assume that $\psi_{C,s}(x) \in D$, for some $x \in C$. Replacing s by $\inf\{t > 0 : \psi_{C,t}(x) \in D\}$, which is still positive, because $\psi_{C,t}(x)$ does not belong to D for t > 0 small enough, we can assume that $\psi_{C,s}(x) \in C$. Consider the mapping $\phi : [0,s] \ni t \mapsto d(\psi_{C,t}(x), C)$. We have seen above that for t > 0 small enough, we have $\phi(t) = t$. Since $\phi(s) = 0$, let $u := \inf\{t > 0 : \phi(t) \neq t\}$, which belongs to (0,s). Note that for $t \in [0,u)$, the directing normal vector $\frac{d}{dt}\psi_{C,t}(x)$ is orthogonal to the tangent space of $\psi_{C,t}(C)$ at $\psi_{C,t}(x)$, otherwise for $v \in (t,u)$, we could find a shortest way from $\psi_{C,v}(x)$ to $\psi_{C,t}(C)$ than the one given by the geodesic $(\psi_{C,w}(x))_{w \in [t,v]}$ and it would follow that $d(\psi_{C,v}(x), C) < v$. The tangent space of $\psi_{C,t}(C)$ at $\psi_{C,t}(x)$ coincides with the image of $T_x C$ by $T\psi_{C,t}(x)$, by the fact that $\psi_{C,t}$ is a diffeomorphism on its image. Letting t go to u, we get the directing normal vector $\frac{d}{dt}\psi_{C,t}(x)\big|_{t=u}$ is still orthogonal to the tangent space of $\psi_{C,u}(C)$ at $\psi_{C,u}(x)$. As above, this property insures us that for $\epsilon > 0$ small enough,

(29)
$$d(\psi_{C,u+\epsilon}(x),\psi_{C,u}(C)) = \epsilon$$

namely either $d(\psi_{C,u+\epsilon}(x), C) = u + \epsilon$ or $d(\psi_{C,u+\epsilon}(x), C) = u - \epsilon$. The first alternative is forbidden by the definition of u. For the second alternative, we get, for $\epsilon > 0$ small enough, $\psi_{C,u+\epsilon}(x) \neq \psi_{C,u-\epsilon}(x)$ belongs to $\psi_{C,u-\epsilon}(C)$, thus we can find $y \in C \setminus \{x\}$ with $\psi_{C,u+\epsilon}(x) = \psi_{C,u-\epsilon}(y)$. If follows from (29) that $\psi_{C,u}(x) = \psi_{C,u}(y)$, in contradiction with the injectivity of $\psi_{C,u}$. This ends the proof of (28). The proof that for $s \neq s' \in (0, r]$, we have $\psi_{C,s}(C) \cap \psi_{C,s'}(C) = \emptyset$ is similar. Indeed, if this equality was not true, then one would be able to find again $x \in C$ and $t \in (0, r]$ such that $d(\psi_{C,t}(x), C) > t$. We end up with the "foliation"

(30)
$$\forall r \in (0, R_+(D), \quad \Psi(D, r) = D \bigsqcup_{s \in (0, r]} \psi_{C, s}(C).$$

From this decomposition and the continuity of $C \times (0, R_+(D)) \ni (x, s) \mapsto \psi_{C,s}(x)$, we deduce that for $r \in (0, R_+(D))$,

$$\partial \Psi(D,r) = \psi_{C,r}(C)$$

= {x \in D^c : d(D,x) = r}.

The analogous relations when $r \in (R_{-}(D), 0)$ are obtained in a similar way, taking into account that

(31)
$$\forall r \in (R_{-}(D), 0), \qquad \Psi(D, r) = D \setminus \left(\bigsqcup_{s \in [r, 0)} \psi_{C, s}(C)\right)$$

The semigroup property is also a consequence of (30) and (31), taking into account that for r, r' as in the above proposition, we have

$$\psi_{C,r+r'} = \psi_{C,r} \circ \psi_{C,r'} = \psi_{C,r'} \circ \psi_{C,r}$$

(remarking that for any $x \in C$ and $r \in (R_-(D), R_+(D))$, we have $T_x \psi_{C,r}[\nu_C(x)] = \nu_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))$).

REMARK 9. – The semi-group property of Corollary 8 is no longer necessarily true if the conditions on $r, r' \in \mathbb{R}$ are not satisfied. Consider first the following (non connected) example: let D be the union of the open balls B((0,0),3) and B((0,5),1). Then we have $\Psi(D,-2) = B((0,0),1)$ and $\Psi(B((0,0),1),2) = B((0,0),3) \neq D$. This example can be modified into a connected one by joining B((0,0),3) and B((0,5),1)through the open rectangle $[0,5] \times [-1,1]$. The boundary of the resulting domain D is not smooth, nevertheless, the Definition (23) makes sense. The boundary $\partial \Psi(D,r)$ makes an "irreversible transition" at r = -1. From now on, for $r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$, denote by $\Psi(C, r)$ the set described in (27). For given $D \in \mathcal{D}$, the family $(\Psi(C, r))_{r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))}$ is the solution of the *normal* flow equation, which can be written under the radial form

(32)
$$\begin{cases} \Psi(C,0) = C \\ \forall r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D)), \forall x \in \Psi(C,r), \qquad \partial_{r}x = \nu_{\Psi(C,r)}(x), \end{cases}$$

where the points of the boundaries are pushed according to the outward normal.

For our purposes, it is convenient to look at this set-valued evolution through our elementary observables:

LEMMA 10. – Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ be fixed. The mapping $(R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D)) \ni r \mapsto F_{f}(\Psi(D, r)) \in \mathbb{R}$ is \mathcal{C}^{2} and for any $r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_r F_f(\Psi(D,r)) &= \int_{\Psi(C,r)} f \, d\underline{\mu} \\ \partial_r^2 F_f(\Psi(D,r)) &= \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \left\langle \nabla f, \nu_{\Psi(C,r)} \right\rangle \, d\underline{\mu} + \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \left(\left\langle \nabla U, \nu_{\Psi(C,r)} \right\rangle + \rho_{\Psi(C,r)} \right) f \, d\underline{\mu}. \end{aligned}$$

To simplify the notation, when the set C will be clear from the context (e.g., coming from the domain of integration), we will write σ , ν and ρ instead of σ_C , ν_C and ρ_C , convention which was already adopted for μ . So that the last r.h.s. admits the more readable expression

$$\int_{\Psi(C,r)} \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle \ d\underline{\mu} + \int_{\Psi(C,r)} f(\langle \nabla U, \nu \rangle + \rho) \ d\underline{\mu}.$$

Proof. – The first differentiation is a classical result. It can also be deduced from the disintegration of μ with respect to (30) and (31). For instance for $r \in [0, R_+(D))$, we have

$$F_f(\Psi(D,r)) = F_f(D) + \int_0^r \int_{\Psi(C,s)} f \, d\underline{\mu} \, ds$$

and the r.h.s. is easily differentiated with respect to r.

For the second differentiation, first write

$$\int_{\Psi(C,r)} f \, d\underline{\mu} = \int_{\Psi(C,r)} f \exp(U) \, d\sigma.$$

To differentiate with respect to r the r.h.s., one has to adapt the arguments of Section 1.2 of the book of Mantegazza [17], to get

$$\begin{split} \partial_r \int_{\Psi(C,r)} f \exp(U) \, d\sigma &= \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \left\langle \nabla(f \exp(U)), \nu \right\rangle \, d\sigma + \int_{\Psi(C,r)} f \exp(U) \rho \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \left\langle \nabla f, \nu \right\rangle \, d\underline{\mu} + \int_{\Psi(C,r)} (\left\langle \nabla U, \nu \right\rangle + \rho) f \, d\underline{\mu}. \end{split}$$

We will also need to differentiate Ψ with respect to the first variable $D \in \mathcal{D}$. We must first give a meaning to the underlying notion of differentiation in \mathcal{D} .

Consider a family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ taking values in \mathcal{D} , for a real number $S_+ > 0$. We say this family is strongly continuous in a neighborhood of $s \in [0, S_+)$ if there exist a neighborhood N_s of s in $[0, S_+)$ and a continuous mapping $\varphi_s : N_s \times \partial G_s \to V$ such that for any $u \in N_s$, the function $\partial G_s \ni x \mapsto \varphi_s(u, x)$ is a homeomorphism between ∂G_s and ∂G_u and if $\varphi_s(s, \cdot)$ is the identity mapping. In this statement, the boundaries ∂G_s , for $s \in [0, S_+)$ are endowed with the topology inherited from that of V. Similarly, these boundaries will be endowed below with the smooth differentiable structure inherited from V as smooth submanifolds. The family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ is said to be strongly continuous on $[0, S_+)$, if for any $s \in [0, S_+)$, it is strongly continuous in a neighborhood of s.

REMARK 11. – Let \mathfrak{d} be the Hausdorff metric on the compact subsets of V. It endows \mathcal{D} with a metric structure. The strong continuity defined above implies the continuity for the Hausdorff metric, but the converse is not always true, as it is illustrated by the following picture:



FIGURE 1. Convergence in the Hausdorff topology, not in the strong sense

Note that the restrictions to \mathcal{D} of the mappings defined in (10) and (11) are strongly continuous.

By analogy, we say the family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ is strongly smooth in a neighborhood of $s \in [0, S_+)$ if there exist a neighborhood N_s of s in $[0, S_+)$ and a smooth mapping $\varphi_s : N_s \times \partial G_s \to V$ such that for any $u \in N_s$, the function $\partial G_s \ni x \mapsto \varphi_s(u, x)$ is a diffeomorphism between ∂G_s and ∂G_u and $\varphi_s(s, \cdot)$ is the identity mapping. The family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ is then said to be *strongly smooth* if it is strongly smooth in the neighborhood of any $s \in [0,S_+)$. For such a family, consider for any $s \in [0,S_+)$ and $x \in \partial G_s$, the vector

$$X_{\partial G_s}(x) \coloneqq \partial_u \varphi_s(u, x)|_{u=s}.$$

The *TV*-valued vector field $X_{\partial G_s}$ on ∂G_s enables to describe the infinitesimal evolution of G_s via a formula similar to (32)

$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = X_{\partial G_s}(x).$$

This description is not unique, because the mappings $\varphi_s(u, \cdot)$ are not unique: they can be composed by diffeomorphisms of ∂G_u , depending on s and (smoothly) on u. Indeed, as already mentioned, the discussion of Section 1.3 of Mantegazza [17] shows that for $x \in \partial G_s$, only the radial part $\alpha_{\partial G_s}(x) \coloneqq \langle X_{\partial G_s}(x), \nu_{\partial G_s}(x) \rangle$ is unique. Furthermore, it is possible to choose the mappings φ_s in such a way so that

$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad X_{\partial G_s}(x) = \alpha_{\partial G_s}(x)\nu_{\partial G_s}(x)$$

and the function α is *continuous* in the sense that if the sequences $(s_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $[0, S_+)$ and $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, taking values respectively in $(\partial G_{s_n})_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, are converging toward $s \in [0, S_+)$ and $x \in \partial G_s$, then $\lim_{n\to\infty} \alpha_{\partial G_{s_n}}(x_n) = \alpha_{\partial G_s}(x)$.

The family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ can thus be described more intrinsically as a solution of the radial equation equation

(33)
$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = \alpha_{\partial G_s}(x)\nu_{\partial G_s}(x).$$

This formula enables us to identify the "tangent space" $T_D \mathcal{D}$ at $D \in \mathcal{D}$ with the space $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(C)$ of real smooth functions on C (of the form α_C with the above notation). At least it appears that $T_D \mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(C)$. Conversely, given $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(C)$, we will see in Remark 16 how to construct a strongly smooth family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ such that

(34)
$$\begin{cases} G_0 = D \\ \forall x \in \partial G_0, \qquad \partial_s x|_{s=0} = \alpha(x)\nu_{\partial G_0}(x) \end{cases}$$

This shows that $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(C) \subset T_D \mathcal{D}$.

Following the traditional definition in differential geometry, we say that a mapping $\Phi : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{D}$ is strongly smooth if any strongly smooth family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ is transformed by Φ into a strongly smooth family, i.e., $(\Phi(G_s))_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ is smooth (to simplify the terminology, from now on, smooth means strongly smooth). Then there exists a vector field $\tilde{\alpha}$ on $(\Phi(G_s))_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ such that

$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial \Phi(G_s), \qquad \partial_s x = \widetilde{\alpha}_{\partial \Phi(G_s)}(x) \nu_{\partial \Phi(G_s)}(x)$$

Fix $s \in [0, S_+)$. It is not difficult to see that the function $\tilde{\alpha}_{\partial \Phi(G_s)}$ depends on α satisfying (33) only through $\alpha_{\partial G_s}$. For fixed $D \in \mathcal{D}$, consider any smooth and \mathcal{D} -valued family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ with $0 \in [0, S_+)$ and $G_0 = D$. Let α be associated with $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ as in (33). The linear functional transforming α_C into $\tilde{\alpha}_{\partial \Phi(D)}$, as above, is called the *tangent mapping* $T_D \Phi$ of Φ at D.

REMARK 12. – A natural converse question is: given $D, \widetilde{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ and a linear mapping T from $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(C)$ to $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{C})$ (with $\widetilde{C} \coloneqq \partial \widetilde{D}$), is there a smooth function Φ on \mathcal{D} with $\Phi(D) = \widetilde{D}$ and such that $T = T_D \Phi$? The investigation of this kind of general issues is out of the scope of the present paper. Nevertheless, a first step in this direction is as follows. Let $\alpha, \widetilde{\alpha}$ be given in $T_D \mathcal{D}$ and $T_{\widetilde{D}} \mathcal{D}$ respectively. Remark 16 shows how to extend α and $\widetilde{\alpha}$ on \mathcal{D} in order to be able to solve locally in time (34) to get smooth families $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ and $(\widetilde{G}_s)_{s \in [0,\widetilde{S}_+)}$. Replace S_+ by $S_+ \wedge \widetilde{S}_+$. Assuming that α did not vanish identically on ∂D , we can furthermore impose that S_+ is small enough so that $[0, S_+) \ni s \mapsto G_s$ is one-to-one. It enables us to define Φ on $\{G_s : s \in [0, S_+)\}$ via $\Phi(G_s) = \widetilde{G}_s$, for all $s \in [0, S_+)$. Then we get $T_D \Phi[\alpha] = \widetilde{\alpha}$. To go further would require a better understanding of the neighborhood of D in \mathcal{D} .

With all these preliminaries at our disposal, we can now compute the tangent mapping $T_D \Psi(\cdot, r)$ for $r \in (R_-(D), R_+(D))$. Rigorously, for given $r \in \mathbb{R}$, the mapping $\Psi(\cdot, r)$ is not defined on the whole set \mathcal{D} but only on the subset

(35)
$$\mathcal{D}_r \coloneqq \{ D \in \mathcal{D} : r \in (R_-(D), R_+(D)) \}.$$

This subset is open for the strong topology alluded before (but not in the Hausdorff topology, see Remark 11), so that the notion of tangent mapping can be extended to this setting (as soon as $\mathcal{D}_r \neq \emptyset$).

The tangent mapping $T_D \Psi(\cdot, r)$ is among the simplest possible ones:

LEMMA 13. – Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and $r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$ be given. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(C)$ and $x \in C$, we have

$$T_D\Psi(\cdot, r)[\alpha](x) = \alpha(\psi_C^{-1}(x)),$$

where $\psi_{C,r}^{-1}: \Psi(C,r) \to C$ is the inverse mapping of the function $\psi_{C,r}$ defined in (24).

Proof. – Let $\alpha \in C^{\infty}(C)$ be given, extend it smoothly on V and solve (34) for $\epsilon > 0$ small enough. For $x \in C$ and $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$, denote $\varphi(x, s) \coloneqq x_s$ and $A_s \coloneqq \{\varphi(x, s) : x \in C\}$. According to the previous discussion, to get the wanted result, we just need to check that for any $x \in C$, the part of $\partial_s \psi_{A_s,r}(\varphi(x, s))|_{s=0}$ which is (outwardly) normal to $\Psi(A_s, r)$ is equal to $\alpha(x)$, namely that

$$(36) \qquad \forall x \in C, \qquad \left\langle \partial_s \psi_{A_s,r}(\varphi(x,s)) \right|_{s=0}, \nu_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)) \right\rangle_{\psi_{C,r}(x)} = \alpha(x).$$

Denote

$$\forall t \in [0, r], \qquad J_t \coloneqq \partial_s \psi_{A_s, t}(\varphi(x, s))|_{s=0}$$

so that $(J_t)_{t\in[0,r]}$ is a vector field over the geodesic $(\gamma(t))_{t\in[0,r]} := (\psi_{C,t}(x))_{t\in[0,r]}$. For all $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$, $(\psi_{C,t}(x_s))_{t\in[0,r]}$ is a geodesic, it follows that $(J_t)_{t\in[0,r]}$ is a Jacobi fields (cf. for instance Proposition 3.45 from the book of Gallot, Hulin and Lafontaine [10], whose Chapter 3 serves as a reference for all the following considerations). Thus $(J_t)_{t\in[0,r]}$ is defined by its initial conditions J(0) and J'(0), where the prime corresponds to the covariant derivative with respect to t, and by the evolution $J'' = -R(J,\dot{\gamma})\dot{\gamma}$, where R is the Riemannian curvature tensor. To prove (36) amounts to show that the mapping $[0,r] \ni t \mapsto \langle J(t),\dot{\gamma}(t) \rangle_{\gamma(t)}$ is constant. The covariant derivative is constructed so that the scalar product is left invariant, so that

$$\begin{aligned} \forall t \in [0, r], \qquad \frac{a}{dt} \left\langle J(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} &= \left\langle J'(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} + \left\langle J(t), \dot{\gamma}'(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} \\ &= \left\langle J'(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)}, \end{aligned}$$

since by definition of a geodesic, we have $\dot{\gamma}'(t) = 0$. Differentiating once more, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} \left\langle J'(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} &= \left\langle J''(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} + \left\langle J'(t), \dot{\gamma}'(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} \\ &= \left\langle J''(t), \dot{\gamma}(t) \right\rangle_{\gamma(t)} \\ &= -R(J, \dot{\gamma}, \dot{\gamma}, \dot{\gamma}) \\ &= 0, \end{aligned}$$

since the (0, 4)-curvature tensor R is anti-symmetric in its last two vector variables (as well as in first two vector variables). Thus, to get the wanted result, we just need to check that J'(0) is orthogonal to $\dot{\gamma}(0) = \nu_C(x)$. From the first equality of Proposition 3.29 of Gallot, Hulin and Lafontaine [10] (applied with the commutating vector fields $X = \partial_s$ and $J = \partial_t$ on $(-\epsilon, \epsilon) \times [0, r]$ parametrized by (s, t)), it appears that J'(0) coincides with the covariant derivative with respect to s of the tangent vectors of the geodesic $(\psi_{C,t}(x_s))_{t\in[0,r]}$, at s = 0 and t = 0. The latter tangent vectors are unitary, so their covariant derivatives are orthogonal to them. Thus at s = 0 and t = 0 we get $\langle J'(0), \dot{\gamma}(0) \rangle_x = 0$, ending the proof of (36).

We deduce the differentiation of our favorite observables.

COROLLARY 14. – In the setting of Lemma 13, let be given $f \in C^{\infty}(V)$ and $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ with $G_0 = D$ and $\alpha_{\partial G_0} = \alpha$ (in the sense of (33)). We have

$$\left. \frac{d}{ds} F_f(\Psi(G_s, r)) \right|_{s=0} = \int_{\Psi(C, r)} f(x) \alpha(\psi_{C, r}^{-1}(x)) \,\underline{\mu}(dx).$$

Proof. – As in the first part of the proof of Lemma 10, we get

$$\left. \frac{d}{ds} F_f(G_s) \right|_{s=0} = \int_C f(x) \alpha(x) \,\underline{\mu}(dx).$$

Taking into account Lemma 13, the announced result follows from this formula, with $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ replaced by $(\Psi(G_s,r))_{s \in [0,S_+)}$.

A famous example of radial evolution of the type (33) is the mean curvature flow:

$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = -\rho_{\partial G_s}(x)\nu_{\partial G_s}(x),$$

where $G_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ is given and $[0, S_+)$ is the maximum interval on which this flow remains in \mathcal{D} (there are various ways to define the mean curvature flow beyond the times when it gets out of \mathcal{D} , see e.g., Chapter 1 of the book of Mantegazza [17]). When $V = \mathbb{R}^2$ endowed with its usual Riemannian structure, it is possible to compute explicitly the image of the mean curvature vector field ρ by the tangent applications to the normal flow Ψ , see Subsection 5.1. In general, it is more difficult (see nevertheless Remark 49 for the usual Riemannian structure on $V = \mathbb{R}^n$), since the curvature of V will enter into the game.

The arguments of Section 1.5 of Mantegazza [17] can be adapted to get existence and uniqueness of the solutions $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ to the radial evolution equations of the form

where $[0, S_+)$ is a small enough interval containing 0, where G_0 is a given element from \mathcal{D} and where a and b are respectively a smooth function and a smooth vector field on V. The obtained solution $(G_s)_{s \in [0, S_+)}$ is a smooth family. The underlying idea is to consider again the parametrization $(r_-, r_+) \times G_0 \ni (r, x) \mapsto \psi_{G_0, r}(x)$ of a tubular neighborhood of G_0 , where (r_-, r_+) is a small neighborhood of 0. Then one looks for a mapping $[0, S_+) \times G_0 \ni (s, x) \mapsto y(s, x)$, whose image is included into the tubular neighborhood $\psi_{G_0, (r_-, r_+)}(G_0)$ and which is such that for any $s \in [0, S_+)$ and any $x \in G_0$

$$\begin{aligned} y(0,x) &= \varphi_0(x) \\ \left\langle \partial_s y(s,x), \nu_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) \right\rangle_{y(s,x)} &= -\rho_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) + \left\langle b(y(s,x)), \nu_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) \right\rangle_{y(s,x)} \\ &+ a(y(s,x)), \end{aligned}$$

where $\varphi_0: G_0 \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is the inclusion map. Then writing $y(s, x) = \psi_{G_0, f(s, x)}(x)$, for all $(s, x) \in [0, S_+) \times G_0$, we end up with the quasi-linear parabolic equation with respect to f: for any $x \in G_0$,

(38)

$$\begin{cases} f(0,x) = 0\\ \forall s \in [0,S_+), \partial_s f(s,x) = \triangle_{G_0,s} f(s,x) \\ + H(x, f(s,x), (\partial_{x_i} f(s,x))_{i \in [[n-1]]}, (\partial_{x_i} (\partial_{x_j} f(s,x))^2)_{i,j \in [[n-1]]}), \end{cases}$$

where H is a smooth mapping on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}^{(n-1)^2}$ and where $\triangle_{G_0,s}$ is the Laplacian relatively to the Riemannian structure on G_0 obtained by pulling back through the diffeomorphism $G_0 \ni x \mapsto \psi_{G_0,f(s,x)}(x)$ the Riemannian structure on G_s inherited from that of V. Note that H will be independent from the chart in which we compute $\partial_{x_i}f(s,x)$ and $\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}f(s,x)$.

Before going further, let us explain how to get (38) from (37), when $V = \mathbb{R}^n$. In this case we have

$$y(s,x) = \psi_{G_0, f(s,x)}(x) = \varphi_0(x) + f(s,x)\nu_0(x)$$

and note that for f small and smooth, y(s, .) will be a diffeomorphism, with f(0, x) = 0and $\partial_{x_i} f(0, x) = 0$ and $\partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} f(0, x) = 0$. We compute the equation satisfied by f(s, x)such that y(s, x) is a solution of (37). Taking into account Corollary 1.3.5 in Mantegazza [17], up to a reparametrization, the evolution of $G_s = y(s, G_0)$ is characterized by it's normal evolution, namely $\langle \partial_s y(s,x), \nu_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) \rangle_{y(s,x)}$. Let us compute the pullback metric at $x \in G_0$, $g(s,x) = y(s,.)_* g_{|\partial G_s}$, where g is the canonical metric in V. In a local chart of G_0 , $(x_i)_{i \in [n-1]}$ at $x \in G_0$, we have:

$$\begin{split} g_{i,j}(s,x) &= \langle \partial_{x_i} y(s,x), \partial_{x_j} y(s,x) \rangle \\ &= \langle \partial_{x_i} \varphi_0 + \partial_{x_i} f(s,x) \nu_0(x) + f(s,x) \partial_{x_i} \nu_0(x), \partial_{x_j} \varphi_0 \\ &+ \partial_{x_j} f(s,x) \nu_0(x) + f(s,x) \partial_{x_j} \nu_0(x) \rangle \\ &= \langle \partial_{x_i} \varphi_0 + f(s,x) \partial_{x_i} \nu_0(x), \partial_{x_j} \varphi_0 + f(s,x) \partial_{x_j} \nu_0(x) \rangle + \partial_{x_i} f(s,x) \partial_{x_j} f(s,x). \end{split}$$

Using Gauss-Weingarten equation, namely:

$$\partial_{x_i}\nu_0(x) = h_{i,l}(0,x)g^{l,k}(0,x)\partial_{x_k}\varphi_0(x),$$

where $h_{i,l}(0,x)$ is the second fundamental form of G_0 at x, and $(g^{l,k}(0,x))_{l,k}$ is the inverse of the metric $(g_{l,k}(0,x))_{l,k}$, and we use the convention that every repeated lower indices and upper indices are considered as a sum, as in the whole paper. We get,

$$g_{i,j}(s,x) = g_{i,j}(0,x) + 2f(s,x)h_{i,j}(0,x) + f^2(s,x)h_{i,l}g^{l,m}h_{j,m}(0,x) + \partial_{x_i}f(s,x)\partial_{x_j}f(s,x).$$

Using again Gauss-Weingarten equation, and since $\langle \nu(s, x), \partial_{x_i} y(s, x) \rangle = 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} h_{i,j}(s,x) &= -\langle \nu(s,x), \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} y(s,x) \rangle \\ &= -\langle \nu(s,x), \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi_0 + \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} f \nu_0(x) \\ &+ \partial_{x_j} f \partial_{x_i} \nu_0(x) + \partial_{x_i} f \partial_{x_j} \nu_0 + f \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \nu_0(x) \rangle \\ &= -\partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} f \langle \nu(s,x), \nu_0(x) \rangle + \widehat{H}_{i,j}(x, f(s,x), (\partial_{x_i} f(s,x))_{l \in [[n-1]]}), \end{split}$$

where $\nu(s, x)$ is the exterior normal vector of G_s at the point y(s, x), and $h_{i,j}(s, x)$ is the second fundamental form of G_s at y(s, x) in the basis $(\partial_{x_i} y(s, x))_{i \in [n-1]}$ of it's tangent space and \hat{H} is a smooth function when the two last argument are small enough. We also have

$$\partial_s y(s,x) = \partial_s f(s,x)\nu_0(x)$$

and $\rho_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) = g^{i,j}(s,x)h_{i,j}(s,x)$, note that this quantity is independent of the chart. If we write :

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) &= g^{i,j}(s,x)h_{i,j}(s,x) \\ &= -g^{i,j}(s,x)\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}f\langle\nu(s,x),\nu_0(x)\rangle + g^{i,j}(s,x)\widehat{H}_{i,j}(x,f(s,x),(\partial_{x_l}f(s,x))_{l\in\llbracket n-1\rrbracket}) \\ &= -g^{i,j}(s,x)\big(\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}f - \Gamma_{i,j}^k(s,x)\partial_{x_k}f(s,x)\big)\langle\nu(s,x),\nu_0(x)\rangle \\ &+ g^{i,j}(s,x)\big(\widehat{H}_{i,j}(x,f(s,x),(\partial_{x_l}f(s,x)_{l\in\llbracket n-1\rrbracket}) - \Gamma_{i,j}^k(s,x)\partial_{x_k}f(s,x)\langle\nu(s,x),\nu_0(x)\rangle)\big) \\ &= -\Delta_{G_0,s}f\langle\nu(s,x),\nu_0(x)\rangle + H(x,f(s,x),(\partial_{x_l}f(s,x))_{l\in\llbracket n-1\rrbracket},(\partial_{x_l}(\partial_{x_k}f(s,x))^2)_{l,k\in\llbracket n-1\rrbracket}), \\ \text{where } \Gamma_{i,j}^k(s,x) \text{ is the Christoffel for the metric } q(s), \text{ this quantity depends} \end{split}$$

where $\Gamma_{i,j}(s,x)$ is the Christoffel for the metric g(s), this quantity depends on the derivative of g and thus on the second derivative of f, but only via $(\partial_{x_l}(\partial_{x_k}f(s,x))^2)_{l,k\in[[n-1]]}$. Furthermore, as we can see below, $\nu(s,x)$ depends on the derivative of f up to order one. Note that since $\rho_{\partial G_s}(s,x)$ and $\Delta_{G_0,s}f$ are independent on the choice of the chart, the same is true for

$$H(x, f(s, x), (\partial_{x_l} f(s, x))_{l \in \llbracket n-1 \rrbracket}, (\partial_{x_l} (\partial_{x_k} f(s, x))^2)_{l,k \in \llbracket n-1 \rrbracket})).$$

So if y(s, x) is a solution of (37) then after taking bracket with the normal vector we get:

$$\begin{aligned} (39)\\ \partial_s f(s,x) \langle \nu(s,x), \nu_0(x) \rangle &= \langle \partial_s y(s,x), \nu_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) \rangle_{y(s,x)} \\ &= -\rho_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) + \langle b(y(s,x)), \nu_{\partial G_s}(y(s,x)) \rangle_{y(s,x)} + a(y(s,x)) \\ &= \triangle_{G_0,s} f \langle \nu(s,x), \nu_0(x) \rangle \\ &\quad + \widetilde{H}(x,a,b,f(s,x), (\partial_{x_l}f(s,x))_{l \in [[n-1]]}, (\partial_{x_l}(\partial_{x_k}f(s,x))^2)_{l,k \in [[n-1]]}). \end{aligned}$$

where \widetilde{H} is independent on the choice of the chart.

Furthermore, since $(v_i(s, x))_{i \in [n-1]} \coloneqq (\sqrt{g}^{i,l}(s, x)\partial_{x_l}y(s, x))_{i \in [n-1]}$ is an orthonormal basis of the tangent space of G_s at y(s, x), the vector

$$\nu_0(x) - \sum_{i \in \llbracket n-1 \rrbracket} \langle \nu_0(x), v_i(s, x) \rangle v_i(s, x)$$

is orthogonal to this tangent space. Let us compute it, taking into account that $\langle \nu_0(x), \partial_{x_l} \varphi_0(x) \rangle = 0$ and $\langle \nu_0(x), \partial_{x_l} \nu_0(x) \rangle = 0$:

$$\begin{split} \nu_{0}(x) &- \sum_{i \in [[n-1]]} \langle \nu_{0}(x), v_{i}(s, x) \rangle v_{i}(s, x) \\ &= \nu_{0}(x) - \sum_{i \in [[n-1]]} \left\langle \nu_{0}(x), \sum_{l \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,l}(s, x) \partial_{x_{l}} y(s, x) \right\rangle \sum_{k \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,k}(s, x) \partial_{x_{k}} y(s, x) \\ &= \nu_{0}(x) - \sum_{i \in [[n-1]]} \sum_{l \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,l}(s, x) \langle \nu_{0}(x), \partial_{x_{l}} y(s, x) \rangle \sum_{k \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,k}(s, x) \partial_{x_{k}} y(s, x) \\ &= \nu_{0}(x) - \sum_{i \in [[n-1]]} \sum_{l \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,l}(s, x) \partial_{x_{l}} f(s, x) \sum_{k \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,k}(s, x) \partial_{x_{k}} y(s, x) \\ &= \nu_{0}(x) - \sum_{l \in [[n-1]]} \sum_{k \in [[n-1]]} \sum_{i \in [[n-1]]} \sqrt{g}^{i,l}(s, x) \sqrt{g}^{i,k}(s, x) \partial_{x_{l}} f(s, x) \partial_{x_{k}} y(s, x) \\ &= \nu_{0}(x) - \sum_{l \in [[n-1]]} \sum_{k \in [[n-1]]} g^{kl}(s, x) \partial_{x_{l}} f(s, x) \partial_{x_{k}} y(s, x). \end{split}$$

In particular, this vector is different to zero for f and ∇f small enough and we get then

$$\nu(s,x) = \frac{\nu_0(x) - \partial_{x_i} f(s,x) g^{i,j}(s,x) \partial_{x_j} (\varphi_0(x) + f(s,x) \nu_0(x))}{\|\nu_0(x) - \partial_{x_i} f(s,x) g^{i,j}(s,x) \partial_{x_j} (\varphi_0(x) + f(s,x) \nu_0(x))\|}.$$

It follows equally that $\langle \nu(s, x), \nu_0(x) \rangle$ is different to zero for f and ∇f small enough, and thus dividing (39) by $\langle \nu(s, x), \nu_0(x) \rangle$, we get (38) for a smooth function H deduced from the previous computations.

When s, f(s, x) and $\nabla_{G_0,s} f(s, x)$ are small, the implicit function theorem enables us to write (38) under the form considered in Appendix A of Mantegazza [17], due to the strict ellipticity of the operator $\Delta_{G_0,s}$ on G_0 and to the fact that

$$(\partial_{x_i}(\partial_{x_j}f(s,x))^2)_{i,j\in[[n-1]]} = 2(\partial_{x_j}f(s,x)(\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}f(s,x)))_{i,j\in[[n-1]]}$$

As shown by Appendix A of Mantegazza [17], such quasi-linear parabolic equations admit a unique solution on a small time interval containing 0, so this existence and uniqueness result holds for (38). It would also be possible to put in front of the term $\rho_{\partial G_s}(x)$ of (37) a positive quantity depending smoothly on x.

REMARK 15. – We have written in a natural way the leading term of $\rho_{\partial G_s}$ in terms of the Laplacian for the metric g(s). Unfortunately the equation we will need will not be exactly of this form, because we will have an additional stochastic term, carefully studied in Section 4. For the short time existence, we will prefer to write this leading term in terms of a fixed manifold with a fixed metric as in (62) in Subsection 4.1.

REMARK 16. – Let us come back to the search of a smooth family $(G_s)_{s \in [0,S_+)}$ satisfying (34), where $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(G_0)$ is given. First extend $\rho_{\partial G_0} + \alpha$ from ∂G_0 to V, to obtain a smooth function $a \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ coinciding with $\rho_{\partial G_0} + \alpha$ on ∂G_0 . Next define for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \alpha_C(x) = -\rho_C(x) + a(x).$$

The radial evolution equation

(40)
$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = \alpha_{\partial G_s}(x)\nu_{\partial G_s}(x)$$

is of the form (37) and so admits a unique solution for small enough intervals $[0, S_+)$. Restricting the above equation to s = 0 shows that $(G_s)_{s \in [0, S_+)}$ solves (34).

This construction seems particularly cumbersome, it would be more natural to extend α from ∂G_0 to V to get a smooth function $c \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ and to solve the radial evolution equation

(41)
$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = c(x)\nu_{\partial G_s}(x).$$

Unfortunately, doing so, we end up with a Hamilton-Jacobi equation (see e.g., Chapter 3 of Evans [8]) instead of the quasi-linear parabolic Equation (38). One would then be led to investigate if the usual conditions for existence and uniqueness of the solutions to the Hamilton-Jacobi equations are satisfied and thus to describe more precisely the function H appearing in (38), but this is not so nice.

The normal flow Equation (32), corresponding to c = 1, was simple to solve (in both direction of the time, contrary to the above quasi-linear parabolic equations), because the normal vectors are transported in a parallel way by the geodesic flows directed by these normal vectors.
Equations of the type (37) are adapted to our purposes: only considering the last vector field in (22), i.e., the heuristic \mathcal{D} -valued "ordinary" differential equation $dD_t = \mathfrak{V}_2(D_t)dt$, amounts to solve the following modification of the mean curvature flow:

(42)
$$\forall s \in [0, S_+), \forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = -\rho_{\partial G_s}^b(x)\nu_{\partial G_s}(x),$$

where

(43)
$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \forall x \in C, \quad \rho_C^b(x) \coloneqq \rho_C(x) + \langle \nabla U(x) - \beta(x), \nu_C(x) \rangle_x$$

(despite the b in supscript, remember that $b = \nabla U + \beta$ and not $\nabla U - \beta$, as the above formula could suggest).

Let $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ be given, as well as $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ a standard (one-dimensional) Brownian motion starting from 0. To solve (22), we are looking for a stochastic \mathcal{D} -valued evolution $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$, where $\tau > 0$ is a stopping time (wrt. to the filtration generated by the Brownian motion), such that

(44)
$$\forall t \in [0,\tau), \forall x \in C_t, \qquad dx = \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t + 2\frac{\mu(C_t)}{\mu(D_t)}dt - \rho_{C_t}^b(x)dt\right)\nu_{C_t}(x),$$

where $C_t \coloneqq \partial D_t$.

To explain the Doss [6] and Sussman [28] approach to such stochastic differential equations, it is helpful to first replace $\sqrt{2} dB_t + 2\mu(C_t)/\mu(D_t) dt$ by $d\xi_t = \xi'_t dt$, where $\xi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is a given \mathcal{C}^1 function with $\xi_0 = 0$. Still starting from D_0 , we would like to solve the radial evolution equation

(45)
$$\forall t \in [0,\epsilon), \forall x \in C_t, \qquad \partial_t x = \left(\xi'_t - \rho^b_{C_t}(x)\right) \nu_{C_t}(x)$$

for some $\epsilon > 0$, without using the derivative $(\xi'_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon]}$. To do so, we begin by solving another radial evolution equation

(46)
$$\begin{cases} G_0 = D_0 \\ \forall t \in [0, \tilde{\epsilon}), \, \forall x \in \partial G_t, \qquad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t, \xi_t}(x) \nu_{\partial G_t}(x) \end{cases}$$

for some $\tilde{\epsilon} > 0$ small enough, where α is defined by

(47)
$$\forall r > 0, \forall D \in \mathcal{D}_r, \forall x \in C, \qquad \alpha_{C,r}(x) \coloneqq -\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}^b(\psi_{C,r}(x)),$$

where $\Psi(C, r)$ was defined after Remark 9, taking into account (24), (25), (26), (35). Next, consider

$$\epsilon \coloneqq \inf\{t \in [0, \tilde{\epsilon}) : G_t \notin \mathcal{D}_{\xi_t}\} > 0$$

(with the usual convention that $\epsilon = \tilde{\epsilon}$ if the set in r.h.s. is empty) and define

$$\forall t \in [0, \epsilon), \qquad D_t \coloneqq \Psi(G_t, \xi_t)$$

Let us check that this is indeed a solution of (45). First, we have $\Psi(G_0, \xi_0) = \Psi(D, 0) = D_0$. Concerning the evolution, differentiate with respect to the first and

second variables of Ψ to find

$$\forall t \in [0, \epsilon), \forall x \in C_t, \qquad \partial_t x = (T_{G_t} \Psi(\cdot, \xi_t) [\alpha_{\partial G_t, \xi_t}](x) + \xi'_t) \nu_{C_t}(x)$$
$$= \left(-\rho^b_{C_t}(x) + \xi'_t\right) \nu_{C_t}(x),$$

as wanted, where we used Lemma 13. Denote h the mapping defined on \mathcal{D} by

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad h(D) = 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(C)}{\mu(D)}$$

For given $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ and a \mathcal{C}^1 function $\zeta : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$, we are now looking for a solution, starting from D_0 , to the radial evolution equation

(48)
$$\forall t \in [0,\epsilon), \forall x \in C_t, \qquad \partial_t x = \left(\zeta'_t + h(D_t) - \rho^b_{C_t}(x)\right)\nu_{C_t}(x)$$

for some $\epsilon > 0$. Following computations similar to those presented above, we get a solution by taking, for t > 0 small enough,

(49)
$$D_t \coloneqq \Psi(G_t, \zeta_t + \theta_t),$$

where the $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathcal{D}$ -valued family $(\theta_t, G_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon)}$, for $\epsilon > 0$ small enough, is a solution of the system starting from $(\theta_0, G_0) = (0, D_0)$ and satisfying

(50)
$$\forall t \in [0, \epsilon), \qquad \begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\theta_t = h(\Psi(G_t, \zeta_t + \theta_t)) \\ \forall x \in \partial G_t, \quad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t, \zeta_t + \theta_t}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t}(x). \end{cases}$$

The formulations (49) and (50) do not require that the function ζ is differentiable.

These remarks suggest to solve (44) by replacing $(\zeta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ by $(\sqrt{2}B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ in (49) and (50), up to the random time τ these constructions are allowed: τ will be a stopping time with respect to the filtration generated by the Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$. This is the Doss [6] and Sussman [28] method, adapted to our evolving domain framework.

So given $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, we are led to consider the following stochastic radial evolution equation system with respect to $(\theta_t, G_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon)}$, starting with $(\theta_0, G_0) = (0, D_0)$:

(51)
$$\forall t \in [0, \epsilon), \qquad \begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\theta_t = h(\Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t)) \\ \forall x \in \partial G_t, \quad \partial_t x. = \alpha_{\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t}(x). \end{cases}$$

In Section 4, we show the existence of a solution of (46), where $(\xi_t)_{t\geq 0} = (\sqrt{2}B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and the existence of a solution of (51). There, we will only consider the case $V = \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, the situation of a general manifold V is similar up to some modifications, which are straightforward from a conceptual point of view, but induce complicated notations.

Once (51) is solved, define as in (49),

(52)
$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad D_t \coloneqq \Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2B_t} + \theta_t),$$

up to the stopping time τ until which this construction is permitted.

Let us now check that (52) provides a solution to the martingale problem presented in the introduction: THEOREM 17. – The stopped stochastic process $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, defined on the natural filtered probability space of the standard Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \geq 0}$, is a solution to the stopped martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and to the starting domain D.

Proof. – Fix some $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$. On the set $I := \{(s, r) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R} : G_s \in \mathcal{D}_r\}$, consider the mapping

(53)
$$(s,r) \mapsto F_f(\Psi(G_s,r)).$$

According to Lemma 10, this mapping is C^2 in the second variable. Concerning the first variable, note that for $(s, r) \in I$, we have

(54)
$$\forall x \in \partial G_s, \qquad \partial_s x = -\rho^b_{\Psi(\partial G_s, r)}(\psi_{\partial G_s, r}(x))\nu_{\partial G_s}(x).$$

From Lemma 13, we deduce that

(55)
$$\forall x \in \Psi(\partial G_s, r), \qquad \partial_s x = -\rho^b_{\Psi(\partial G_s, r)}(x)\nu_{\Psi(\partial G_s, r)}(x)$$

and from Lemma 14, that for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$,

(56)
$$\frac{d}{ds}F_f(\Psi(G_s,r)) = -\int_{\Psi(\partial G_s,r)} f(x)\rho^b(x)\,\underline{\mu}(dx)$$

In particular, the mapping defined in (53) is \mathcal{C}^1 in the first variable.

These observations enable us to apply Ito's formula to

$$[0,\tau) \ni t \mapsto F_f(\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2B_t}+\theta_t))$$

to get its stochastic evolution:

$$\begin{split} dF_f(\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)) \\ &= -\left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)} f\rho^b \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dt + \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)} f \, d\underline{\mu}\right) (\sqrt{2}dB_t + \partial_t \theta_t dt) \\ &+ \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)} \langle\nabla f,\nu\rangle \, d\underline{\mu} + \int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)} f(\rho + \langle\nabla U,\nu\rangle) \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dt \\ &= \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)} \langle\nabla f,\nu\rangle + f(h(\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)) + \langle\beta,\nu\rangle) \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dt \\ &+ \sqrt{2} \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)} f \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dB_t \\ &= \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_t) \, dt + dM_t, \end{split}$$

where we used (6) and where $(M_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a local martingale whose bracket is given by

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad \langle M \rangle_t = 2 \int_0^t \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_g](D_s) \, ds$$

This description and the continuity of the trajectories $[0, \tau) \ni t \mapsto F_f(D_t)$ imply that $(D_t)_{t \in [0, \tau)}$ is a solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ (see e.g., the book of Bakry, Gentil and Ledoux [3]). Since $D_0 = D$, we conclude to the wanted result.

REMARK 18. – There are potentially other ways to use the Doss-Sussman approach. For instance, Equation (22) can be rewritten under the form

(57)
$$dD_t = \sqrt{2} \mathfrak{V}_1(D_t) dB_t + \mathfrak{V}_2(D_t) dt,$$

where $\widetilde{\mathfrak{V}}_2(D) \coloneqq 2h(D)\mathfrak{V}_1(D) + \mathfrak{V}_2(D)$ for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$. Similarly to (43) and (47), define

$$\begin{aligned} \forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \, \forall x \in C, \qquad & \widetilde{\rho}^{b}_{C}(x) \coloneqq \rho_{C}(x) + \langle \nabla U(x) - \beta(x), \nu_{C}(x) \rangle_{x} - h(D) \\ \forall r > 0, \, \forall D \in \mathcal{D}_{r}, \, \forall x \in C, \quad & \widetilde{\alpha}_{C,r}(x) \coloneqq - \widetilde{\rho}^{b}_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)). \end{aligned}$$

Next try to construct a family $(\tilde{G}_t)_{t\in[0,\epsilon)}$ (where $\epsilon > 0$ is a stopping time) such that

$$\forall t \in [0, \epsilon), \forall x \in \partial \widetilde{G}_t, \qquad \partial_t x = \widetilde{\alpha}_{\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t}(x)$$

Contrary to (51), no auxilliary $(\theta_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon)}$ is needed here, but the above equation is not really of the type (37), due to the isoperimetric ratio. Nevertheless, it should be possible to adapt to this situation the fixed point approach presented in Section 4.

Once $(\tilde{G}_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon)}$ has been constructed, consider

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad D_t \coloneqq \Psi(\tilde{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)$$

with

$$\tau \coloneqq \inf\{t \in [0, \epsilon) : \widetilde{G}_t \notin \mathcal{D}_{\sqrt{2}B_t}\}.$$

Then the stopped stochastic process $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, defined on the natural filtered probability space of the standard Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \geq 0}$, is a solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and to the starting domain G_0 .

We preferred to present how to solve (22), because the flows associated to \mathfrak{V}_1 and \mathfrak{V}_2 are quite famous (at least when $\nabla U = \beta = 0$) and well-investigated. But maybe the flow associated to the radial equation

$$\forall x \in C_t, \qquad \partial_t x = (h(D_t) - \rho_{C_t}(x)) \nu_{C_t}(x)$$

is also a natural object to study. In Subsection 5.2, we will check in the homogeneous setting of Section 2 that this alternative Doss-Sussman approach should be preferred to the one considered in the proof of Theorem 17.

CHAPTER 4

EXISTENCE OF A STOCHASTIC MODIFIED MEAN CURVATURE FLOW

This section presents the quite technical proofs of the existence of regular solutions to (46) and (51), respectively the following subsections. As announced before Theorem 17, we only deal with $V = \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ to avoid complicated notations.

We begin by recollecting our notations: \mathcal{D} is the set of non-empty, compact and connected domains D in V, which coincide with the closure of their interior and whose boundary $C \coloneqq \partial D$ is smooth. The exterior normal vector ν_C and the mean curvature ρ_C are defined on C. Recall we were given a function $U \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ and a smooth vector field β satisfying div $(\exp(U)\beta) = 0$, to which is associated the smooth vector field $b \coloneqq \nabla U + \beta$. Denote $\mu \coloneqq \exp(U)\lambda$, the measure admitting the density $\exp(U)$ with respect to the Riemannian measure λ (when μ gives a finite weight to V, it is normalized into a probability measure, which amounts to add a constant to U). The interest of μ is to be reversible for the operator $L \coloneqq \Delta + b$. We associate to the boundary C the $(\dim(V)-1)$ -Hausdorff measure $\underline{\mu}_C$ coming from μ , namely admitting the density $\exp(U)$ with respect to the usual Riemannian $(\dim(V) - 1)$ -Hausdorff measure. We also distort ρ_C by introducing the modified mean curvature ρ_C^b defined by

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \rho_C^b(x) \coloneqq \rho_C(x) + \langle \nabla U(x) - \beta(x), \nu_C(x) \rangle_x.$$

Let $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ be given, as well as $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ a standard real Brownian motion starting from 0. We are looking for a stochastic \mathcal{D} -valued evolution $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$, where $\tau > 0$ is a stopping time, such that

(44)
$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \forall x \in C_t, \qquad dx = \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t + 2h(D_t)dt - \rho_{C_t}^b(x)dt\right)\nu_{C_t}(x),$$

where

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad h(D) \coloneqq 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(C)}{\mu(D)}.$$

Resorting to the Doss [6] and Sussman [28] method, we are led to solve consecutively: — The deterministic radial equation in $(G_t)_{t \in [0,\tilde{\epsilon}]}$:

$$\begin{cases} G_0 = D_0 \\ \forall t \in [0, \tilde{\epsilon}), \, \forall x \in \partial G_t, \qquad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t, \xi_t}(x) \nu_{\partial G_t}(x), \end{cases}$$

where $\mathbb{R}_+ \ni t \mapsto \xi_t \in \mathbb{R}$ is assumed to be α -Hölder regular with $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$, $\tilde{\epsilon}$ is small enough and

$$\forall r > 0, \forall D \in \mathcal{D}_r, \forall x \in C, \qquad \alpha_{C,r}(x) \coloneqq -\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}^b(\psi_{C,r}(x))$$

with for any $r \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\psi_{C,r} : C \ni x \mapsto \exp_x(r\nu_C(x)) \in V$$
$$\Psi(C,r) \coloneqq \{\psi_{C,r}(x) : x \in C\}$$
$$\mathcal{D}_r \coloneqq \{D \in \mathcal{D} : r \in (R_-(D), R_+(D))\}$$

$$\begin{split} R_+(D) \coloneqq \inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) \, : \, \psi_{C,r} \text{ is not a diffeomorphism on its image}\}\\ R_-(D) \coloneqq -\inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) \, : \, \psi_{C,-r} \text{ is not a diffeomorphism on its image}\}. \end{split}$$

— The radial system in $(\theta_t, G_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon)}$:

(50)
$$\forall t \in [0, \epsilon), \qquad \begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\theta_t = h(\Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}\zeta_t + \theta_t)) \\ \forall x \in \partial G_t, \quad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}\zeta_t + \theta_t}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t}(x). \end{cases}$$

where $\mathbb{R}_+ \ni t \mapsto \zeta_t \in \mathbb{R}$ is assumed to be α -Hölder regular with $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$, ϵ is small enough and

$$\forall r \in \mathbb{R}, \forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \Psi(D, r) \coloneqq \bigcup_{s \in (-\infty, r]} \Psi(C, s).$$

The interest of these manipulations is that a solution of (44) will be given by

 $\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad D_t \coloneqq \Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t),$

where in (50) we take $(\zeta_t)_{t\geq 0} = (B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and where τ is the corresponding ϵ , which ends up being a stopping time with respect to the filtration generated by $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$.

4.1. Local existence of a pushed mean curvature flow

Let $F_0 : M \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ be a smooth immersion of an *n*-dimensional manifold M such that $F_0(M) = C$. Let $r : t \in [0, \infty) \mapsto r(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ be a real continuous function. Consider the following equation, which is similar to (46) (i.e., $\partial G_t = F(t, M)$), taking into account the remark made before Lemma 13:

(58)
$$\begin{cases} \forall x \in M, \quad \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} F(t, x), \nu^F(t, x) \right\rangle = -\rho^b_{\Psi(F(t, M), r(t))}(\psi_{F(t, M), r(t)}(x)) \\ F(0, x) = F_0(x), \end{cases}$$

where $\nu^F(t, x)$ is the normal vector of the hypersurface F(t, M) at F(t, x). The goal of this section is to show existence in small time of solution of (58) with enough

regularity in space and time, under the hypotheses that r(0) is small enough and that r is $\alpha/2$ -Hölder regular, for some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$.

To get a small time existence of Equation (58) we will convert the problem in terms of a quasi-parabolic equation. We will study the linearisation of this equation, it turns to be linear and strictly parabolic for small time, with $C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}([0,T] \times M)$ coefficients when M is a $C^{2+\alpha}$ manifold. We will resort to an existing result on the existence and regularity of the solution of such a linear equation. Then we will use the inverse function theorem to get a solution of the original Equation (58).

Let $C = F_0(M)$, we will suppose that M is a $C^{3+\alpha}$ manifold and F_0 is a $C^{3+\alpha}$ diffeomorphism (in general we will denote by $\operatorname{reg}(M)$ the manifold regularity of M), so that C is also a $C^{3+\alpha}$ manifold. Small perturbations in time of C under (58) live in a small tubular neighborhood of C, and as in Mantegazza [17], a useful way to obtain a quasi-linear equation from (58) is to represent the solution as graphs over the fixed hypersurface C. The underlying idea is to consider again the parametrization $(r_-, r_+) \times C \ni (r, y) \mapsto \psi_{C,r}(y)$ of a tubular neighborhood of C, where (r_-, r_+) is a small neighborhood of 0. Let $x \in M$, and $\nu_0(x)$ be the unit outward normal of the hypersurface $C = F_0(M)$ at the point $F_0(x)$. Then one looks at the function f(t, .) : $M \to \mathbb{R}$, with enough regularity, whose image is included into (r_-, r_+) and which satisfies

$$F(t,x) = \psi_{C,f(t,x)}(F_0(x)) = F_0(x) + f(t,x)\nu_0(x),$$

for all $(t, x) \in [0, S_+) \times M$, with S_+ small enough, i.e., we represent F(t, M) as a graph over C, since $C = F_0(M)$ we have f(0, .) = 0 and the existence of S_+ is due to the regularity of f and the compactness of M.

Let x_i be a local chart of M, $g_{i,j}(0,x) = \langle \partial_i F_0, \partial_j F_0 \rangle$ the Riemannian metric at x in this chart, $g^{i,j}(0,x)$ its inverse, $h_{i,j}(0,x) \coloneqq \Pi(\partial_i F_0, \partial_j F_0) = \langle \nabla_{\partial_i F_0(x)} \nu_0(x), \partial_j F_0(x) \rangle$ where Π in the second fundamental form of C at $F_0(x)$ and define $S_{i,j}(0,x) = h_{i,k}g^{k,l}h_{lj}(0,x)$, where the convention that every repeated lower indices and upper indices is considered as a sum is enforced, as in the whole paper. We end up with the quasi-linear parabolic equation with respect to f in order that F(t, .) satisfies (58), after taking care that we have some dilation term r(t) in the equation. We have for all $i, j \in [n], t \in [0, S_+)$ and $x \in M$,

$$\begin{aligned} &(59)\\ &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}F(t,x) = \partial_t f(t,x)\nu_0(x)\\ &\partial_i\nu_0(x) = h_{i,k}g^{k,l}(0,x)\partial_lF_0(x)\\ &\partial_iF(t,x) = \partial_iF_0(x) + f(t,x)h_{i,k}g^{k,l}(0,x)\partial_lF_0(x) + \partial_if(t,x)\nu_0(x)\\ &g_{i,j}(t,x) = \langle \partial_iF(t,x), \partial_jF(t,x) \rangle\\ &= g_{i,j}(0,x) + 2f(t,x)h_{i,j}(0,x) + f^2(t,x)S_{i,j}(0,x) + \partial_if(t,x)\partial_jf(t,x)\\ &=: G_{i,j}(t,x,f,\nabla f) \end{aligned}$$

$$\nu(t,x) = \frac{\nu_0(x) - \partial_i f(t,x) g^{i,j}(t,x) \partial_j (F_0(x) + f(t,x)\nu_0(x))}{\|\nu_0(x) - \partial_i f(t,x) g^{i,j}(t,x) \partial_j (F_0(x) + f(t,x)\nu_0(x))\|}$$

$$\begin{split} h_{i,j}(t,x) &= -\langle \nu(t,x), \partial_i \partial_j F(t,x) \rangle \\ &= -\langle \nu(t,x), \partial_i \partial_j f(t,x) \nu_0(x) + \partial_i \partial_j F_0(x) + \partial_i f(t,x) \partial_j \nu_0(x) + \partial_j f(t,x) \partial_i \nu_0(x) \\ &+ f(t,x) \partial_i \partial_j \nu_0(x) \rangle \rightleftharpoons H_{i,j}(t,x,f,\nabla f,\nabla \nabla f), \end{split}$$

where the second equality is the Gauss-Weingarten formula, where $\nu(t,x)$ is the unit normal of the hypersurface F(t,M) at F(t,x), and where we used the Gram-Schmidt procedure in the computation of $\nu(t,x)$ (taking into account that $\left(v_i \coloneqq \sqrt{g}^{i,l}(t,x)\partial_l F(t,x)\right)_{i\in [\![n]\!]}$ is an orthonormal basis of $T_{F(t,x)}F(t,M)$). To simplify the notations, denote

$$G \coloneqq (G_{i,j}(t, x, f, \nabla f))_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]} \text{ and } H \coloneqq (H_{i,j}(t, x, f, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f))_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]},$$

which take values in $S^{n \times n}$, the space of symmetric matrices. Note that G does not depend on $\nabla \nabla f$ and that H has regularity $\operatorname{reg}(M) - 3$ in x (due to the term $\partial_i \partial_j \nu_0(x)$ in $H_{i,j}(t, x, f, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f)$).

To manage the right hand side of (58), define

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{M}_t &\coloneqq \Psi(F(t,M),r(t)) \\ \widetilde{F}(t,x) &\coloneqq \Psi_{F(t,M),r(t)}(F(t,x)) = F(t,x) + r(t)\nu(t,x) \end{split}$$

and denote all the quantities that depend on $\widetilde{M}_t = \widetilde{F}(t, M)$ by the same letter as for F(t, M) with a tilde. So by the same computation as above we have for all $i, j \in [n], t \in [0, S_+)$ and $x \in M$:

(60)

$$\begin{split} \partial_i \widetilde{F}(t,x) &= \partial_i F(t,x) + r(t) \partial_i \nu(t,x) \\ &= \partial_i F(t,x) + r(t) h_{i,k} g^{k,l}(t,x) \partial_l F(t,x) \\ \widetilde{g}_{i,j}(t,x) &= g_{i,j}(t,x) + 2r(t) h_{i,j}(t,x) + r(t)^2 S_{i,j}(t,x) \\ &= \left(G(\mathrm{Id} + 2r(t) G^{-1} H + r(t)^2 G^{-1} H G^{-1} H) \right)_{i,j} \\ &= \left(G\left(\mathrm{Id} + r(t) G^{-1} H \right)^2 \right)_{i,j} \\ &= \left(G\left(\mathrm{Id} + r(t) G^{-1} H \right)^2 \right)_{i,j} \\ \widetilde{\nu}(t,x) &= \nu(t,x) \\ \widetilde{h}_{i,j}(t,x) &= - \langle \nu(t,x), \partial_i \partial_j \widetilde{F}(t,x) \rangle \\ &= H_{i,j} - r(t) \langle \nu(t,x), \partial_i \partial_j \nu(t,x) \rangle \\ &= H_{i,j} + r(t) \langle \partial_i \nu(t,x), \partial_j \nu(t,x) \rangle \\ &= H_{i,j} + r(t) S_{i,j}(t,x) \\ &= (H + r(t) H G^{-1} H)_{i,j} \\ &= (H(\mathrm{Id} + r(t) G^{-1} H))_{i,j} \\ &=: \widetilde{H}_{i,j}(t,x, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f). \end{split}$$

As usual, denote $\widetilde{G} \coloneqq (\widetilde{G}_{i,j}(t, x, f, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f)_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]}, \widetilde{H} \coloneqq (\widetilde{H}_{i,j}(t, x, f, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f))_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]}$ and $(\widetilde{G}^{i,j}(t, x, f, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f))_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]} \coloneqq \widetilde{G}^{-1}$, all taking values in $S^{n \times n}$, so that we have for the mean curvature

$$\begin{aligned} -\rho_{\Psi(F(t,M),r(t))}(\psi_{F(t,M),r(t)}(x)) &= -\widetilde{G}^{i,j}\widetilde{H}_{i,j} = -\mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{G}^{-1}\widetilde{H}) \\ &= -\mathrm{tr}\left(\left(\mathrm{Id} + r(t)G^{-1}H\right)^{-2}G^{-1}H(\mathrm{Id} + r(t)G^{-1}H)\right) \\ &= -\mathrm{tr}\left(\left(\mathrm{Id} + r(t)G^{-1}H\right)^{-1}G^{-1}H\right) \\ &=: \hat{\Phi}_1(t,x,f,\nabla f,\nabla\nabla f) \end{aligned}$$

for some mapping $\hat{\Phi}_1$. Note that in the above formula only H depends on $\nabla \nabla f$. Furthermore consider the mapping $\hat{\Phi}_2$ such that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \nabla U - \beta, \nu_{\Psi(F(t,M),r(t))} \right\rangle_{\psi_{F(t,M),r(t)}(x)} &= \left\langle \nabla U(\widetilde{F}(t,x)) - \beta(\widetilde{F}(t,x)), \widetilde{\nu}(t,x) \right\rangle_{\widetilde{F}(t,x)} \\ &= \left\langle \nabla U(\widetilde{F}(t,x)) - \beta(\widetilde{F}(t,x)), \nu(t,x) \right\rangle_{\widetilde{F}(t,x)} \\ &=: \hat{\Phi}_2(t,x,f,\nabla f) \end{split}$$

remark the above expression does not depend on $\nabla \nabla f$. Define

(61)
$$\hat{\Phi}(t,x,f,\nabla f,\nabla\nabla f) \coloneqq \hat{\Phi}_1(t,x,f,\nabla f,\nabla\nabla f) + \hat{\Phi}_2(t,x,f,\nabla f)$$

so that Equation (58) becomes the following non-linear parabolic equation

(62)
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f(t,x) = \frac{1}{\langle \nu_0(x), \nu(t,x) \rangle} \hat{\Phi}(t,x,f,\nabla f,\nabla \nabla f) \eqqcolon \Phi(t,x,f,\nabla f,\nabla \nabla f), \\ f(0,x) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Note that at time t = 0 we have f(0, x) = 0, $\nabla f(0, x) = 0$, $\nabla \nabla f(0, x) = 0$.

The application Φ defined above will be considered with the following argument $\Phi(t, x, z, v, q)$, where $(t, x) \in M_T := [0, T] \times M$, $z \in \mathbb{R}$, $v \in T_x M$ and q is a symmetric matrix in $T_x^* M \odot T_x^* M$. Since r is continuous and r(0) = 0 (or small enough), for small T, Φ is smooth in three last variables in a neighborhood (0, 0, 0) and have at least the regularity $\operatorname{reg}(M) - 3$ in x, and the same Hölder regularity in time as r (i.e., it is enough to have G invertible and $||r(t)G^{-1}H|| < 1$). More precisely we have the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 19. – There exist T > 0 and $R_0 > 0$ such that

- the mapping

(63)

$$\Phi : [0,T] \times M \times B_{(0_{\mathbb{R}}, 0_{\mathbb{R}^n}, 0_{S^n \times n})}(R_0) \to \mathbb{R}$$
$$(t, x, z, v, q) \mapsto \Phi(t, x, z, v, q)$$

is smooth in the three last components,

- the mapping $t \mapsto \Phi(t, x, z, v, q)$ have the same Hölder regularity in time as r,
- the mapping $x \mapsto \Phi(t, x, z, v, q)$ have at least the regularity $\operatorname{reg}(M) 3$.

Proof. - Recall that

$$\begin{aligned} &(64)\\ &G(t,x,z,v) = G(0,x) + 2zH(0,x) + z^2S(0,x) + v \otimes v,\\ &\nu(t,x,z,v) = \frac{\nu_0(x) - v_i g^{i,j}(t,x,z,v) \left(\partial_j F_0(x) + zh_{j,k} g^{k,l}(0,x)\partial_l F_0(x) + v_j \nu_0(x)\right)}{\|\nu_0(x) - v_i g^{i,j}(t,x,z,v) \left(\partial_j F_0(x) + zh_{j,k} g^{k,l}(0,x)\partial_l F_0(x) + v_j \nu_0(x)\right)\|},\\ &H_{i,j}(t,x,z,v,q) = -\langle \nu(t,x,z,q), \nu_0(x) \rangle q_{i,j} - \langle \nu(t,x,z,q), \partial_i \partial_j F_0(x) \rangle \\ &\quad - \langle \nu(t,x,z,q), v_i \partial_j \nu_0(x) + v_j \partial_i \nu_0(x) + z \partial_i \partial_j \nu_0(x) \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

Since G(0, x) is invertible and M is compact, there exist $R_0, C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that for $|z|, ||v||, ||q|| \le R_0$,

$$G(t, x, z, v) \text{ is invertible for all } x \in M,$$
$$\|G^{-1}(t, x, z, v)\| \leq C_1,$$
$$\|\nu(t, x, z, v) - \nu_0(x)\| \leq \frac{1}{2},$$
$$\|H(t, x, z, v, q)\| \leq C_2.$$

Thus, since r is continuous and r(0) = 0 (or small enough), take T > 0 such that

(65)
$$T \coloneqq \sup \left\{ u \ge 0 : \sup_{s \in [0,u]} |r(s)| \le \frac{1}{2C_1 C_2} \right\}.$$

Then $||r(t)G^{-1}H|| \leq \frac{1}{2}$, and $(\mathrm{Id} + r(t)G^{-1}H)$ is invertible for all $(t, x, z, v, q) \in [0, T] \times M \times B_{(0_{\mathbb{R}}, 0_{\mathbb{R}^n}, 0_{\mathbb{R}^n}, 0_{\mathbb{R}^n})}(R_0)$, and the wanted conclusions easily follow. \Box

LEMMA 20. – Let T be given by (65). For all $(t, x, z, v, q) \in [0, T] \times M \times B_{(0_{\mathbb{R}}, 0_{\mathbb{R}^n}, 0_{\mathbb{S}^{n \times n}})}(R_0)$, we have:

$$\partial_{q_{i,j}} \Phi(t, x, z, v, q) = (G - 2r(t)H + r(t)^2 H G^{-1} H)_{i,j}^{-1}.$$

 $\textit{Furthermore, } \partial_q \Phi(t, x, z, v, q) \coloneqq (\partial_{q_{i,j}} \Phi(t, x, z, v, q))_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]} \textit{ is uniformly elliptic.}$

Proof. - Let us write H as

$$H(q) \coloneqq H(t, x, z, v, q)$$

$$=: -\langle \nu(t, x, z, v), \nu_0(x) \rangle q - H_1(t, x, z, v)$$

and recall that $\nu(t, x)$ and G do not depend on $\nabla \nabla f$, ie are constant in q. Consider $\psi(q) \coloneqq -G^{-1}H(q)$, so

$$\hat{\Phi}(t, x, z, v, q) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\operatorname{Id} - r(t)\psi(q)\right)^{-1}\psi(q)\right).$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

Let $M \in M^{n \times n}$, $X \in M^{n \times n}$ small and $u \in \mathbb{R}$ such that ||u(M + X)|| < 1 then (66)

$$(\mathrm{Id} - u(M+X))^{-1}(M+X) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+} (u(M+X))^n (M+X)$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+} \left(u^n M^{n+1} + u^n \sum_{m \in [\![0,n]\!]} M^m X M^{n-m} \right) + o(X)$$
$$= (\mathrm{Id} - uM)^{-1} M + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+, m \in [\![0,n]\!]} u^n \sum M^m X M^{n-m} + o(X),$$

so $d[(\mathrm{Id} - uM)^{-1}M](X) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+, m \in [[0,n]]} u^n \sum M^m X M^{n-m}$. Hence $d_q((\mathrm{Id} - u\psi(q))^{-1})(X) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_+, m \in [[0,n]]} u^n \psi(q)^m d\psi(q)(X)\psi(q)^{n-m}.$

Thus using the trace property

$$d_{q}\operatorname{tr}((\operatorname{Id} - u\psi(q))^{-1}\psi(q))(X)$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}\left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, m \in \llbracket 0, n \rrbracket} u^{n}\psi(q)^{m}d\psi(q)(X)\psi(q)^{n-m}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, m \in \llbracket 0, n \rrbracket} u^{n}\operatorname{tr}\left(\psi(q)^{m}d\psi(q)(X)\psi(q)^{n-m}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, m \in \llbracket 0, n \rrbracket} u^{n}\operatorname{tr}\left(\psi(q)^{n}d\psi(q)(X)\right)$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}\left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}} (n+1)u^{n}\psi(q)^{n}d\psi(q)(X)\right)$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}\left((\operatorname{Id} - u\psi(q))^{-2}d\psi(q)(X)\right).$$

Thus we have

(67)

$$d_q \hat{\Phi}(t, x, z, v, q)(X) = d_q \hat{\Phi}_1(t, x, z, v, q)(X)$$

= $\langle \nu(t, x, z, v), \nu_0(x) \rangle \operatorname{tr}((\operatorname{Id} - r(t)G^{-1}H(q))^{-2}G^{-1}X)$

so for any $i, j \in [[n]]$,

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{q_{i,j}} \hat{\Phi}(t,x,z,v,q) &= \langle \nu(t,x,z,v), \nu_0(x) \rangle ((\mathrm{Id} - r(t)G^{-1}H(q))^{-2}G^{-1}X)_{j,i} \\ &= \langle \nu(t,x,z,v), \nu_0(x) \rangle (G - 2r(t)H + r(t)^2HG^{-1}H)_{i,j}^{-1}, \end{aligned}$$

where $G + 2r(t)H - r(t)^2HG^{-1}H \in S^{n \times n}$. For the last point of the lemma, use Proposition 19, and the choice of T in its proof, to get

$$(G + 2r(t)H + r(t)^{2}HG^{-1}H) = G(\mathrm{Id} + r(t)G^{-1}H)^{2}$$

is invertible for all $t \in [0, T]$, and is continuous as function of t, so its spectrum remains positive as the spectrum at time 0, when r(0) = 0.

To show the existence result with sufficient regularity in time and space of Equation (58), we will show the existence result of the equivalent Equation (62) up to a parametrization as in Proposition 1.3.4 in [17]. We will intensively use the existence and regularity result of the linearised equation exposed in Lunardi [15]. Let us recall briefly this result that appears as Theorem 5.1.10 of Lunardi [15] and whose extension to the compact Riemannian manifold could be find e.g., as Theorem 2.3 of Huang [12] (with the bundle $E = M \times \mathbb{R}$).

For $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and T > 0 let

$$\begin{split} C^{\alpha,0}([0,T]\times M) \coloneqq \Big\{ f \in C([0,T]\times M) \, : \, f(\cdot,x) \in C^{\alpha}([0,T]), \, \forall x \in M, \\ \text{and such that } \|f\|_{C^{\alpha,0}} \coloneqq \sup_{x \in M} \{\|f(\cdot,x)\|_{C^{\alpha}([0,T])} < \infty \Big\}, \end{split}$$

where for any function $f : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$,

(68)
$$\|f\|_{C^{\alpha}([0,T])} \coloneqq \|f\|_{\infty,[0,T]} + \langle f \rangle_{C^{\alpha}([0,T])}$$

(69)
$$\langle f \rangle_{C^{\alpha}([0,T])} \coloneqq \sup \left\{ \frac{|f(t) - f(s)|}{|t - s|^{\alpha}}, s \neq t \in [0,T] \right\}.$$

Similarly, we define

$$\begin{split} C^{0,\alpha}([0,T]\times M) \coloneqq \Big\{ f \in C([0,T]\times M) \, : \, f(t,.) \in C^{\alpha}(M), \, \forall t \in [0,T], \\ \text{and such that } \|f\|_{C^{0,\alpha}} \coloneqq \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \{\|f(t,\cdot)\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)} < \infty \Big\}, \end{split}$$

where the norm $\|\cdot\|_{C^{\alpha}(M)}$ is defined as in (68) and (69), with [0,T] replaced by M.

The most important functional spaces for our analysis will be, still for given $0 < \alpha < 1$,

$$\begin{split} C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}([0,T]\times M) &\coloneqq C^{\alpha/2,0}([0,T]\times M) \cap C^{0,\alpha}([0,T]\times M) \\ C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}([0,T]\times M) &\coloneqq \{f \in C^{1,2}([0,T]\times M) :\\ \partial_t f, \partial_i \partial_j f \in C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}([0,T]\times M), \,\forall i,j \in [\![n]] \} \end{split}$$

respectively endowed with the norms

$$\|f\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}} \coloneqq \|f\|_{C^{\alpha/2,0}} + \|f\|_{C^{0,\alpha}}$$
$$\|f\|_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}} \coloneqq \|f\|_{\infty} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|\partial_{i}f\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_{t}f\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \|\partial_{i}\partial_{j}f\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}}.$$

As in Lemma 5.1.1 in Lunardi [15], there exists a uniform constant $C_{\alpha} > 0$ such that for all $f \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}$:

(70)
$$\|\partial_i f\|_{C^{(1+\alpha)/2,1+\alpha}} \le C_{\alpha} \|f\|_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}}.$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

Consider the following linear equation:

(71)

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t f(t,x) = \tilde{g}^{i,j}(t,x)\partial_i\partial_j f(t,x) + \sum_i \tilde{H}_{1,i}(t,x)\partial_i f(t,x) + \tilde{H}_0(t,x)f(t,x) + q(t,x) \\
f(0,x) = f_0(x),
\end{cases}$$

where $\widetilde{g} := (\widetilde{g}^{i,j})_{i,j \in [\![n]\!]}, \widetilde{H}_1 := (\widetilde{H}_{1,i})_{i \in [\![n]\!]}, \widetilde{H}_0$ and q (respectively f_0) are some given mappings on $M_T := [0,T] \times M$ (resp. M). As usual we will say that Equation (71) is uniformly elliptic in M_T when there exists an ellipticity coefficient $\lambda > 0$ such that for all $t \in [0,T]$ and all $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \mathbb{R}$, we have:

(72)
$$\widetilde{g}^{i,j}(t,x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \lambda \|\xi\|^2.$$

We recall the following theorem:

THEOREM 21 (Th 5.1.10 Lunardi [15], Th 2.5 Huong [12]). – Let \tilde{g} , \tilde{H}_1 , \tilde{H}_0 and q belong to $C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}([0,T] \times M)$, with $0 < \alpha < 1$ and let $f(0,.) \in C^{2+\alpha}$. Assume moreover that (71) is uniformly elliptic, i.e., (72) holds. Then there exists a quantity C > 0, depending on the norms of \tilde{g} , $\tilde{H}_{1,i}$ and \tilde{H}_0 , as well as on the ellipticity coefficient of \tilde{g} , such that Equation (71) has a unique solution $f \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}([0,T] \times M)$ and we have the Schauder estimate:

$$\|f\|_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}} \le C(\|f_0\|_{C^{2+\alpha}} + \|q\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}}).$$

Let us come back to the original equation i.e., (62), we will consider the following space $M_{t_0} = [0, t_0] \times M$ where the constant $0 < t_0 \leq T$ is to be chosen later, and let

$$\mathfrak{X} \coloneqq \{ u \in C^{1+\alpha/2, 2+\alpha}(M_{t_0}) : u(0, .) = 0, \\ \max(\|u\|_{\infty, M_{t_0}}, \|\nabla u\|_{\infty, M_{t_0}}, \|\nabla \nabla u\|_{\infty, M_{t_0}}) \le R_0 \}.$$

We define the map:

(73)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S} : \mathfrak{X} \to C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}(M_{t_0}) \\ u \mapsto \partial_t u - \Phi(t, x, u, \nabla u, \nabla \nabla u) \end{aligned}$$

This is clearly a continuously differentiable map.

We have the following theorem.

THEOREM 22. – Let M be a $C^{5+\alpha}$ manifold, for some fixed $\alpha \in (0,1)$. If $t \mapsto r(t)$ is $\alpha/2$ -Hölder and r(0) = 0 then there exists $t_0 > 0$ such that Equation (62) has a unique solution defined in M_{t_0} with regularity $C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(M_{t_0})$.

Proof. – The above theorem is a consequence of inverse function theorem around a specific function. Let $u_0(t,x) \coloneqq \int_0^t \Phi(s,x,0,0,0) \, ds$ and note that $u_0 \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}$ by the assumption on the regularity of M. The Fréchet derivative of S at u_0 it is given by

$$d\mathcal{S}(u_0)u = \partial_t u - \big(\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial q_{i,j}}\partial_{i,j}u + \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial v_i}\partial_i u + \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial z}u\big),$$

where the coefficients are all evaluated at u_0 , for instance, $\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial q_{i,j}}$ stands for $\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial q_{i,j}}(t, x, u_0, \nabla u_0, \nabla \nabla u_0)$. By definition of u_0 , there exists $0 < t_1 \leq T$ such that for all $0 \leq t \leq t_1$, $(u_0, \nabla u_0, \nabla \nabla u_0)(t, x) \in B_{(0_{\mathbb{R}}, 0_{\mathbb{R}^n}, 0_{S^n \times n})}(R_0/2)$, so $u_0 \in \mathfrak{X}$. Lemma 20 yields $\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial q}(t, x, u_0, \nabla u_0, \nabla \nabla u_0)$ is strongly elliptic in M_{t_1} and is in $C^{\alpha/2, \alpha}(M_{t_1})$. Using Theorem 21, for the linearisation of (62), we get $dS(u_0)$ is locally invertible, and its inverse is continuous. By the inverse function theorem there exist $\epsilon > 0, \delta_1 > 0$ such that for all $0 \leq t \leq t_1$ and for all g satisfying $||g - S(u_0)||_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}(M_t)} < \epsilon$, there exists an unique $f \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(M_t)$ satisfying $||f - u_0||_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(M_t)} < \delta_1$ such that S(f) = g. For f such that $||f - u_0||_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(M_t)} < \delta_1$, since $f(0, x) = u_0(0, x) = 0$ and using (70), we get

(74)

$$\|f - u_0\|_{\infty, M_t} + \|\nabla (f - u_0)\|_{\infty, M_t} + \|\nabla \nabla (f - u_0)\|_{\infty, M_t} \le (t + C_\alpha t^{(\alpha + 1)/2} + t^{\alpha/2})\delta_1$$

where C_{α} is the constant appearing in (70). So for t sufficiently small such that $(t + C_{\alpha}t^{(\alpha+1)/2} + t^{\alpha/2})\delta_1 \leq R_0/2$, we deduce $f \in \mathfrak{X}$ for $0 < t_0 \leq t$.

Let us show that with respect to the $C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}(M_t)$ norm, $\mathcal{S}(u_0)$ tends to 0 as t goes to 0_+ . We will first show that $\|\mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,x) - \mathcal{S}(u_0)(s,x)\| \leq C_1(\delta)|t-s|^{\alpha/2}$, for all $s,t \in [0,\delta]$ and $x \in M$, and with $C_1(\delta)$ tending to 0 as δ tends to 0.

Let $\sigma \in [0,1]$ and

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) = \sigma(u_0(t,x), \nabla u_0(t,x), \nabla \nabla u_0(t,x)),$$

by definition of u_0 , there exists a constant $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) - \zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)| &\leq C_1 |t-s|, \\ |\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) - \zeta_{\sigma}(t,y)| &\leq C_1 |x-y|^{\alpha}. \end{aligned}$$

Let $\vec{u_0}(t,x) \coloneqq (u_0(t,x), \nabla u_0(t,x), \nabla \nabla u_0(t,x))$, we have:

$$S(u_0)(t,x) = \Phi(t,x,0,0,0) - \Phi(t,x,u_0(t,x),\nabla u_0(t,x),\nabla \nabla u_0(t,x))$$
$$= -\int_0^1 d_3 \Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x))(\vec{u_0}(t,x)) \, d\sigma,$$

hence

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}(u_{0})(t,x) &- \mathcal{S}(u_{0})(s,x)| \\ &= \Big| \int_{0}^{1} \left(d_{3} \Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x))(\vec{u_{0}}(t,x)) - d_{3} \Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x))(\vec{u_{0}}(s,x)) \right) d\sigma \Big| \\ &= \Big| \int_{0}^{1} \left(d_{3} \Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3} \Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) \right) (\vec{u_{0}}(t,x)) d\sigma \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} \left(d_{3} \Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) \right) (\vec{u_{0}}(t,x) - \vec{u_{0}}(s,x)) d\sigma \Big| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} | \left(d_{3} \Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3} \Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) \right) (\vec{u_{0}}(t,x))| d\sigma \end{split}$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

$$+ \int_0^1 |(d_3\Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)))(\vec{u_0}(t,x) - \vec{u_0}(s,x))| d\sigma$$

We have, since M is compact and Φ is regular in the three last variables:

$$\begin{aligned} &|d_{3}\Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3}\Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x))| \\ &\leq |d_{3}\Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3}\Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x))| + |d_{3}\Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) - d_{3}\Phi(s,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x))| \\ &\leq C_{1}|\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) - \zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)| + C_{2}|t-s|^{\alpha/2} \\ &\leq (C_{1}\delta^{1-\alpha/2} + C_{2})|t-s|^{\alpha/2}, \end{aligned}$$

where C is a constant whose value can change from one line to the other (also below). Also we have $|\vec{u_0}(t,x)| \leq Ct \leq C\delta$. On the other hand we have:

$$|d_3\Phi(s, x, \zeta_{\sigma}(s, x)| \le C$$

and

$$|\vec{u_0}(t,x) - \vec{u_0}(s,x)| \le C|t-s|.$$

Putting all things together we get:

$$|\mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,x) - \mathcal{S}(u_0)(s,x)| \leq C(\delta) |t-s|^{\alpha/2}$$

with $C(\delta)$ tending to 0 as δ tends to 0.

Let us show that:

$$|\mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,x) - \mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,y)| \le C(\delta)|x - y|^{\alpha}$$

with $C(\delta)$ tending to 0 as δ tends to 0. With the same computation as above, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,x) - \mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,y)| &\leq \int_0^1 | \left(d_3 \Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_3 \Phi(t,y,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,y)) \right) (\vec{u_0}(t,x)) | \, d\sigma \\ &+ \int_0^1 | \left(d_3 \Phi(t,y,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,y)) \right) (\vec{u_0}(t,x) - \vec{u_0}(t,y)) | \, d\sigma \end{aligned}$$

We also have, since M is compact:

$$\begin{aligned} &|d_{3}\Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3}\Phi(t,y,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,y))| \\ &\leq |d_{3}\Phi(t,x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3}\Phi(t,y,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x))| + |d_{3}\Phi(t,y,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_{3}\Phi(t,y,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,y))| \\ &\leq C_{2}|x-y|^{\alpha} + C_{1}|\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) - \zeta_{\sigma}(t,y)| \\ &\leq (C_{1}+C_{2})|x-y|^{\alpha}, \end{aligned}$$

as well as

$$\begin{aligned} |\vec{u_0}(t,x)| &\leq C\delta\\ |d_3\Phi(t,y,\zeta_\sigma(t,y))| &\leq C. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover,

$$|u_0(t,x) - u_0(t,y)| \le \int_0^t |\Phi(s,x,0,0,0) - \Phi(s,y,0,0,0)| \, ds \le C\delta |x-y|^{\alpha}$$

and in the same way, using the regularity of $\Phi(s, x, 0, 0, 0)$ in terms of x, we get:

$$|\vec{u_0}(t,x) - \vec{u_0}(t,y)| \le C\delta |x-y|^{\alpha}.$$

We deduce that:

$$|\mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,x) - \mathcal{S}(u_0)(t,y)| \le C(\delta)|x - y|^{\alpha}.$$

Hence $\|\mathcal{S}(u_0)\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}(M_t)}$ tends to 0 as t tends to 0.

So there exist $0 < t_2$ such that $\|\mathcal{S}(u_0)\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}(M_{t_2})} < \epsilon$. Let $t_0 = t_1 \wedge t_2$, we get by inverse function theorem that $\mathcal{S}f = 0$ has a solution $f \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(M_{t_0})$, this is actually a solution of Equation (62).

For the uniqueness, let f be the solution of (62) constructed above on M_{t_0} . Consider another solution g of (62) on M_{t_0} , in particular g starts with the same initial condition $g_0 = f_0 = 0$. Since $g \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}$, let $t_3 \in (0, t_0]$ be the maximum value of t such that

$$\|g\|_{\infty, M_t}, \|\nabla g\|_{\infty, M_t}, \|\nabla \nabla g\|_{\infty, M_t} \le R_0.$$

By construction of f, we have

$$\|f\|_{\infty,M_t}, \, \|\nabla f\|_{\infty,M_t}, \, \|\nabla \nabla f\|_{\infty,M_t} \le R_0$$

for any $t \in [0, t_0]$ and in particular for $t \in [0, t_3]$.

Let u = f - g, then u satisfies the following linear equation:

$$\begin{split} \partial_t u &= \Phi(t, x, f, \nabla f, \nabla \nabla f) - \Phi(t, x, g, \nabla g, \nabla \nabla g) \\ &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \sigma} \Phi(t, x, \sigma \vec{f} + (1 - \sigma) \vec{g}) \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial q_{ij}}(t, x, \sigma \vec{f} + (1 - \sigma) \vec{g}) \partial_{i,j}(f - g) \, d\sigma + \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial v_i}(t, x, \sigma \vec{f} + (1 - \sigma) \vec{g}) \partial_i(f - g) \, d\sigma \\ &+ \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial z}(t, x, \sigma \vec{f} + (1 - \sigma) \vec{g})(f - g) \, d\sigma \\ &= A_{ij}(t, x) u_{ij} + B_i(t, x) u_i + C(t, x) u, \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} A_{ij}(t,x) &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial q_{ij}}(t,x,\sigma \vec{f} + (1-\sigma)\vec{g}) \, d\sigma, \\ B_i(t,x) &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial v_i}(t,x,\sigma \vec{f} + (1-\sigma)\vec{g}) \, d\sigma, \\ C(t,x) &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial z}(t,x,\sigma \vec{f} + (1-\sigma)\vec{g}) \, d\sigma. \end{split}$$

According to Lemma 20, A_{ij} is uniformly elliptic. Let $\lambda < -\|C\|_{M_{t_3}}$, and $W \coloneqq e^{\lambda t}u$ then we have:

$$\partial_t W = A_{i,j}(t,x)\partial_i\partial_j W + B_i(t,x)W_i + (C+\lambda)W.$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

The proof of uniqueness will be done by contradiction, suppose $f \neq g$ then there exists for example $\beta > 0$ (the negative possibility will be done in a similar way) and $(t,x) \in [0,t_3] \times M$ such that $W(t,x) = \beta$. Consider the first time t_0 such that there exist $x_0 \in M$ such that $W(t_0,x_0) = \beta$, clearly $t_0 > 0$. By definition, $W(t_0,x_0) = \max\{W(t,x), (t,x) \in [0,t_0] \times M\}$, and

$$\partial_t W(t_0, x_0) \ge 0,$$

$$\operatorname{Hess}(W)(t_0, x_0) \le 0,$$

$$\nabla W(t_0, x_0) = 0.$$

We have at (t_0, x_0)

 $0 \leq \partial_t W = A_{ij}(t_0, x_0) \partial_i \partial_j W + (C + \lambda)\beta < A_{ij}(t_0, x) \partial_i \partial_j W \leq 0,$

where the last inequality come from $A_{ij}(t_0, x_0)\partial_i\partial_j W = \operatorname{tr}(A\operatorname{Hess}W) \leq 0$, and this is a contradiction, so $W \leq 0$. We do the same thing to get $W \geq 0$ and so f = g for all $t \in [0, t_3]$. It follows in fact that $t_3 = t_0$.

REMARK 23. – From the above proof, we see there exist two quantities $\eta_1, \eta_2 > 0$, only depending on some bounds on the geometry of C, such that t_0 can be expressed as

$$t_0 \coloneqq \eta_1 \wedge \inf\{s \ge 0 : |r(s)| \ge \eta_2\}.$$

REMARK 24. – Using the $\alpha/2$ -Hölder regularity of the Brownian motion, for all $0 < \alpha < 1$, we get the existence and the regularity of the equation, similar to (44), corresponding to the stochastic modified mean curvature flow:

(75)
$$\begin{cases} D_0 = D, \\ \forall t \in [0, \tau), \forall x \in C_t, \quad dx = \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t - \rho_{C_t}^b(x)dt\right)\nu_{C_t}(x), \end{cases}$$

where $C_t \coloneqq \partial D_t$. The solution of this equation is obtained as above, first we solve Equation (58) and we obtain G_t and then $D_t \coloneqq \Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)$.

REMARK 25. – Note that in the above proof we only need that r(0) is small enough, such that $||r(0)G^{-1}H(0,\cdot)|| < 1$, so starting the same procedure at time t_0 , we have a notion of maximal solution of Equation (62). A slight modification of the proof of Theorem 22 also yields existence and uniqueness of solution of (62) for f_0 small enough, as well as all its derivatives up to order 2.

Using the strong maximum principle instead of the maximum principle in the proof of Theorem 22, we have the following corollary:

COROLLARY 26. – Let $U, \hat{U} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $C = \partial U$, $\hat{C} = \partial \hat{U}$. Suppose that

$$\hat{U} \subset U, \quad \hat{C} \neq C$$

and that \hat{C} belongs to an open tubular neighborhood of C. Let $(\partial G_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_C)}$ (resp. $(\partial \hat{G}_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_C)}$) be a solution of (58) with $r(t) = \sqrt{2}B_t$ started at C (resp. \hat{C}), then

there exist a positive stopping time $\tau_{C,\hat{C}} > 0$ (a priori smaller than $\tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}}$ because we want ∂G_t to remain in an open tubular neighborhood of $\partial \hat{G}_t$), such that

 $\forall t \in (0, \tau_{C,\hat{C}}), \quad \hat{G}_t \subset G_t, \ and \quad \partial G_t \cap \partial \hat{G}_t = \emptyset.$

The above corollary shows that even if the initial hypersurfaces are equal in a large portion, it is sufficient they are different somewhere for the flow to detach them instantaneously, at least when one of them lives in a tubular neighborhood of the other. When the latter condition is not fulfilled, we have to impose that the initial boundaries are disjoint:

COROLLARY 27. – Let $U, \hat{U} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $C^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, and $C = \partial U, \hat{C} = \partial \hat{U}$. Suppose that

$$\hat{U} \subset U, \quad \hat{C} \cap C = \emptyset.$$

Let $(\partial G_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_C)}$ (resp. $(\partial \hat{G}_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_{\hat{C}})}$) be a solution of (58) with $r(t) = \sqrt{2}B_t$ started at C (resp. \hat{C}), then for a positive stopping time $\tau_{C,\hat{C}} > 0$, we have

 $\forall t \in [0, \tau_{C,\hat{C}}), \quad \hat{G}_t \subset G_t, \text{ and } \quad \partial G_t \cap \partial \hat{G}_t = \emptyset.$

Proof. – Since *C* and \hat{C} are compact, and $\hat{C} \cap C = \emptyset$ we have $\delta = d(C, \hat{C}) > 0$. Using the continuity of the solution of (58), we get the existence of $0 < T_C < \tau_C$ (resp. $0 < T_{\hat{C}} < \tau_{\hat{C}}$) such that for all $t \in [0, T_C]$, we have $d(C, \partial G_t) \leq \frac{\delta}{4}$ (resp. for all $t \leq T_{\hat{C}}$) we have $d(\hat{C}, \partial \hat{G}_t) \leq \frac{\delta}{4}$). Take $\tau_{C,\hat{C}} = T_C \wedge T_{\hat{C}}$. □

Consider the following stochastic mean curvature evolution starting from $C_0 = \partial D_0$

(76)
$$dx = \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t - \rho_{C_t}(x)dt\right)\nu_{C_t}(x).$$

According to the Doss and Sussman approach, a solution of (76) is given by $(\Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, where $(\partial G_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a solution of (58) with $r(t) = \sqrt{2}B_t$. Equation (76) is a particular case of Equation (75) with b = 0.

COROLLARY 28. – Let $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $C = \partial D$, $\hat{C} = \partial \hat{D}$. Suppose that

$$\hat{D} \subset D, \quad \hat{C} \cap C = \emptyset.$$

Let $(\partial D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_C)}$ (resp. $(\partial \hat{D}_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_{\hat{C}})}$) be a solution of (76) started at C (resp. \hat{C}) then for a positive stopping time $\tau_{C,\hat{C}} > 0$ we have:

 $\forall t \in [0, \tau_C \hat{c}), \quad \hat{D}_t \subset D_t \text{ and } \quad \partial D_t \cap \partial \hat{D}_t = \emptyset.$

Proof. – Use Corollary 27 we get there exist $\tau_{C,\hat{C}} > 0$ such that

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau_{C\hat{C}}), \quad \partial G_t \cap \partial \hat{G}_t = \emptyset$$

We have $\partial D_t = \Psi(\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)$ for $t \in [0, \tau_C)$ (resp. $\partial \hat{D}_t = \Psi(\partial \hat{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)$ for $t \in [0, \tau_{\hat{C}})$). For $t \in [0, \tau_{\hat{C}\hat{C}})$, $\Psi(., \sqrt{2}B_t)$ is a diffeomorphism between ∂G_t and

its image ∂D_t (resp. between $\partial \hat{G}_t$ and its image $\partial \hat{D}_t$). The proof of the corollary will be done by contradiction, suppose that there exists a time $0 < t < \tau_{C,\hat{C}}$ such that $\Psi(\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t) \cap \Psi(\partial \hat{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t) \neq \emptyset$. Then there exist $x \in G_t$ and $\hat{x} \in \hat{G}_t$ such that $\Psi_{\partial G_t}(x, \sqrt{2}B_t) = \Psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\hat{x}, \sqrt{2}B_t)$. We have

$$d_{\partial G_t}(\Psi_{\partial G_t}(x,\sqrt{2}B_t)) = \sqrt{2}|B_t| = d_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\Psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\hat{x},\sqrt{2}B_t)),$$

where $d_{\partial G_t}(\cdot)$ stands for the distance to ∂G_t . If $B_t > 0$, then $\Psi_{\partial G_t}(x, \sqrt{2}B_t) \in G_t^c$ so the geodesic curve $r \mapsto \Psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\hat{x}, r)$ has to cross ∂G_t at time $r_0 \in (0, \sqrt{2}B_t]$ (since $\partial G_t \cap \partial \hat{G}_t = \emptyset$ and $\hat{G}_t \subset G_t$). Hence

$$\sqrt{2}|B_t| = d_{\partial G_t}(\Psi_{\partial G_t}(x,\sqrt{2}B_t)) \leq d(\Psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\hat{x},r_0),\Psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\hat{x},\sqrt{2}B_t)) \leq \sqrt{2}|B_t| - r_0,$$

so we get a contradiction.

The case $B_t = 0$ is clear.

If $B_t < 0$ namely $\Psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\hat{x}, \sqrt{2}B_t) \in \text{Int}(\hat{G}_t)$, the interior of \hat{G}_t , and the geodesic $\Psi_{\partial G_t}(x, -r)$ have to cross $\partial \hat{G}_t$ at time $r_0 \in (0, \sqrt{2}|B_t|]$, so

 $\sqrt{2}|B_t| = d_{\partial \hat{G}_t}(\Psi(\hat{x}, \sqrt{2}B_t)) \leq d(\Psi_{\partial G_t}(x, -r_0), \Psi_{\partial G_t}(x, \sqrt{2}B_t)) \leq \sqrt{2}|B_t| - r_0$ and we get a contradiction.

We want to control the distance between to different hypersurface evolving by the stochastic mean curvature by quantities that only depend on the ambient curvature.

LEMMA 29. – Let $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with C^2 boundaries in a d-dimensional manifold V, $C = \partial D, \hat{C} = \partial \hat{D}, \hat{D} \subset D$ and $\hat{C} \cap C = \emptyset$. Suppose that there exists $k \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $Ric \geq (d-1)kg$, then at points $(p,q) \in C \times \hat{C}$ such that $d(p,q) = d(C,\hat{C})$ (or local minimizers of the distance function restricted to $C \times \hat{C}$) we have:

(i) : if k > 0, and p is not conjugate to q then

$$2(d-1)\sqrt{k}\frac{\left(1-\cos(\sqrt{k}d(p,q))\right)}{\sin(\sqrt{k}d(p,q))} \le \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p),$$

(ii) : if $k \leq 0$, and p is not conjugate to q then

$$2(d-1)\sqrt{|k|}\frac{\left(1-\cosh(\sqrt{|k|}d(p,q))\right)}{\sinh(\sqrt{|k|}d(p,q))} \le \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p),$$

(iii) : in particular for all k, if p is not conjugate to q then we have:

$$(d-1)kd(p,q) \le \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_C(p),$$

(iv) : if $V = \mathbb{R}^d$ then

$$0 \le \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_C(p).$$

Proof. – Let $(p,q) \in C \times \hat{C}$ such that $d(p,q) = d(C,\hat{C})$. Using the first variation formula, we get there exists an unit speed geodesic γ in V such that $\gamma(0) = q$, $\gamma(d(p,q)) = p, \dot{\gamma}(0)$ is orthogonal to $T_q\hat{C}$ and $\dot{\gamma}(d(p,q))$ is orthogonal to T_pC . Let $(e_i)_{i\in[\![1,d-1]\!]}$ be a orthonormal basis of $T_q\hat{C}$. Let $\gamma_{1,i}(t)$ be a geodesic in \hat{C} such that $\gamma_{1,i}(0) = q$ and $\dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(0) = e_i$. Let $\gamma_{2,i}(t)$ be a geodesic in C such that $\gamma_{2,i}(0) = p$ and $\dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(0) = //_{d(p,q)}e_i$, where // is the parallel transport along the geodesic γ . We have $0 = \langle e_i, \dot{\gamma}(0) \rangle = \langle //_{d(p,q)}e_i, \dot{\gamma}(d(p,q)) \rangle$. Since $(p,q) \in C \times \hat{C}$ is a local minimizer of the distance function restricted to $C \times \hat{C}$, we have that

$$0 \le \left. \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \right|_{t=0} d(\gamma_{1,i}(t), \gamma_{2,i}(t)).$$

Let Y_i be the Jacobi field along γ obtained by the variation of geodesic connecting $\gamma_{1,i}(t)$ to $\gamma_{2,i}(t)$, we have: $Y_i(0) = e_i$, $Y_i(d(p,q)) = //_{d(p,q)}e_i$. Using second variation formula, the fact that $\dot{\gamma}(0)$ is the exterior normal vector of \hat{C} at q and $\dot{\gamma}(d(p,q))$ is the exterior normal vector of C at p we get:

$$0 \leq \frac{d^2}{d^2 t} d(\gamma_{1,i}(t), \gamma_{2,i}(t))|_{t=0}$$

$$= \left[\langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{2,i}(t), \dot{\gamma}(d(p,q)) \rangle - \langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(t), \dot{\gamma}(0) \rangle \right] + I(Y_i, Y_i)$$

$$= \left[\langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{2,i}(t), \nu_C(p) \rangle - \langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(t), \nu_{\hat{C}}(q) \rangle \right] + I(Y_i, Y_i)$$

$$= \left[- \langle \dot{\gamma}_{2,i}(0), \nabla_{\dot{\gamma}_{2,i}(0)} \nu_C \rangle + \langle \dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(0), \nabla_{\dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(0)} \nu_{\hat{C}} \rangle \right] + I(Y_i, Y_i)$$

$$= -\Pi_C (//d(p,q)e_i, //d(p,q)e_i) + \Pi_{\hat{C}}(e_i, e_i) + I(Y_i, Y_i),$$
(77)

where $I(Y_i, Y_i)$ is the index of the Jacobi field Y_i along γ , and Π_C (resp. $\Pi_{\hat{C}}$) is the second fundamental form of C (resp. \hat{C}). Let $X_i(s) = f(s)//_s e_i$, be a vector field along γ such that f(0) = f(d(p,q)) = 1 and f'' = -kf, using the Index lemma since p and q are not conjugate along γ , we have for all $i \in [1, d-1]$

$$I(Y_i, Y_i) \le I(X_i, X_i).$$

Taking the sum in (77) we get:

$$0 \leq \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \left(-\prod_{C} (//_{d(p,q)} e_{i}, //_{d(p,q)} e_{i}) + \prod_{\hat{C}} (e_{i}, e_{i}) + I(Y_{i}, Y_{i}) \right)$$

$$\leq \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p) + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} I(X_{i}, X_{i})$$

$$= \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p) + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \int_{0}^{d(p,q)} \|\nabla_{s} X_{i}\|^{2} - \langle R(X_{i}, \dot{\gamma}) X_{i}, \dot{\gamma} \rangle ds$$

$$= \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p) + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} \int_{0}^{d(p,q)} |f'|^{2} - f^{2} \langle R(//_{s} e_{i}, \dot{\gamma}) //_{s} e_{i}, \dot{\gamma} \rangle ds$$

$$\begin{split} &= \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p) + \int_{0}^{d(p,q)} (d-1) |f'|^{2} - f^{2} Ric(\dot{\gamma},\dot{\gamma}) \, ds \\ &\leq \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p) + (d-1) \int_{0}^{d(p,q)} (f')^{2} - f^{2}k \, ds \\ &= \rho_{\hat{C}}(q) - \rho_{C}(p) + (d-1) (f'(d(p,q)) - f'(0)). \end{split}$$

After computations of f, we get the result. For the particular case, we could take $X_i = //_s e_i$ in the above computation and directly get the result.

PROPOSITION 30. – Let $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with C^1 boundaries in a d-dimensional manifold V, and $C = \partial D, \hat{C} = \partial \hat{D}$. Suppose that

$$\hat{D} \subset D.$$

For $r \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\Psi_C(.,r)$ (resp. $\Psi_{\hat{C}}(.,r)$) is diffeomorphism onto its image $\Psi_C(C,r)$ (resp. $\Psi_{\hat{C}}(\hat{C},r)$) then

$$d(\Psi(C,r),\Psi(\hat{C},r)) = d(C,\hat{C}).$$

Proof. – Let $(p,q) \in C \times \hat{C}$ such that

$$d(p,q) = d(C, \tilde{C}).$$

If $d(C, \hat{C}) > 0$, using Gauss Lemma, and the fact that $\hat{D} \subset D$, we get the exterior normal vector of C at p is the parallel transport, along the geodesic γ that connects q to p, of the exterior normal vector of \hat{C} at q. Hence by definition of Ψ we have $d(\Psi_C(p, r), \Psi_{\hat{C}}(q, r)) = d(p, q)$.

We get

$$d(\Psi(C,r),\Psi(\hat{C},r)) \leq d(\Psi_C(p,r),\Psi_{\hat{C}}(q,r)) = d(p,q) = d(C,\hat{C}).$$

So $d(\Psi(C, r), \Psi(\hat{C}, r)) \leq d(C, \hat{C}).$

In a similar way let $(p,q) \in \Psi(C,r) \times \Psi(\hat{C},r)$ such that

$$d(p,q) = d(\Psi(C,r), \Psi(\hat{C},r)),$$

which we have since $\Psi_C(., r)$ (resp. $\Psi_{\hat{C}}(., r)$) is a diffeomorphism onto their respective image,

$$d(C, \hat{C}) \leq d(\Psi_{\Psi(C, r)}(p, -r), \Psi_{\Psi(\hat{C}, r)}(q, -r)) = d(p, q) = d(\Psi(C, r), \Psi(\hat{C}, r)).$$

Putting all things together we get

$$d(\Psi(C,r),\Psi(\hat{C},r)) = d(C,\hat{C}).$$

If $d(p,q) = d(C, \hat{C}) = 0$, since $\hat{D} \subset D$ then $\nu_{\hat{C}}(q) = \nu_C(p)$ and the result follows as above.

REMARK 31. – The above proposition also gives an alternative proof of Corollary 28.

Let

$$\iota_V \coloneqq \inf_{(p,v) \in V \times T_p V : \, \|v\| = 1} \inf\{t > 0, \gamma_v(t) \text{ is conjugate to } \gamma_v(0) = p\}$$

where γ_v is a geodesic starting at $\gamma_v(0) = p$ and $\dot{\gamma}_v(0) = v$.

LEMMA 32. – Let $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $C = \partial D, \hat{C} = \partial \hat{D}$. Suppose that there exists $k \leq 0$ such that $Ric \geq (d-1)kg$, $\iota_V = \infty$ (for example if V have non-positive sectional curvature) and

$$\hat{D} \subset D, \quad \hat{C} \cap C = \emptyset.$$

Let $(\partial D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_C)}$ (resp. $(\partial \hat{D}_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_{\hat{C}})}$) be a solution of (76) started at C (resp. \hat{C}) then:

- (i): The mapping $t \mapsto d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)$ is locally Lipschitz in $[0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.
- (ii) : For all $t \in [0, \tau_C \land \tau_{\hat{C}})$

$$d(C, \hat{C})e^{k(d-1)t} \le d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t).$$

- (iii): We have $D_t \cap \hat{D}_t = \emptyset$ for all $t \in [0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.
- (iv): In particular, if $V = \mathbb{R}^d$ then $t \mapsto d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)$ is non decreasing in $[0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.

Proof. - We have

$$\begin{aligned} D_t &= \Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t), \text{ for } t < \tau_C \\ \hat{D}_t &= \Psi(\hat{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t), \text{ for } t < \tau_{\hat{C}}, \end{aligned}$$

where ∂G_t and $\partial \hat{G}_t$ are solutions of (58) with $r(t) = \sqrt{2}B_t$ and $\partial G_0 = C$ respectively $\partial \hat{G}_0 = \hat{C}$. Let

$$\tau \coloneqq \inf\{t \ge \tau_{C,\hat{C}}, \text{ s.t. } \partial D_t \cap \partial D_t \neq \emptyset\} \land \tau_C \land \tau_{\hat{C}}.$$

Using Proposition 30 and Corollary 28, we have

 $\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)) = d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t).$

Recall that $G_t = \{F_0(x) + f_C(t,x)\nu_0^C(x), x \in M\}$ with $F_0(M) = C$, and $f_C(t,x)$ the solution of (62). We have the same construction for \hat{G} . We recall that $f_C \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(M_{\tau_C})$ and $f_{\hat{C}} \in C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}(\hat{M}_{\tau_{\hat{C}}})$. So by definition, for $0 \leq t < \tau$,

$$d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t) = \inf_{(x,y) \in M \times \hat{M}} d(F_C(t, x), F_{\hat{C}}(t, y)),$$

where $F_C(t,x) = F_0(x) + f_C(t,x)\nu_0^C(x)$ and $F_{\hat{C}}(t,y) = \hat{F}_0(y) + f_{\hat{C}}(t,y)\nu_0^{\hat{C}}(y)$. Also $t \mapsto F_C(t,x)$ and $t \mapsto F_{\hat{C}}(t,y)$ are uniformly Lipschitz on any compact $[0,T] \subset [0,\tau)$. Hence $t \mapsto d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t) = d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)$) is Lipschitz on [0,T], hence almost everywhere differentiable on [0,T] and absolutely continuous. At differentiability time $t \in [0,T]$ we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t) \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \Big(\inf_{(x_t, y_t) \in \partial G_t \times \partial \hat{G}_t : d(x_t, y_t) = d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t)} d(x_t, y_t) \Big) \\ &= \inf_{(x_t, y_t) \in \partial G_t \times \partial \hat{G}_t : d(x_t, y_t) = d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t)} \frac{d}{dt} d(x_t, y_t) \\ &= \inf_{(x_t, y_t) \in \partial G_t \times \partial \hat{G}_t : d(x_t, y_t) = d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t)} \Big\langle \frac{d}{dt} x_t, \nu^{\partial G_t} (x_t) \Big\rangle - \Big\langle \frac{d}{dt} y_t, \nu^{\partial \hat{G}_t} (y_t) \Big\rangle \\ &= \inf_{(x_t, y_t) \in \partial G_t \times \partial \hat{G}_t : d(x_t, y_t) = d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t)} - \rho_{\Psi(\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)} (\psi_{\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t} (x_t)) \\ &+ \rho_{\Psi(\partial \hat{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)} (\psi_{\partial \hat{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t} (y_t)) \\ &= \inf_{(x_t, y_t) \in \partial D_t \times \partial \hat{D}_t : d(x_t, y_t) = d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)} - \rho_{\partial D_t} (x_t) + \rho_{\partial \hat{D}_t} (y_t) \\ &\geq (d-1) k d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t), \end{split}$$

where in the second equality we use the usual Lagrange Theorem, in the third one we use the first variation formula, and in the last one we use Lemma 29. Since $t \mapsto d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)$ is absolutely continuous we can integrate the above inequality. Hence, using Gronwall's lemma, we get the conclusions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of the lemma, at least on $[0, \tau)$. Since $d(C, \hat{C}) > 0$, we easily deduce that $\tau = \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}}$.

REMARK 33. – If the $\hat{D} \subset D^c$ and $C \cap \hat{C} = \emptyset$ for all reasonable r, we have $d(\Psi_C(p,r), \Psi_{\hat{C}}(q,r)) = d(p,q) - 2r$ and we could get a similar kind of result.

THEOREM 34. – Let $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $C = \partial D$, $\hat{C} = \partial \hat{D}$. Suppose that there exists $k \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $Ric \geq (d-1)kg$ and $\iota_V > 0$ (for example if the sectional curvature is bounded above by a^2 then $\iota_V \geq \frac{\pi}{a}$, see e.g., [10] page 159) and

$$\hat{D} \subset D, \quad \hat{C} \cap C = \emptyset$$

Let $(\partial D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau_C)}$ (resp. $(\partial \hat{D}_t)_{t\in[0,\tau_{\hat{C}})}$) be a solution of (76) started at C (resp. \hat{C}) then

(i) : The mapping $t \mapsto d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)$ is locally Lipschitz on $[0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.

(ii) : If $k \ge 0$ then for all $t \in [0, \tau_C \land \tau_{\hat{C}})$,

$$(d(C, \hat{C})e^{k(d-1)t}) \wedge \iota_V \leq d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t).$$

(iii) : If $k \leq 0$ then for all $t \in [0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$,

$$(d(C, \hat{C}) \wedge \iota_V)e^{k(d-1)t} \leq d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t).$$

(iv): We have $D_t \cap \hat{D}_t = \emptyset$ for $t \in [0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.

Proof. – The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 32. Using (iii) in Lemma 29, we have:

$$d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t) < \iota_V \Longrightarrow \frac{d}{dt} d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t) \ge (d-1)kd(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t).$$

We deduce that, if $k \geq 0$ then for all $t \in [0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$

$$(d(C, \hat{C})e^{k(d-1)t}) \wedge \iota_V \leq d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t),$$

since after being above ι_V , $d(\partial D_t, \partial D_t)$ cannot go below ι_V again.

Similarly, if $k \leq 0$ then for all $t \in [0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$

$$(d(C,\hat{C}) \wedge \iota_V)e^{k(d-1)t} \le d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t).$$

As a consequence of Theorem 34, we can extend Corollary 26 under an assumption relaxing the requirement that one of the initial boundaries must be in a tubular neighborhood of the other initial boundary:

PROPOSITION 35. – Let $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and $C = \partial D$, $\hat{C} = \partial \hat{D}$. Suppose that

$$\hat{D} \subset D$$
 and $C \neq \hat{C}$

Let $(\partial D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_C)}$ (resp. $(\partial \hat{D}_t)_{t \in [0,\tau_{\hat{C}})}$) be a solution of (76) started at C (resp. \hat{C}). Suppose that there exists $k \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $Ric \geq (d-1)kg$, $\iota_V > 0$, and (H): it is possible to interpolate between C and \hat{C} by a family of $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ hypersurfaces $(C_i)_{i \in [[0,n]]}$ such that $C_i = \partial D_i$ with $D_i \in \mathcal{D}$, C_i is in a tubular neighborhood of C_{i+1} , and $\hat{D} \subset D_{i+1} \subsetneq D_i \subset D$, for $i \in [[0, n-1]]$, $C_0 = C$ and $C_n = \hat{C}$. Then

- (i): The mapping $t \mapsto d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)$ is locally Lipschitz on $[0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.
- (ii) : $\partial D_t \cap \partial \hat{D}_t = \emptyset$, for $t \in (0, \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}})$.

Proof. – We can use Corollary 26 with initial conditions C_i and C_{i+1} , and extend this corollary without the hypothesis that \hat{C} belongs to an open tubular neighborhood of C, up to the time $\tau_{C,\hat{C}} \coloneqq \inf_{i \in [\![1,n-1]\!]} \tau_{C_i,C_{i+1}}$. Hence for all $t \in (0, \tau_{C,\hat{C}})$ and all $i \in [\![1, n-1]\!]$ we have

$$(G_{i+1})_t \subset (G_i)_t$$
 and $\partial (G_{i+1})_t \cap \partial (G_i)_t = \emptyset$

so for all $t \in (0, \tau_{C,\hat{C}})$ we have

(78)
$$\hat{G}_t \subset G_t \text{ and } \partial \hat{G}_t \cap \partial G_t = \emptyset.$$

Let

$$\tau \coloneqq \inf\{t \ge \tau_{C,\hat{C}}, \text{ s.t. } \partial D_t \cap \partial \hat{D}_t \neq \emptyset\} \land \tau_C \land \tau_{\hat{C}}.$$

Using the same reasoning as the proof of Theorem 34, since $\partial D_t = \Psi(\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)$ and $\partial \hat{D}_t = \Psi(\partial \hat{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)$ for all $t \in [0, \tau)$, we get

$$\begin{split} \forall t \in [0,\tau), \qquad d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t)) &= d(\partial G_t, \partial \hat{G}_t) \\ \text{and } t \mapsto d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t) \text{ is locally Lipschitz on } [0,\tau). \end{split}$$

Hence using (78) we get

$$\forall t \in (0,\tau), \quad \hat{D}_t \subset D_t \quad \text{and} \quad \partial D_t \cap \partial \hat{D}_t = \emptyset.$$

Let $t_0 = \frac{\tau_{C,\hat{C}}}{2}$, since $\hat{D}_{t_0} \subset D_{t_0}$ and $d(\partial D_{t_0}, \partial \hat{D}_{t_0}) > 0$ we apply (ii) or (iii) of Theorem 34 to $\hat{D}_{t_0} \subset D_{t_0}$. We get, independently of the sign of the constant k,

$$\forall t \in [t_0, \tau_{C_{t_0}} \land \tau_{\hat{C}_{t_0}}), \qquad d(\partial D_t, \partial \hat{D}_t) > 0$$

since $\tau_{C_{t_0}} = \tau_C - t_0$ and $\tau_{\hat{C}_{t_0}} = \tau_{\hat{C}} - t_0$ we have $\tau = \tau_C \wedge \tau_{\hat{C}}$.

REMARK 36. – In the above proposition, Hypothesis (H) seems to be satisfied for all $D, \hat{D} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\hat{D} \subset D$, even if $\partial D \cap \partial \hat{D} \neq \emptyset$, but for the moment we do not have a complete proof of this fact.

4.2. Local existence of (51)

In this section, we will show the existence of a solution to the system of Equations (51). As the basic principle described in the paragraph following (16), a solution of (51) could be obtained as a solution of (58) conditioned not to collapse. Unfortunately, to develop this approach, we would need a solution of (58) defined for all times up to this collapsing. Since we have not been able to find such a maximal solution, we will directly work on (51), inspired by the previous subsection.

We recall the notations:

$$\begin{aligned} \forall D \in \mathcal{D}, C &= \partial D \qquad h(D) = 2 \frac{\mu(C)}{\mu(D)} \\ \forall r > 0, \forall D \in \mathcal{D}_r, \forall x \in C, \qquad \alpha_{C,r}(x) \coloneqq -\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}^b(\psi_{C,r}(x)). \end{aligned}$$

For given $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, we are interested in the system of equations:

(79)
$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\theta_t = h(\Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t)) \\ \forall x \in \partial G_t, \quad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t}(x) \\ (\theta_0, G_0) = (0, D_0). \end{cases}$$

To prove the existence of a solution to the above system of equations, we consider the equation described below. Let $g : [0, +\infty) \ni t \mapsto g(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ be a real $\frac{\alpha}{2}$ -Hölder function, such that g(0) = 0 (or small enough), and $0 < \alpha < 1$.

The goal of this first step is to show the existence of real numbers $t_0 > 0$ and $\delta > 0$, such that for all $g \in B_{C^{\alpha/2}}(0, \delta)$ and g(0) = 0, there exists a family $(G_t^g)_{t \in [0, t_0]}$ solution of

(80)
$$\begin{cases} \forall t \in [0, t_0], \, \forall x \in \partial G_t^g, \qquad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t^g}(x) \\ G_0^g = D_0. \end{cases}$$

We adopt the same strategy as in the previous section, in order to deal with the quasi-parabolic equation, and we adopt the same notation, let $\partial D_0 = F_0(M)$.

We consider the following equation.

(81)
$$\begin{cases} \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} F^{g}(t,x), \nu^{F^{g}}(t,x) \right\rangle = -\rho^{b}_{\Psi(F^{g}(t,M),\sqrt{2}B_{t}+g(t))}(\psi_{F^{g}(t,M),\sqrt{2}B_{t}+g(t)}(x)) \\ F(0,x) = F_{0}(x). \end{cases}$$

As before we represent the solution as graphs over the fixed hypersurface $C = F_0(M)$, and we write the solution as:

$$F^{g}(t,x) = \psi_{C,f^{g}(t,x)}(F_{0}(x)) = F_{0}(x) + f^{g}(t,x)\nu_{0}(x)$$

for a function f^g with enough regularity and $f^g(0, .) = 0$. With similar computations as in the above section, F^g is a solution of (81) (with $r(t) = \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)$ for any $t \ge 0$) if f^g satisfy the following non linear parabolic equation:

(82)
$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f^g(t,x) &= \Phi^g(t,x,f^g,\nabla f^g,\nabla\nabla f^g) \\ f^g(0,x) &= 0, \end{cases}$$

where Φ^g have the same definition as Φ in Proposition 19, but with $r(t) = \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)$, for all $t \ge 0$. Taking into account that C is smooth, Theorem 22 leads to:

PROPOSITION 37. – Take $g = g_0 \equiv 0$. There exists $0 < t_0 \leq T$ (where T comes from Proposition 19) such that (82) admits a solution f^{g_0} belonging to

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{X}(t_0) \coloneqq \{ u \in C^{1+\alpha/2, 2+\alpha}(M_{t_0}) \ : \\ u(0, .) &= 0, \max(\|u\|_{\infty, M_{t_0}}, \|\nabla u\|_{\infty, M_{t_0}}, \|\nabla \nabla u\|_{\infty, M_{t_0}}) \le R_0 \}. \end{aligned}$$

We deduce:

PROPOSITION 38. – With the same notation as in the above proposition, there exist two real $\delta_0, \delta_1 > 0$ and a continuously differentiable map

(83)
$$\Theta: B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_0])}(g_0,\delta_0) \to B_{C^{1+\frac{\alpha}{2},2+\alpha}(M_{t_0})}(f^{g_0},\delta_1)$$
$$g \mapsto f^g,$$

where f^g is a solution of (82). Moreover Θ is uniformly Lipschitz in $B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_0])}(g_0,\delta_0)$.

Proof. – Consider the mapping

(84)
$$S : \mathfrak{X}(t_0) \times C^{\frac{\omega}{2}}([0,t_0]) \to C^{\frac{\omega}{2},\alpha}(M_{t_0})$$
$$(u,g) \mapsto \partial_t u - \Phi^g(t,x,u,\nabla u,\nabla \nabla u).$$

It is continuously differentiable, at least when g belongs to a small ball. Note that from Proposition 37, there exists $(f^{g_0}, g_0) \in \mathfrak{X}(t_0) \times C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0, t_0])$ such that $S(f^{g_0}, g_0) = 0$. Also

$$dS_u(f^{g_0}, g_0)(v) = d\mathcal{S}(f^{g_0})(v),$$

where S is defined before the proof of Theorem 22 (with $r(t) \coloneqq \sqrt{2}B_t$). Since f^{g_0} is in \mathfrak{X} , $dS(f^{g_0})$ is invertible with continuous inverse, according to Lemma 20 and Theorem 21. The result follows from implicit function theorem.

We will show the existence of solution of (79) by using a fixed point theorem. For $g \in B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_0])}(g_0,\delta_0)$, define

$$F^g(t,x) \coloneqq F_0(x) + f^g(t,x)\nu_0(x)$$

and consider the family of hypersurfaces

$$\partial G_t^g \coloneqq F^g(t, M),$$

note that $G_0^g = D_0$.

PROPOSITION 39. – There exist $0 < t_1 \leq t_0$ and a mapping

$$\begin{split} \Gamma \,:\, B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1])}(g_0,\delta_0) \cap \{g \in C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} | g(0) = 0\} \\ & \to B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1])}(g_0,\delta_0) \cap \{g \in C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} \,:\, g(0) = 0\}, \end{split}$$

such that

(85)
$$\begin{cases} \forall t \in [0, t_1], & \frac{d}{dt} \Gamma(g)(t) = h(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))), \\ \Gamma(g)(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Moreover Γ is a contraction and there exists an unique fixed point for Γ in $B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1])}(g_0,\delta_0) \cap \{g \in C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1]) : g(0) = 0\}.$

Proof. – Take δ_0 such that by Proposition 38, Θ is uniformly Lipschitz in $B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_0])}(g_0,\delta_0)$. Let $g \in B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_0])}(g_0,\delta_0)$, $r \in \mathbb{R}$ and $f^g = \Theta(g)$, define for all $x \in M$:

$$\begin{split} F^g_{\psi}(t,x,r) &= F^g(t,x) + r\nu^{F^g}(t,x) \\ &= F_0(x) + f^g(t,x)\nu_0(x) + r\nu^{F^g}(t,x) \\ &= F_0(x) + f^g(t,x)\nu_0(x) + r\nu(t,x,f^g(t,\cdot),\nabla f^g(t,\cdot)), \end{split}$$

then we have

$$\Psi(\partial G_t^g, r(t)) = \{F_0(x) + f^g(t, x)\nu_0(x) + r(t)\nu(t, x, f^g(t, \cdot), \nabla f^g(t, \cdot)) : x \in M\}$$

and

$$h(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))) = 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))}{\mu(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))}$$

We have the following formula for the n-volume of the boundary:

In the above formula, $d\mu_M$ is a Riemannian measure for a fixed metric in M and $d_x F_{\psi}^g(t, x, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))$ is evaluated in an orthonormal basis for this metric. Let

$$\begin{split} d^g(t,x) &\coloneqq \det[\nu^{F^g_\psi}(t,x), d_x F^g_\psi(t,x,\sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))] \\ &=: V(x,\sqrt{2}B_t + g(t), f^g(t,x), \nabla f^g(t,x), \nabla \nabla f^g(t,x)), \end{split}$$

where V is a function regular in the four last components. It follows that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\langle (t,x) \mapsto d^g(t,x) \rangle_{\alpha/2} \le C(\|\sqrt{2}B_{\cdot}\|_{C^{\alpha/2}} + \|g\|_{C^{\alpha/2}} + \|f^g\|_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}})$$

with the semi-norm

$$\langle (t,x) \mapsto d^g(t,x) \rangle_{\alpha/2} \coloneqq \sup \left\{ \frac{|f(t) - f(s)|}{|t - s|^{\alpha}}, \, s \neq t \in [0,t_0], \, x \in M \right\}.$$

We deduce there exists C_{δ_0,δ_1} , depending on δ_0 , δ_1 and on the random quantity $\|\sqrt{2}B_{\cdot}\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}$, such that

$$\langle t \mapsto d^g(t,x) \rangle_{\alpha/2} \le C_{\delta_0,\delta_1}$$

and thus

$$||t \mapsto d^g(t, x)||_{C^{\alpha/2}[0, t_0]} \le C_{\delta_1, \delta_0}(t_0^{\alpha/2} + 1) + K$$

with $K = ||d^g(0,.)||_{\infty}$ not depending on g.

Hence $t \mapsto \underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))$ is in $C^{\alpha/2}$ and

(87)
$$\|t \mapsto \underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))\|_{C^{\alpha/2}} \le (C_{\delta_1, \delta_0}(t_0^{\alpha/2} + 1) + K)\mu(M).$$

Using Stoke's theorem we have that the volume of $\mu(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))$ enclosed by the hypersurface $\Psi(\partial G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))$ is

$$\begin{split} \mu(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))) &= \frac{1}{n+1} \int_{F_{\psi}^g(t,M)} \langle \vec{x}, \nu^{F_{\psi}^g} \rangle \, d\mu_{F_{\psi}^g(t,M)}(\vec{x}) \\ &= \frac{1}{n+1} \int_M \langle F_{\psi}^g(t, x, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)), \nu^{F_{\psi}^g}(t, x) \rangle d^g(t, x) \, d\mu_M(x). \end{split}$$

As before, we get, for some $C'_{\delta_1,\delta_0} > 0$ and K' > 0 of the same nature as $C_{\delta_1,\delta_0} > 0$ and K > 0, that

(89)
$$||t \mapsto \mu(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))||_{C^{\alpha/2}} \le (C'_{\delta_1, \delta_0}(t_0^{\alpha/2} + 1) + K')\mu(M).$$

As a quotient, it follows that $t \mapsto h(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))$ is in $C^{\alpha/2}$, as long as the domain $\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t))$ keeps a positive mass, which may lead us to replace t_0 by a smaller value, and we deduce that

(90)
$$\|t \mapsto h(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))\|_{C^{\alpha/2}([0,t_0])} \le C$$

for a constant C that only depends on δ_0 , δ_1 , t_0 and $\|\sqrt{2}B_{\cdot}\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}$. So $\Gamma(g) \in C^{1+\alpha/2}$. We have for $0 < s, t < t_1 \leq t_0$

$$|\Gamma(g)(t) - \Gamma(g)(s)| \le |t - s|C \le Ct_1^{1 - \alpha/2} |t - s|^{\alpha/2},$$

since $\Gamma(g)(0) = 0$ we have that:

$$\|\Gamma(g)\|_{C^{\alpha/2}[0,t_1]} \le Ct_1 + Ct_1^{1-\alpha/2}$$

Take $0 < t_1 \leq t_0$ sufficiently small such that $Ct_1 + Ct_1^{1-\alpha/2} \leq \delta_0$ we have Γ maps $B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1])}(g_0,\delta_0) \cap \{g \in C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} | g(0) = 0\}$ into himself.

Let us show that Γ is a contraction.

Let
$$g_1, g_2 \in B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1])}(g_0,\delta_0)$$
, and $f^{g_1} = \Theta(g_1)$, $f^{g_2} = \Theta(g_2)$ then

$$\underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^{g_1},\sqrt{2}B_t + g_1(t))) - \underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^{g_2},\sqrt{2}B_t + g_2(t)))$$
(91)
$$= \int_M V(x,\sqrt{2}B_t + g_1(t), f^{g_1}(t,x), \nabla f^{g_1}(t,x), \nabla \nabla f^{g_1}(t,x))$$

$$- V(x,\sqrt{2}B_t + g_2(t), f^{g_2}(t,x), \nabla f^{g_2}(t,x), \nabla \nabla f^{g_2}(t,x)) \mu_M(dx).$$

We want to control the norm of the above function in $C^{\alpha/2}$. Since it vanishes at time 0, we have only to control its semi-norm $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\alpha/2}$.

We write for simplicity $\vec{f^g}(t,x) \coloneqq (f^g(t,x), \nabla f^g(t,x), \nabla \nabla f^g(t,x))$, and let

$$J(t,x) \coloneqq V(x,\sqrt{2}B_t + g_1(t), \vec{f^{g_1}}(t,x)) - V(x,\sqrt{2}B_t + g_2(t), \vec{f^{g_2}}(t,x)).$$

Let $\sigma \in [0,1]$ and

$$\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) \coloneqq \sigma(\sqrt{2}B_t + g_1(t), f^{\vec{g}_1}(t,x)) + (1-\sigma)(\sqrt{2}B_t + g_2(t), f^{\vec{g}_2}(t,x)),$$

we have, for all $0 \leq s, t \leq t_1$,

$$\begin{aligned} |\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) - \zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)| &\leq |t-s|^{\alpha/2} (2\sqrt{2} ||B.||_{C^{\alpha/2}} + 2\delta_0 + 2\delta_1) \\ &\leq C_{\delta_0,\delta_1} |t-s|^{\alpha/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Also using the regularity of V in the four last variables we have

$$J(t,x) = \int_0^1 d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x))((g_1(t),\vec{f}^{g_1}(t,x)) - (g_2(t),\vec{f}^{g_2}(t,x))) \, d\sigma.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} |J(t,x) - J(s,x)| &= \left| \int_0^1 d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) (g_1(t) - g_2(t), \vec{f}^{g_1}(t,x) - \vec{f}^{g_2}(t,x)) \right. \\ &- d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) (g_1(s) - g_2(s), \vec{f}^{g_1}(s,x) - \vec{f}^{g_2}(s,x)) d\sigma \right| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 \left| \left(d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) \right) (g_1(t) - g_2(t), \vec{f}^{g_1}(t,x) - \vec{f}^{g_2}(t,x)) \right| d\sigma \\ &+ \int_0^1 \left| d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) \left((g_1(t) - g_2(t), \vec{f}^{g_1}(t,x) - \vec{f}^{g_2}(t,x)) \right) - (g_1(s) - g_2(s), \vec{f}^{g_1}(s,x) - \vec{f}^{g_2}(s,x)) \right) \right| d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

Since $d_3V(x, \zeta_{\sigma}(s, x))$ is bounded we have (again the constant C can change from one line to the other),

$$\begin{aligned} |d_{3}V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x))\big((g_{1}(t)-g_{2}(t),\vec{f}^{g_{1}}(t,x)-\vec{f}^{g_{2}}(t,x))-(g_{1}(s)-g_{2}(s),\vec{f}^{g_{1}}(s,x)-\vec{f}^{g_{2}}(s,x))\big) \\ &\leq C|t-s|^{\alpha/2}(\|g_{1}-g_{2}\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}+\|\vec{f}^{g_{1}}-\vec{f}^{g_{2}}\|_{C^{\alpha/2,\alpha}}) \\ &\leq C|t-s|^{\alpha/2}(\|g_{1}-g_{2}\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}+\|\Theta(g_{1})-\Theta(g_{2})\|_{C^{1+\alpha/2,2+\alpha}}) \\ &\leq C|t-s|^{\alpha/2}(1+\|\Theta\|_{\operatorname{Lip}})\|g_{1}-g_{2}\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}, \end{aligned}$$

where in the last line we use Proposition 38. Using that $d_3V(x, .)$ is Lipschitz in the last variable:

$$\begin{aligned} |d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x)) - d_3 V(x,\zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)) &\leq C |\zeta_{\sigma}(t,x) - \zeta_{\sigma}(s,x)| \\ &\leq C C_{\delta_0,\delta_1} |t-s|^{\alpha/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $(g_1(0), \vec{f}^{g_1}(0, x)) = \vec{0} = (g_2(0), \vec{f}^{g_2}(0, x))$ we have:

$$|(g_1(t) - g_2(t), \vec{f}^{g_1}(t, x) - \vec{f}^{g_2}(t, x))| \le Ct^{\alpha/2} (1 + ||\Theta||_{\operatorname{Lip}}) ||g_1 - g_2||_{C^{\alpha/2}}.$$

Putting all things together we get $\langle t \mapsto J(t,x) \rangle_{C^{\alpha/2}} \leq C \|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}$ and since J(0,x) = 0,

$$||t \mapsto J(t,x)||_{C^{\alpha/2}} \le C ||g_1 - g_2||_{C^{\alpha/2}}.$$

Hence

(92)
$$\|t \mapsto \underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^{g_1}, \sqrt{2}B_t + g_1(t))) - \underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^{g_2}, \sqrt{2}B_t + g_2(t)))\|_{C^{\alpha/2}} \le C \|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}.$$

With the same proof we also have:

(93)

$$\|t \mapsto \mu(\Psi(G_t^{g_1}, \sqrt{2}B_t + g_1(t))) - \mu(\Psi(G_t^{g_2}, \sqrt{2}B_t + g_2(t)))\|_{C^{\alpha/2}} \le C \|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}.$$

Let
$$\mu(g)(t) \coloneqq \mu(\Psi(G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))$$
 and $\underline{\mu}(g)(t) \coloneqq \underline{\mu}(\Psi(\partial G_t^g, \sqrt{2}B_t + g(t)))$. We have
$$\frac{d}{d} \left(\nabla (f_t - \nabla (g_t) - g(\mu(g_1) - \mu(g_2))) \right)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dt}{dt} \left(\Gamma(g_1) - \Gamma(g_2) \right) &= 2 \left(\frac{\mu(g_1)}{\mu(g_1)} - \frac{\mu(g_2)}{\mu(g_2)} \right) \\ &= 2 \left(\frac{\mu(g_1)\mu(g_2) - \mu(g_2)\mu(g_1)}{\mu(g_1)\mu(g_2)} \right) \\ &= 2 \left(\frac{\mu(g_1)(\mu(g_2) - \mu(g_1)) - \mu(g_1)(\mu(g_2) - \mu(g_1))}{\mu(g_1)\mu(g_2)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Hence using (87), (89), (92) and (93),

$$\left\| \frac{d}{dt} \Big(\Gamma(g_1) - \Gamma(g_2) \Big) \right\|_{C^{\alpha/2}([0,t_1])} \le C \|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}$$

and so

$$\left\| \frac{d}{dt} \Big(\Gamma(g_1) - \Gamma(g_2) \Big) \right\|_{C^0([0,t_1])} \le C \|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}$$

Since $\Gamma(g_1)(0) = 0 = \Gamma(g_2)(0)$,

$$\|\Gamma(g_1) - \Gamma(g_2)\|_{C^{\alpha/2}([0,t_1])} \le (t_1 + t_1^{1-\alpha/2})C\|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}}$$

Reducing t_1 such that $(t_1 + t_1^{1-\alpha/2})C \leq \frac{1}{2}$, we get:

$$\|\Gamma(g_1) - \Gamma(g_2)\|_{C^{\alpha/2}([0,t_1])} \le \frac{1}{2} \|g_1 - g_2\|_{C^{\alpha/2}([0,t_1])}.$$

Hence Γ have a unique fixed point in $B_{C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}([0,t_1])}(g_0,\delta_0) \cap \{g \in C^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} | g(0) = 0\}.$ \Box

THEOREM 40. – Let $D_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, then there exists $0 < t_1$ such that the system of Equations (79) has a unique solution.

Proof. – Let θ be the fixed point of Γ , and $f^{\theta} = \Theta(\theta)$ then $F^{\theta}(t,x) = F_0(x) + f^{\theta}(t,x)\nu_0(x)$ solves

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}F^{\theta}(t,x) = \left(-\rho^{b}_{\Psi(F^{\theta}(t,M),\sqrt{2}B_{t}+\theta(t))}(\psi_{F^{\theta}(t,M),\sqrt{2}B_{t}+\theta(t)}(x))\right)\nu^{F^{\theta}}(t,x)\\ F(0,x) = F_{0}(x) \end{cases}$$

and so

$$\begin{cases} \forall t \in [0, t_1], \, \forall x \in \partial G_t^{\theta}, \qquad \partial_t x = \alpha_{\partial G_t^{\theta}, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta(t)}(x)\nu_{\partial G_t^{\theta}}(x) \\ G_0^{\theta} = D_0. \end{cases}$$

Also

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\theta(t) = \frac{d}{dt}\Gamma(\theta)(t) \\ = h(\Psi(G_t^{\theta}, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta(t)), \\ \Gamma(\theta)(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

-	-	-	-	

Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$, $C = \partial D$ with $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundaries, $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, in a *d*-dimensional Riemannian manifold V, and $(\theta_t, G_t)_{0 \le t < \tau}$ be a solution of (79) given by Theorem 40. As in the beginning of this section, the solution of

(94)
$$\forall t \in [0,\tau), \forall x \in C_t \coloneqq D_t, \qquad dx = \left(\sqrt{2}dB_t + 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(C_t)}{\mu(D_t)}dt - \rho_{C_t}(x)dt\right)\nu_{C_t}(x)$$

is given by $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, where

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad D_t \coloneqq \Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2B_t + \theta_t})$$

(as a special case of (44)).

Proposition 42 below will give a control of the extrinsic diameter of C_t defined by

$$\operatorname{diam}(C_t) \coloneqq \sup_{(x,y) \in C_t^2} d(x,y),$$

where $d(\cdot, \cdot)$ is the Riemannian distance in V. First we need the following proposition bounding the sum of the mean curvature at points that realize the diameter, in terms of the extrinsic curvature (by extrinsic we mean in the ambient manifold V, i.e., not intrinsic in the hypersurface). For all $b \in \mathbb{R}$, we denote by $V^b(d)$ the d-dimensional manifold with constant curvature b. Let $\iota_{V^b(d)}$ defined before Lemma 32. We have:

$$\begin{cases} \iota_{V^b(d)} = \infty &, \text{ if } b \le 0\\ \iota_{V^b(d)} = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}} &, \text{ if } b > 0. \end{cases}$$

PROPOSITION 41. – Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$ with a C^2 boundary in a d-dimensional manifold V, and $C = \partial D$. Suppose that there exists $b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the sectional curvature K_V of V is bounded above by b, i.e., $K_V \leq b$. For all $(p,q) \in C^2$ such that d(p,q) =diam(C) and $d(p,q) < \iota_{V^b(d)}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} 1. \ if \ b &\leq 0 \ then \ -\rho_C(p) - \rho_C(q) \leq 2(d-1)\sqrt{|b|} \big(\frac{1-\cosh(\sqrt{|b|d(p,q)})}{\sinh(\sqrt{|b|}d(p,q))}\big) \leq 0, \\ 2. \ if \ b &> 0 \ then \ -\rho_C(p) - \rho_C(q) \leq 2(d-1)\sqrt{b} \big(\frac{1-\cos(\sqrt{bd(p,q)})}{\sin(\sqrt{bd(p,q)})}\big). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. – As in the proof of Lemme 29, consider $(p,q) \in C^2$ such that $d(p,q) = \operatorname{diam}(C)$. Using the first variation formula, we get there exists an unit speed geodesic γ in V such that $\gamma(0) = q$, $\gamma(d(p,q)) = p$, $\dot{\gamma}(0) = -\nu_C(q)$ and $\dot{\gamma}(d(p,q)) = \nu_C(p)$. Let $(e_i)_{i \in [\![1,d-1]\!]}$ be a orthonormal basis of T_qC . For $i \in [\![1,d-1]\!]$, let $\gamma_{1,i}(t)$ be a geodesic in C such that $\gamma_{1,i}(0) = q$ and $\dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(0) = e_i$. Let $\gamma_{2,i}(t)$ be a geodesic in C such that $\gamma_{2,i}(0) = p$ and $\dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(0) = //_{d(p,q)}e_i$, where // is the parallel transport along the geodesic γ . Since $(p,q) \in C^2$ is a local maximum of the distance function restricted to $C \times C$, we have that

$$\left. \frac{d^2}{dt^2} \right|_{t=0} d(\gamma_{1,i}(t), \gamma_{2,i}(t)) \le 0.$$

Let Y_i be the Jacobi field along γ obtained by the variation of geodesic connecting $\gamma_{1,i}(t)$ to $\gamma_{2,i}(t)$, we have: $Y_i(0) = e_i$, $Y_i(d(p,q)) = //_{d(p,q)}e_i$. Using second variation formula, we get:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^2}{d^2t} d(\gamma_{1,i}(t),\gamma_{2,i}(t))|_{t=0} &= \left[\langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{2,i}(t), \dot{\gamma}(d(p,q)) \rangle - \langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(t), \dot{\gamma}(0) \rangle \right] + I(Y_i, Y_i) \\ &= \left[\langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{2,i}(t), \nu_C(p) \rangle - \langle \nabla_{t=0} \dot{\gamma}_{1,i}(t), -\nu_C(q) \rangle \right] + I(Y_i, Y_i) \\ &= -\Pi_C(//d(p,q)e_i, //d(p,q)e_i) - \Pi_C(e_i, e_i) + I(Y_i, Y_i). \end{aligned}$$

Put the above two computations together and take the sum to get:

$$-\rho_C(q) - \rho_C(p) \le -\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} I(Y_i, Y_i).$$

We have to bound from below the index of the normal Jacobi field Y_i for all i. Since Y_i is a normal Jacobi field, there exist real functions f_i^j for $j \in [\![1, d-1]\!]$ such that $Y_i(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{d-1} f_i^j(t) / /_t e_j$. By construction of Y_i , we have $f_i^j(0) = f_i^j(d(p,q)) = \delta_i^j$. Consider $\tilde{\gamma}(t)_{t \in [0, d(p,q)]}$ a geodesic in $V^b(d)$ with same length as γ , take $(\tilde{e}_i)_{i \in [\![1, d-1]\!]}$ an orthonormal basis of $\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}(0)^{\perp}$ in $T_{\tilde{\gamma}(0)}V^b(d)$, and denote by $\tilde{/}$ the parallel transport along $\tilde{\gamma}$. Let $\tilde{X}_i(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{d-1} f_i^j(t) / /_t \tilde{e}_j$, be a vector field along $\tilde{\gamma}$, note that $\tilde{X}_i(0) = \tilde{e}_i$ and $\tilde{X}_i(d(p,q)) = / / \tilde{e}_i$. Let \tilde{Y}_i be the Jacobi field in $V^b(d)$ along $\tilde{\gamma}$ such that $\tilde{Y}_i(0) = \tilde{e}_i$ and $\tilde{Y}_i(d(p,q)) = / / d_{(p,q)} \tilde{e}_i$. We have by definition:

$$\begin{split} I(Y_i, Y_i) &= \int_0^{d(p,q)} \|\nabla_t Y_i\|^2 - \langle R(Y_i, \dot{\gamma}) Y_i, \dot{\gamma} \rangle \, dt \\ &\geq \int_0^{d(p,q)} \|\nabla_t Y_i\|^2 - b \|Y_i\|^2 \, dt \\ &= \int_0^{d(p,q)} \|\nabla_t \tilde{X}_i\|^2 - b \|\tilde{X}_i\|^2 \, dt \\ &\geq \int_0^{d(p,q)} \|\nabla_t \tilde{Y}_i\|^2 - b \|\tilde{Y}_i\|^2 \, dt, \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we used again the Index lemma since $d(p,q) < \iota_{V^b(d)}$. So $\tilde{\gamma}(0)$ and $\tilde{\gamma}(d(p,q))$ are not conjugate in $V^b(d)$. Since $\tilde{Y}_i(t) = f_b(t)//t_i \tilde{e}_i$ with $f''_b = -bf_b$, and $f_b(0) = f_b(d(p,q)) = 1$, we get

$$I(Y_i, Y_i) \ge \int_0^{d(p,q)} (f'_b)^2 - bf_b^2 dt$$

= $(f'_b(d(p,q)) - f'_b(0)).$

Hence

$$-\rho_C(q) - \rho_C(p) \le -(d-1)(f'_b(d(p,q)) - f'_b(0))$$

and the result follows by explicit computation of f_b in different cases.

PROPOSITION 42. – Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$ with a $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundary $C \coloneqq \partial D$ in a d-dimensional manifold V, for some fixed $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Suppose there exists $b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the sectional curvature of V satisfies $K_V \leq b$. Then the evolution of the diameter of the solution $(C_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ of (94) started at C is controlled by:

(i) : If $b \leq 0$, we get for all $0 \leq t < \tau$,

$$d \operatorname{diam}(C_t) \le 2(\sqrt{2}dB_t + h(D_t)dt) + 2(d-1)\sqrt{|b|} \left(\frac{1 - \cosh(\sqrt{|b|}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}{\sinh(\sqrt{|b|}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}\right) dt.$$

(ii) : If b > 0, we get, for all $0 \le t < \tau \land \tau_{\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}}}(\operatorname{diam}(C_{\cdot}))$,

$$d\operatorname{diam}(C_t) \le 2(\sqrt{2}dB_t + h(D_t)dt) + 2(d-1)\sqrt{b}\Big(\frac{1 - \cos(\sqrt{b}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}{\sin(\sqrt{b}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}\Big)dt,$$

where $\tau_{\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}}}(\operatorname{diam}(C_t)) \coloneqq \inf\{t \ge 0 : \operatorname{diam}(C_t) \ge \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}}\}.$

Proof. – Using the construction of $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, we get, for $0 \le t < \tau$,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{diam}(C_t) &= \sup_{(x,y)\in\partial G_t^2} d(\Psi_{G_t}(x,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t), \Psi_{G_t}(y,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t)) \\ &= 2(\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t) + \sup_{(x,y)\in\partial G_t^2} d(x,y), \end{aligned}$$

where in the second equality, we used that for $0 \leq t < \tau$, $\Psi_{G_t}(., \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t)$ is a diffeomorphism onto its image, and a reasoning similar to the proof of Proposition 30. Also since

$$\sup_{(x,y)\in\partial G_t^2} d(x,y) = \sup_{x,y\in M^2} d(F^{\theta}(t,x),F^{\theta}(t,y)),$$

and the mappings $t \mapsto F^{\theta}(t, x)$ are uniformly Lipschitz on any compact $[0, T] \subset [0, \tau)$, we deduce that

$$t\mapsto \sup_{(x,y)\in\partial G_t^2}d(x,y)$$

is Lipschitz on [0, T], hence almost everywhere differentiable on [0, T] and absolutely continuous.

At a differentiability time $t \in [0, T]$, we have, as in the proof of Proposition 30,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} \sup_{(x,y)\in\partial G_t^2} d(x,y) &= \frac{d}{dt} \sup_{(x_t,y_t)\in\partial G_t^2 : d(x_t,y_t) = \operatorname{diam}(\partial G_t)} d(x_t,y_t) \\ &= \sup_{(x_t,y_t)\in\partial G_t^2 : d(x_t,y_t) = \operatorname{diam}(\partial G_t)} \frac{d}{dt} d(x_t,y_t) \\ &= \sup_{(x_t,y_t)\in\partial G_t^2 : d(x_t,y_t) = \operatorname{diam}(\partial G_t)} \langle \frac{d}{dt} x_t, \nu^{\partial G_t}(x_t) \rangle + \langle \frac{d}{dt} y_t, \nu^{\partial G_t}(y_t) \rangle \\ &= \sup_{(x_t,y_t)\in\partial G_t^2 : d(x_t,y_t) = \operatorname{diam}(\partial G_t)} -\rho_{\Psi(\partial G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)}(\psi_{\partial G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t}(x_t)) \\ &- \rho_{\Psi(\partial G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)}(\psi_{\partial G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t}(y_t)) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \sup_{\substack{(x_t,y_t) \in \partial D_t^2 : d(x_t,y_t) = \operatorname{diam}(\partial D_t)}} -\rho_{\partial D_t}(x_t) - \rho_{\partial D_t}(y_t).$$

Taking into account Proposition 41, we obtain the wanted points (i) and (ii). \Box

When (94) is replaced by (76), the previous proof leads to a similar result:

PROPOSITION 43. – Let $D \in \mathcal{D}$ with a $\mathcal{C}^{5+\alpha}$ boundary $C \coloneqq \partial D$ in a d-dimensional manifold V, for some fixed $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Suppose there exists $b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the sectional curvature of V satisfies $K_V \leq b$. Then the evolution of the diameter of the solution $(C_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ of (76) started at C is controlled by:

(i) : If $b \leq 0$, we get, for all $0 \leq t < \tau$,

$$d\operatorname{diam}(C_t) \le 2\sqrt{2}dB_t + 2(d-1)\sqrt{|b|} \left(\frac{1-\cosh(\sqrt{|b|}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}{\sinh(\sqrt{|b|}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}\right)dt$$

(ii) : If b > 0, we get , for all $0 \le t < \tau \land \tau_{\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}}}(\operatorname{diam}(C_{\cdot}))$,

$$\begin{aligned} d\operatorname{diam}(C_t) &\leq 2\sqrt{2}dB_t + 2(d-1)\sqrt{b}\big(\frac{1-\cos(\sqrt{b}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}{\sin(\sqrt{b}\operatorname{diam}(C_t))}\big)dt \\ \end{aligned}$$

where $\tau_{\frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}}}(\operatorname{diam}(C_t)) \coloneqq \inf\{t \geq 0 \ : \ \operatorname{diam}(C_t) \geq \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{b}}\}. \end{aligned}$

REMARK 44. – Proposition 43 may seem simpler than Proposition 42, since it does not require to deal with the tricky term $h(D_t)$. For instance when $K_V \leq 0$, we have for all $0 \leq t < \tau$:

$$\operatorname{diam}(C_t) \le 2\sqrt{2}(B_t - B_0) + \operatorname{diam}(C_0).$$

It follows that $\tau \leq \tau_{-\frac{\operatorname{diam}(C_0)}{2\sqrt{2}}}(B_{\cdot})$ a.s. But the supplementary term $h(D_t)$ in Proposition 42 should prevent this collapsing in finite time.
CHAPTER 5

BACK TO THE HOMOGENEOUS SITUATIONS

Here we return to the situations encountered in Section 2, where V has a constant curvature and is endowed with the Laplacian $L := \Delta$. This section has two main goals developed in the following subsections:

- When V is an Euclidean space, it is possible to go further in the considerations of Section 3. In particular when $V = \mathbb{R}^2$, it is possible to compute explicitly the image of the mean curvature vector field by the tangent mappings to the normal flow.
- When $D_0 = B(x_0, r_0)$ with $x_0 \in V$ and $r_0 > 0$ (small enough in the spherical case), the Doss-Sussman approach can be described explicitly (more generally this is also true when V is rotationally symmetric and x_0 is a center of symmetry). It is then possible to compare the Doss-Sussman methods in the two decompositions (22) and (57), concerning their respective time-domains and to see that the method suggested in Remark 18 is stable when we let r_0 go to zero, namely when we try an approximation of the initial conditions consisting of singletons.

5.1. About the Euclidean and constant curvature spaces

We begin by bringing some precisions about the quantities defined in (25) and (26). They can always be written

$$R_-(D) = \widetilde{R}_-(D) \lor \widehat{R}_-(D) ext{ and } R_+(D) = \widetilde{R}_+(D) \land \widehat{R}_+(D),$$

where

$$\begin{split} &\widetilde{R}_{+}(D) \coloneqq \inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) \, : \, \psi_{C,r} \text{ is not an immersion}\} \\ &\widetilde{R}_{-}(D) \coloneqq -\inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) \, : \, \psi_{C,-r} \text{ is not an immersion}\} \\ &\widehat{R}_{+}(D) \coloneqq \inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) \, : \, \psi_{C,r} \text{ is not one-to-one}\} \\ &\widehat{R}_{-}(D) \coloneqq -\inf\{r \in (0, +\infty) \, : \, \psi_{C,-r} \text{ is not one-to-one}\} \end{split}$$

(with the usual convention $\inf \emptyset = +\infty$).

Consider the Euclidean case:

LEMMA 45. – When $V = \mathbb{R}^n$, with $n \ge 2$ and endowed with its Euclidean structure, we have

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{R}_{-}(D) &= \frac{1}{\min(0_{-}, \min\{-\lambda_{n-1,C}(x) \, : \, x \in C\})} \; \in \; [-\infty, 0) \\ \widetilde{R}_{+}(D) &= \frac{1}{\max(0_{+}, \max\{-\lambda_{1,C}(x) \, : \, x \in C\})} \; \in \; (0, +\infty], \end{split}$$

where $\lambda_{1,C}(x) \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_{n-1,C}(x)$ are the eigenvalues of the second fundamental form (defined with respect to ν_C) at $x \in C$. The notations 0_- and 0_+ just indicate that $1/0_- = -\infty$ and $1/0_+ = +\infty$.

Proof. – Recall that the tangent mapping $d\nu_C$ associated to the mapping $C \ni x \mapsto \nu_C(x)$ can be seen as a linear mapping from T_xC (the tangent space of C at x) to itself, and that the second fundamental form is given at $x \in C$ by

$$T_x C \times T_x C \ni (v, w) \mapsto \langle v, d\nu_C[w] \rangle$$

We deduce that for $r \in \mathbb{R}$, the tangent mapping $d\psi_{C,r}$ satisfies

$$\forall v, w \in T_x C, \qquad \langle v, d\psi_{C,r}[w] \rangle = \langle v, w \rangle + r \langle v, d\nu_C[w] \rangle$$

It follows that if r is such that all the quantities $1 + r\lambda_{C,1}(x), \ldots, 1 + r\lambda_{C,n-1}(x)$ are either all positive or all negative, then the tangent mapping $d\psi_{C,r}$ is not degenerate at x. As a consequence, for $r \in (\tilde{R}_{-}(D), \tilde{R}_{+}(D)), d\psi_{C,r}$ is not degenerate on C. More precisely, $(\tilde{R}_{-}(D), \tilde{R}_{+}(D))$ is the largest interval I containing 0 on which the tangent mapping $d\psi_{C,r}$ is not degenerate on C for all $r \in I$. Indeed, when for some $x \in C$ and $r \in \mathbb{R}$, the values $1 + r\lambda_{C,1}(x), \ldots, 1 + r\lambda_{C,n-1}(x)$ are not of the same sign, we can find $r' \in (-|r|, |r|)$, such that $1 + r'\lambda_{C,1}(x) = 0$, so that $d\psi_{C,r'}$ is degenerate at x. \Box

REMARK 46. – Consider the case where $V = \mathbb{R}^2$ endowed with its usual Riemannian structure (coming from its Euclidean structure). The following picture (where the boundary of the *C* in black stands for *C*, while the line in red is a portion of its image by $\psi_{C,r}$, for some positive element $r \in (\widetilde{R}_{-}(D), \widetilde{R}_{+}(D))$), shows that in general the mapping $\psi_{C,r}$ is not an embedding of *C* in the plane.

In this picture, if r is reduced a little to be equal to $\widehat{R}_+(D)$ and if $x \neq x' \in C$ are such that $\psi_{C,r}(x) = \psi_{C,r}(x')$, it appears that $\nu_C(x) = -\nu_C(x')$ and x' belongs to the line passing by x and directed by $\nu_C(x)$.

The last observation of the above remark corresponds to a general phenomenon that we now describe, coming back to the situation of an abstract Riemannian manifold V.

For any $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and $x \in C$, consider

$$\begin{split} \breve{R}_{+}(x) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \inf \left\{ r > 0 \, : \, \exp_{x}(r\nu_{C}(x)) \in C \text{ and } \nu_{C}(\exp_{x}(r\nu_{C}(x))) = -\frac{d}{dr} \exp_{x}(r\nu_{C}(x)) \right\} \\ \breve{R}_{+}(D) &\coloneqq \inf \{ \breve{R}_{+}(x) \, : \, x \in C \}. \end{split}$$



FIGURE 1. Example of a non injective mapping $\psi_{C,r}$

Similarly, let

$$\begin{split} \breve{R}_{-}(x) \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \sup \left\{ r < 0 \ : \ \exp_{x}(r\nu_{C}(x))) \in C \text{ and } \nu_{C}(\exp_{x}(r\nu_{C}(x))) = \frac{d}{dr} \exp_{x}(r\nu_{C}(x)) \right\} \\ \breve{R}_{-}(D) \coloneqq \sup\{\breve{R}_{-}(x) \ : \ x \in C\}. \end{split}$$

The interest of these quantities is:

LEMMA 47. – When $\widehat{R}_+(D) < \widetilde{R}_+(D)$, it means that $R_+(D) = \widehat{R}_+(D) = \breve{R}_+(D) > 0$. Similarly, we always have $R_-(D) = \widetilde{R}_-(D) \lor \breve{R}_-(D) < 0$.

Proof. – We only prove the first assertion, since the second one can be shown in the same way, by reversing the time (or, when V is compact, by replacing D by D^{c}).

We begin by remarking that for any $x \in C$, we can find a neighborhood Uof x such that the intersection of $U \cap C$ and $U \cap \exp_x([-\epsilon, \epsilon]\nu_C(x))$ is reduced to x for $\epsilon > 0$ small enough (this is a consequence of the assumption that C is a smooth submanifold of V). It follows that the set $\{r > 0 : \exp_x(r\nu_C(x)) \in$ C and $\nu_C(\exp_x(r\nu_C(x))) = -\frac{d}{dr}\exp_x(r\nu_C(x))\}$ does not contain 0 as an accumulation point. Since it is also closed, for any $x \in C$, the infimum defining $\breve{R}_+(x)$ is either attained and positive or infinite. Assume that $\breve{R}_+(D) < +\infty$ and let $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of elements of C such that $\breve{R}_+(x_n)$ converges toward $\breve{R}_+(D)$. By compactness, we can assume that $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges toward some $x \in C$. Passing to the limit in $\nu_C(\exp_{x_n}(2\breve{R}_+(x_n)\nu_C(x_n))) = -\frac{d}{dr}\exp_{x_n}(r\nu_C(x_n))|_{r=2\breve{R}_+(x_n)}$, we obtain $\nu_C(\exp_x(2\breve{R}_+(D)\nu_C(x))) = -\frac{d}{dr}\exp_x(r\nu_C(x))|_{r=2\breve{R}_+(D)}$. In particular $\breve{R}_+(D) > 0$, otherwise we would end up with $\nu_C(x) = -\nu_C(x)$. As a consequence, we get $\breve{R}_+(x) \leq$ $\breve{R}_+(D)$ and finally $\breve{R}_+(D) = \breve{R}_+(x)$, namely the infimum defining $\breve{R}_+(D)$ is attained and is positive. Then the mapping $\psi_{C,\breve{R}_+(D)}$ is not injective, since

$$\psi_{C,\breve{R}_{+}(D)}(x) = \exp_{x}(\breve{R}_{+}(D)\nu_{C}(x)) = \psi_{C,\breve{R}_{+}(D)}(\exp_{x}(2\breve{R}_{+}(D)\nu_{C}(x))),$$

where x is still a minimizer in the definition of $\breve{R}_+(D)$. Thus we get $\widehat{R}_+(D) \leq \breve{R}_+(D)$.

Next, assuming that $\widehat{R}_+(D) < \widetilde{R}_+(D)$, let us show conversely that $\widehat{R}_+(D) \geq 2$ $\breve{R}_+(D)$. Indeed, we can find distinct $x, x' \in C$ and $r \in (0, \widetilde{R}_+(D))$ such that $\psi_{C,r}(x) =$ $\psi_{C,r}(x')$. Since $r \in (0, \widetilde{R}_+(D))$, we can find a neighborhood A of x (respectively A' of x', disjoint from A) in C such that $\psi_{C,r}$ is a diffeomorphism of A (resp. A') on its image. If the tangent space $T_{\psi_{C,r}(x)}\psi_{C,r}(A)$ of $\psi_{C,r}(A)$ at $\psi_{C,r}(x)$ is not equal to the tangent space $T_{\psi_{C,r}(x')}\psi_{C,r}(A')$ of $\psi_{C,r}(A')$ at $\psi_{C,r}(x')$, then $\psi_{C,r}(A)$ and $\psi_{C,r}(A')$ are crossing each other at $\psi_{C,r}(x)$. Then by decreasing a little r into r' < r, $\psi_{C,r'}(A)$ and $\psi_{C,r'}(A')$ are still crossing each other. One can then find $y \in A$ and $y' \in A'$ such that $\psi_{C,r'}(y) = \psi_{C,r'}(y') \in \psi_{C,r}(A) \cap \psi_{C,r'}(A')$. This is in contradiction with the definition of $\widehat{R}_+(D)$. Thus we get $T_{\psi_{C,r}(x)}\psi_{C,r}(A) = T_{\psi_{C,r}(x')}\psi_{C,r}(A')$. Note that by parallel transport along the geodesic, $\frac{d}{dr} \exp_x(r\nu_C(x))$ is orthogonal to $T_{\psi_{C,r}(x)}\psi_{C,r}(A)$ and similarly for $\frac{d}{dr} \exp_{x'}(r\nu_C(x'))$. It follows that the two unit vectors $\frac{d}{dr} \exp_x(r\nu_C(x))$ and $\frac{d}{dr} \exp_{x'}(r\nu_C(x'))$ are proportional. They cannot be equal, otherwise by reversing time in the geodesics, we would end up with x = x'. So $\frac{d}{dr} \exp_x(r\nu_C(x)) =$ $-\frac{d}{dr}\exp_{x'}(r\nu_C(x'))$ and by considering the geodesic starting from $\psi_{C,r}(x)$ with speed $\frac{d}{dr} \exp_x(r\nu_C(x))$ and its reversed time geodesic, we get $\exp_x(2r\nu_C(x)) = x'$ and $\frac{d}{ds} \exp_x(s\nu_C(x))|_{s=2r} = -\nu_C(x'), \text{ namely } r \geq \breve{R}_+(D) \text{ and as a consequence, } \widehat{R}_+(D) \geq 0$ $\breve{R}_{+}(D)$, i.e., $\widehat{R}_{+}(D) = \breve{R}_{+}(D)$. \square

We now come to the specific situation of the Euclidean plane.

LEMMA 48. – Assume that $V = \mathbb{R}^2$, endowed with its usual Euclidean structure. For any $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and $r \in (R_-(D), R_+(D))$, we have

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)) = \frac{\rho_C(x)}{1 + r\rho_C(x)}.$$

In the context of Lemma 13, if α is given by

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \alpha(x) = \frac{\rho_C(x)}{1 - r\rho_C(x)}$$

then we have

$$\forall x \in \Psi(C, r), \qquad T_D \Psi(\cdot, r)[\alpha](x) = \rho_{\Psi(C, r)}(x).$$

Proof. – One way to compute the curvature $\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))$, for $x \in C$, is to consider a parametrization $(y(s))_s$ of $\Psi(C,r)$ by its length such that $y(0) = \psi_{C,r}(x)$. The quantity $\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))$ is then obtained by specializing the following formula at s = 0,

$$\partial_s \tau_{\Psi(C,r)}(y(s)) = -\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(y(s))\nu_{\Psi(C,r)}(y(s)),$$

where $\tau_{\Psi(C,r)}(y(s))$ is the unit vector $\partial_s y(s)$.

Let $(x(s))_s$ be a parametrization of C by its length, with x(0) = x. A parametrization of $\Psi(C, r)$ is then given by $(\psi_{C,r}(x(s)))_s$, but it is not by its length, due to the relation

$$\partial_s \psi_{C,r}(x(s)) = (1 + r\rho_C(x(s)))\tau_C(x(s))$$

To get a parametrization by the length, consider the time change $(\theta_s)_s$ given by

$$\int_0^{\theta_s} 1 + r\rho_C(\psi_{C,r}(x(u))) \, du = s$$

and define $y(s) = \psi_{C,r}(x(\theta_s))$. We compute

$$\partial_s y(s) = T\psi_{C,r}[\tau_C(x(\theta_s))]\partial_s \theta_s$$
$$= \tau_C(x(\theta_s)),$$

which is a unitary vector. We are thus led to differentiate

$$egin{aligned} \partial_s au_C(x(heta_s)) &= -
ho_C(x(heta_s))
u_C(x(heta_s))\partial_s heta_s \ &= -rac{
ho_C(x(heta_s))}{1 + r
ho_C(\psi_{C,r}(x(s)))}
u_C(x(heta_s)). \end{aligned}$$

This computation proves that

$$\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(y(s)) = \frac{\rho_C(x(\theta_s))}{1 + r\rho_C(\psi_{C,r}(x(s)))}$$

(and that $\nu_{\Psi(C,r)}(y(s)) = \nu_C(x(\theta_s))$, but that was already clear), which at s = 0 is the first assertion of the above lemma.

For the second one, note that for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and $r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$, we have

$$\forall x \in \Psi(C, r), \qquad \psi_{C, r}^{-1}(x) = \psi_{\Psi(C, r), -r}(x)$$

(note that $r \in (R_{-}(D), R_{+}(D))$ implies that $-r \in (R_{-}(\Psi(D, r)), R_{+}(\Psi(D, r)))$). It follows that for $x \in C$,

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(\psi_{C,r}^{-1}(x)) &= \frac{\rho_C(\psi_{C,r}^{-1}(x))}{1 - r\rho_C(\psi_{C,r}^{-1}(x))} \\ &= \frac{\rho_C(\psi_{\Psi(C,r),-r}(x))}{1 - r\rho_C(\psi_{\Psi(C,r),-r}(x))} \\ &= \frac{\frac{\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(x)}{1 + r\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(x)}}{1 - r\frac{\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(x)}{1 + r\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(x)}} \\ &= \rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(x). \end{aligned}$$

So Lemma 13 leads to the announced result.

REMARK 49. – Lemma 48 is only valid in dimension 2. If \mathbb{R}^2 is replaced by \mathbb{R}^n , with n > 2, recall that the mean curvature $\rho(x)$ at a point x from $C := \partial D$, where D is a non-empty, open, bounded, connected domain with smooth boundary, is given

by $\lambda_{1,C}(x) + \cdots + \lambda_{n-1,C}(x)$ (with the notation introduced in Lemma 45). Extending in the natural way the previous notions, it appears that

$$\forall x \in C, \forall m \in [[n-1]], \qquad \lambda_{m,\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)) = \frac{\lambda_{m,C}(x)}{1 + r\lambda_{m,C}(x)}$$

(as long as $r \in \mathbb{R}$ is such that $\min_{x \in C} 1 + r\lambda_{1,C}(x) > 0$). Thus to recover the mean curvature vector through the tangent mapping of $\Psi(\cdot, r)$, one must consider the vector α above D given by

$$orall x \in C, \qquad lpha(x) = \sum_{m \in \llbracket n-1
rangle} rac{\lambda_{m,C}(x)}{1 - r \lambda_{m,C}(x)}$$

(as long as $r \in \mathbb{R}$ is such that $\min_{x \in C} 1 - r\lambda_{n-1,C}(x) > 0$).

LEMMA 50. – Assume that V is a surface of constant curvature K, $D \in \mathcal{D}$ and $r \in (R_-, R_+)$ then we have:

• if K > 0 and $x \in C$,

$$\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)) = \frac{\left(\rho_C^2(x) - K\right)\frac{\sin(2\sqrt{K}r)}{2\sqrt{K}} + \rho_C(x)\cos\left(2\sqrt{K}r\right)}{\left(\cos\left(\sqrt{K}r\right) + \frac{\sin(\sqrt{K}r)}{\sqrt{K}}\rho_C(x)\right)^2},$$

• if K < 0 and $x \in C$,

$$\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)) = \frac{\left(\rho_C^2(x) - K\right)\frac{\sinh(2\sqrt{-K}r)}{2\sqrt{-K}} + \rho_C(x)\cosh(2\sqrt{-K}r)}{\left(\cosh\left(\sqrt{-K}r\right) + \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{-K}r)}{\sqrt{-K}}\rho_C(x)\right)^2}.$$

By letting K go to zero in both cases, we recover Lemma 48.

Proof. – We only give the proof when K > 0, the case K < 0 can be deduced by similar computations. For $x \in C$, let $(\gamma_x(s))_s$ be a curve parametrized by its arc length with values in C and $\gamma_x(0) = x$. Denote $\tau(s) \coloneqq \dot{\gamma}_x(s)$ its unitary tangent vectors. Consider for any t, s,

$$\begin{split} \gamma(s,t) &\coloneqq \exp_{\gamma_x(s)}(t\nu(\gamma_x(s))) \\ J_s(t) &\coloneqq \partial_s(\gamma(s,t)). \end{split}$$

As a variation of a geodesic (for all the following Riemannian geometry notions, see e.g., the book of Gallot, Hulin and Lafontaine [10]), $(J_s(t))_t$ is a Jacobi field. We have $J_s(0) = \tau(s)$ and $\dot{J}_s(0) = \nabla_{\partial_s} \nu(\gamma_x(s)) = \rho_C(\gamma_x(s))\tau(s)$. So there exist $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $J_s(t) = (\alpha \cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \beta \sin(\sqrt{K}t))//t_{t \mapsto \gamma(s,t)}\tau(s)$, where $//t_{t \mapsto \gamma(s,t)}$ is the parallel transport above the curve $t \mapsto \gamma(s, t)$. Adjusting with the initial condition, we get:

$$J_s(t) = \left(\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\rho_C(\gamma_x(s))}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}t)\right) //_{t \mapsto \gamma(s,t)}\tau(s).$$

For fixed and small enough t, to get the arc length parametrization of $s \mapsto \gamma(s, t)$, let us consider the time-change solution of the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} \theta_0^{(t)} = 0\\ \frac{d}{ds} \theta_s^{(t)} = \left(\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\rho_C(\gamma_x(\theta_s^{(t)}))}{\sqrt{K}} \sin(\sqrt{K}t) \right)^{-1}. \end{cases}$$

Let us denote $\tilde{\gamma}(s,u)\coloneqq\gamma(\theta_s^{(t)},u),$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} -\rho_{\Psi(C,t)}(\psi_{C,t}(\gamma_x(\theta_s^{(t)}))) &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_s} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,t), \nu_{\Psi(C,t)}(\tilde{\gamma}(s,t)) \\ &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_s} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,t), \frac{\partial}{\partial_u} \big|_{u=t} \tilde{\gamma}(s,u) \rangle \\ &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_s} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_u} \tilde{\gamma}(s,u) \rangle \big|_{u=t} \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\begin{split} -\rho_{\Psi(C,t)}(\psi_{C,t}(x)) &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_s|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_u} \tilde{\gamma}(0,u) \rangle \Big|_{u=t} \\ &= \int_0^t \nabla_{\partial_u} \langle \nabla_{\partial_s|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_u} \tilde{\gamma}(0,u) \rangle \, du \\ &+ \langle \nabla_{\partial_s|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,0), \partial_u|_{u=0} \tilde{\gamma}(0,u) \rangle. \end{split}$$

Recall that

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla_{\partial_s|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s,0), \partial_u|_{u=0} \tilde{\gamma}(0,u) \rangle &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_s|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} (\theta_s^{(t)}) \tau(\theta_s^{(t)}), \nu_C(x) \rangle \\ &= -\rho_C(x) (\frac{\partial}{\partial_s}|_{s=0} (\theta_s^{(t)}))^2 \\ &= -\frac{\rho_C(x)}{\left(\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\rho_C(x)}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}t)\right)^2} \end{split}$$

On the other hand, let $J_{\theta_s^{(t)}}(u) = \frac{\partial}{\partial_s} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u)$ and let $R(\cdot, \cdot)$ be the curvature tensor, since $u \mapsto \tilde{\gamma}(s, u)$ is a geodesic, we have

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{\partial_{u}} \langle \nabla_{\partial_{s}|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_{s}} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u)) \rangle \\ &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_{u}} \nabla_{\partial_{s}|_{s=0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_{s}} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \rangle \\ &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_{s}|_{s=0}} \nabla_{\partial_{u}} \frac{\partial}{\partial_{s}} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \rangle \\ &+ \langle R \Big(\frac{\partial}{\partial_{s}} \big|_{s=0} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \Big) \frac{\partial}{\partial_{s}} \big|_{s=0} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \rangle \\ &= \langle \nabla_{\partial_{s}|_{s=0}} \nabla_{\partial_{u}} J_{\theta_{s}^{(t)}}(u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \rangle + \langle R \Big(J_{\theta_{0}^{(t)}}(u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \Big) J_{\theta_{0}^{(t)}}(u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_{u}} \tilde{\gamma}(0, u) \rangle \end{split}$$

$$=-\langle \nabla_{\partial_u}J_{\theta_0^{(t)}}(u), \nabla_{\partial_u}J_{\theta_0^{(t)}}(u)\rangle + K\langle J_{\theta_0^{(t)}}(u), J_{\theta_0^{(t)}}(u)\rangle,$$

where in the last equality, we took into account that $\nabla_{\partial_s} \langle \nabla_{\partial_u} J_{\theta_s^{(t)}}(u), \frac{\partial}{\partial_u} \tilde{\gamma}(s, u) \rangle = 0.$ Since

$$\begin{split} J_{\theta_0^{(t)}}(u) &= \frac{\partial}{\partial_s}|_{s=0}(\theta_s^{(t)})(\cos(\sqrt{K}u) + \frac{\rho_C(x)}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}u))/\!/_{u\mapsto\tilde{\gamma}(0,u)}\tau(x)\\ \nabla_{\partial_u}J_{\theta_0^{(t)}}(u) &= \frac{\partial}{\partial_s}|_{s=0}(\theta_s^{(t)})(-\sqrt{K}\sin(\sqrt{K}u) + \rho_C(x)\cos(\sqrt{K}u))/\!/_{u\mapsto\tilde{\gamma}(0,u)}\tau(x)\\ \frac{d}{ds}|_{s=0}\theta_s^{(t)} &= \frac{1}{\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\rho_C(x)}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}t)}, \end{split}$$

we deduce:

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\Psi(C,t)}(\psi_{C,t}(x)) &= \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla_{\partial_{u}} J_{\theta_{0}^{(t)}}(u)\|^{2} - K \|J_{\theta_{0}^{(t)}}(u)\|^{2} \, du + \frac{\rho_{C}(x)}{\left(\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\rho_{C}(x)}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}t)\right)^{2}} \\ &= \frac{1}{(\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\rho_{C}(x)}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}t))^{2}} \Big(\int_{0}^{t} \left(-\sqrt{K}\sin(\sqrt{K}u) + \rho_{C}(x)\cos(\sqrt{K}u)\right)^{2} \\ &- K \left(\cos(\sqrt{K}u) + \frac{\rho_{C}(x)}{\sqrt{K}}\sin(\sqrt{K}u)\right)^{2} \, du + \rho_{C}(x)\Big) \\ &= \frac{\left(\rho_{C}^{2}(x) - K\right)\frac{\sin(2\sqrt{K}t)}{2\sqrt{K}} + \rho_{C}(x)\cos(2\sqrt{K}t)}{\left(\cos(\sqrt{K}t) + \frac{\sin(\sqrt{K}t)}{\sqrt{K}}\rho_{C}(x)\right)^{2}}. \end{split}$$

When the curvature is negative K < 0, except for the sign change in the second order differential equation for the Jacobi field, all the computations are similar. \Box

REMARK 51. – In the context of the above lemma, let V be a (n + 1)-dimensional manifold with constant curvature K > 0, $D \in \mathcal{D}$, $r \in (R_-, R_+)$ and $\lambda_{C,1}(x) \leq \ldots \leq \lambda_{C,n}(x)$ be the principal curvatures of C. It is not so clear how to control the principal curvatures of $\Psi(C, r)$ at the point $\psi_{C,r}(x)$, but for the mean curvature we have:

$$\rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)) = \sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{(\lambda_{C,l}^{2}(x) - K)\frac{\sin(2\sqrt{K}r)}{2\sqrt{K}} + \lambda_{C,l}(x)\cos(2\sqrt{K}r)}{\left(\cos(\sqrt{K}r) + \frac{\sin(\sqrt{K}r)}{\sqrt{K}}\lambda_{C,l}(x)\right)^{2}}.$$

A similar formula holds for K < 0.

5.2. Comparison of two Doss-Sussman approaches

Consider the Doss-Sussman method corresponding to the decomposition (57) of Remark 18. Similarly to (43) and (47), define in the present Riemannian Brownian setting,

$$\begin{aligned} \forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \, \forall x \in C, \qquad \widetilde{\rho}_C(x) \coloneqq \rho_C(x) - h(D) \\ \forall r > 0, \, \forall D \in \mathcal{D}_r, \, \forall x \in C, \qquad \widetilde{\alpha}_{C,r}(x) \coloneqq -\widetilde{\rho}_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x)). \end{aligned}$$

We are interested in constructing a family $(\tilde{G}_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ such that

(95)
$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{G}_0 = B(x, r_0) \\ \forall t \in [0, \tau), \, \forall x \in \partial \widetilde{G}_t, \qquad \partial_t x = \widetilde{\alpha}_{\partial \widetilde{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t}(x)\nu_{\partial \widetilde{G}_t}(x), \end{cases}$$

since the process $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ obtained by a particular composition of the normal flow Ψ and of the flow (95), namely

(96)
$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad D_t \coloneqq \Psi(\overline{G}_t, \sqrt{2B_t})$$

will provide a solution to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, as in Theorem 17.

In the following subsections we reformulate the results of Section 2, using this Doss-Sussman approach.

5.2.1. Euclidean spaces. – Let $V = \mathbb{R}^n$, fix $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $r_0 > 0$ and consider the initial condition $\widetilde{G}_0 = B(x_0, r_0)$ and $C_0 = \partial \widetilde{G}_0$. According to Lemma 48 (also by direct computation) we have for all $r > -r_0$,

$$\rho_{\Psi(C_0,r)}(\psi_{C_0,r}(x)) = (n-1)\frac{\frac{1}{r_0}}{1+\frac{r}{r_0}} = \frac{n-1}{r+r_0}$$
$$h(\Psi(D_0,r)) = \frac{2n}{r+r_0},$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\forall x \in C_0, \qquad \widetilde{\alpha}_{C_0,r}(x) = \frac{n+1}{r+r_0}.$$

Since the above quantity does not depend on x, the solution of (95) is radial and $\tilde{G}_t = B(x, \tilde{R}_t)$. According to (95), the radius starts with $\tilde{R}_0 = r_0$ and its evolution is described by

(97)
$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad d\widetilde{R}_t = \frac{n+1}{\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t} dt$$

this equation being well-defined up to the stopping time

$$\tau \coloneqq \inf\{t \ge 0 : \widetilde{R}_t = -\sqrt{2}B_t \quad \text{or} \quad \widetilde{R}_t = 0\}.$$

The condition $\widetilde{R}_t > 0$ comes from the fact that the normal flow $\Psi(C, r)$ is not defined when C is reduced to a singleton, and the condition $\widetilde{R}_t > -\sqrt{2}B_t$ comes from the fact that the normal flow $\Psi(\partial B(x_0, \widetilde{R}_t), r)$ is well-defined only for $r > -\widetilde{R}_t$. We get the following equation:

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad d(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t) = \frac{n+1}{\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t} dt + \sqrt{2}dB_t$$

so $(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)_{t \ge 0} = (\operatorname{Bes}_{2t}^{(n+2)}(r_0))_{t \ge 0}$, where $\operatorname{Bes}^{(n+2)}(r_0) \coloneqq (\operatorname{Bes}_t^{(n+2)}(r_0))_{t \ge 0}$ is a Bessel process of dimension $n + 2 \ge 2$ starting from $r_0 > 0$. For all $t \ge 0$, $\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t > 0$, so $(d\widetilde{R}_t)/(dt) > 0$ and $\widetilde{R}_t \ge r_0 > 0$, hence Equation (97) is well-defined for all times, i.e., $\tau = \infty$, and

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad D_t = \Psi(\tilde{G}_t, \sqrt{2}B_t) = B(x_0, \tilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)$$

Since 0 is a entrance boundary for the Bessel process of dimension n + 2, it is possible to solve the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and to the initial singleton condition $D_0 = \{x_0\}$ as follow: let $\operatorname{Bes}^{(n+2)}(0)$ be a Bessel process of dimension n + 2 starting at 0, and $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be the associated Brownian motion, namely such that

$$\begin{aligned} \forall t \ge 0, \qquad \operatorname{Bes}_{2t}^{(n+2)} &= \sqrt{2}B_t + \int_0^{2t} \frac{n+1}{2\operatorname{Bes}_s^{(n+2)}(0)} \, ds \\ &= \sqrt{2}B_t + \int_0^t \frac{n+1}{\operatorname{Bes}_{2s}^{(n+2)}(0)} \, ds. \end{aligned}$$

Consider for any $t \ge 0$,

$$D_t(x_0, \operatorname{Bes}_{2t}^{(n+2)})$$
$$\widetilde{G}_t \coloneqq \Psi^{-1}(D_t, \sqrt{2}B_t),$$

where the latter is well-defined since $\operatorname{Bes}_{2t}^{(n+2)} > \sqrt{2}B_t$ for all t > 0. It appears that

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad \operatorname{Bes}_{2t}^{(n+2)} = \sqrt{2}B_t + \int_0^t h(D_s) - \rho_{\partial D_s} \, ds,$$

hence

$$\forall x \in \partial \widetilde{G}_t, \qquad \partial_t x = (h(D_t) - \rho_{\Psi(\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t)}) \nu_{\partial G_t}(x)$$
$$= \widetilde{\alpha}_{\partial G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t}(x) \nu_{\partial G_t}(x).$$

According to Lemma 10 and (56), we have for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\begin{split} dF_f(D_t) &= dF_f(\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t)) \\ &= \left(\int_{\partial D_t} f(h(D_t) - \rho_{\partial D_t}) \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dt + \left(\int_{\partial D_t} f \, d\underline{\mu}\right) (\sqrt{2}dB_t) \\ &+ \left(\int_{\partial D_t} \left\langle \nabla f, \nu_{\partial D_t} \right\rangle \, d\underline{\mu} + \int_{\partial D_t} f \rho_{\partial D_t} \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dt \\ &= \left(\int_{\partial D_t} \left\langle \nabla f, \nu_{\partial D_t} \right\rangle + f h(D_t) \right) d\underline{\mu} \right) dt \\ &+ \sqrt{2} \left(\int_{\partial D_t} f \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dB_t \\ &= \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_t) \, dt + dM_t, \end{split}$$

where

$$(M_t)_{t\geq 0} \coloneqq \left(\sqrt{2} \int_0^t \left(\int_{\partial D_s} f \, d\underline{\mu}\right) dB_s\right)_{t\geq 0}$$

is a martingale. We get for all $t \ge s > 0$,

(98)
$$F_f(D_t) - F_f(D_s) = \int_s^t \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_u) \, du + M_t - M_s.$$

Since a.s.

$$\lim_{s \to 0_+} F_f(D_s) = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_s) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } n \ge 3, \\ 8\pi f(x_0) & \text{if } n = 2, \end{cases}$$

we can pass to the limit in (98) to get $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ solves the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and to the singleton initial condition $D_0 = \{x_0\}$.

Let us now consider the Doss-Sussman method relative to the decomposition (22), for simplicity only in the illustrative Euclidean plane $V = \mathbb{R}^2$. For $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $r_0 > 0$, we are interested in the initial condition $D_0 \coloneqq B(x_0, r_0)$. Starting with $(\theta_0, G_0) =$ $(0, D_0)$, we solve the evolution equation system (51) with respect to $(\theta_t, G_t)_{t \in [0, \tau_{r_0})}$. The solution $(G_t)_{t \in [0, \tau_{r_0})}$ remains radial, so let us write it as $G_t = B(x, \hat{R}_t)$ for all $t \in [0, \tau_{r_0})$. Equation (51) becomes:

(99)
$$\forall t \in [0, \tau_{r_0}), \qquad \begin{cases} d\hat{R}_t = -\frac{1}{\hat{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t} dt, & \hat{R}_0 = r_0 \\ d\theta_t = \frac{4}{\hat{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t} dt, & \theta_0 = 0, \end{cases}$$

where

It follows that $(\hat{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t)_{t \in [0, \tau_{r_0})} = (\operatorname{Bes}_{2t}^{(4)}(r_0))_{t \in [0, \tau_{r_0})}$ where $\operatorname{Bes}^{(4)}(r_0)$ is a Bessel process of dimension 4 starting from r_0 We deduce that $\tau_{r_0} = \inf\{t \ge 0, \hat{R}_t = 0\}$ and for any $t \in [0, \tau_{r_0})$,

$$\hat{R}_t - r_0 = -\int_0^t \frac{1}{\hat{R}_s + \sqrt{2}B_s + \theta_s} \, ds = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2t} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Bes}_s^{(4)}(r_0)} \, ds$$

Using the iterated logarithm law for the Bessel process for large times, we get

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Bes}_{s}^{(4)}(r_{0})} \, ds = +\infty.$$

It follows that necessarily, a.s. $\tau_{r_0} < \infty$ and more precisely that

(100)
$$2r_0 = \int_0^{2\tau_{r_0}} \frac{1}{\operatorname{Bes}_s^{(4)}(r_0)} \, ds.$$

Taking into account that for any t > 0, we have (a.s.)

$$\int_0^t \frac{1}{\text{Bes}_s^{(4)}(0)} \, ds \in (0, +\infty)$$

we can let r_0 go to 0_+ in (100) to see that

$$\lim_{r_0\to 0_+}\tau_{r_0}=0.$$

Thus, the Doss-Sussman method relative to the decomposition (22) does not enable to define the dual process for all times nor permits approximations of singleton initial condition, contrary to the Doss-Sussman method associated to the decomposition (57).

REMARK 52. – It may be surprising at first view that several decompositions of a generator lead to solutions defined on different time domains. This is due to the fact that the flows associated to the corresponding vector fields may not be defined for all times. To get a simple example on \mathbb{R}_+ , consider the case n = 1 in this subsection.

5.2.2. Hyperbolic spaces. – Let $V = \mathbb{H}^n$ be the hyperbolic space of dimension n. Fix some $x_0 \in \mathbb{H}^n$ and $r_0 > 0$ and consider the initial condition $\widetilde{G}_0 = D_0 \coloneqq B(x_0, r_0)$, and $C_0 = \partial \widetilde{G}_0$. We have for any $r > -r_0$,

$$\rho_{\Psi(C_0,r)}(\psi_{C_0,r}(x)) = (n-1) \coth(r+r_0)$$
$$h(\Psi(D_0,r)) = 2 \frac{\sinh^{n-1}(r+r_0)}{J(r+r_0)},$$

hence

$$\forall x \in C_0, \qquad \widetilde{\alpha}_{C_0,r}(x) = 2 \frac{\sinh^{n-1}(r+r_0)}{J(r+r_0)} - (n-1)\coth(r+r_0),$$

where

$$\forall r \ge 0, \qquad J(r) = \int_0^r \sinh^{n-1}(u) \, du.$$

The solution of (95) is radial, say $\widetilde{G}_t = B(x, \widetilde{R}_t)$, and we have, starting with $\widetilde{R}_0 = r_0$: (101)

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad d\widetilde{R}_t = \left(2\frac{\sinh^{n-1}(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)}{J(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)} - (n-1)\coth(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)\right)dt,$$

where

$$\tau = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \widetilde{R}_t = -\sqrt{2}B_t \quad \text{or} \quad \widetilde{R}_t = 0\}.$$

We get, for all $t \in [0, \tau)$,

$$d(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t) = \left(2\frac{\sinh^{n-1}(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)}{J(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)} - (n-1)\coth(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)\right)dt + \sqrt{2}dB_t.$$

Note that as r > 0 goes to zero,

$$2\frac{\sinh^{n-1}(r)}{J(r)} - (n-1)\coth(r) \sim \frac{n+1}{r}.$$

This behavior is sufficient to insure that 0 is an entrance boundary for the diffusion $(\tilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ (see for instance the classical computations of Chapter 15 of Karlin and Taylor [14]). In particular, since $(\tilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ starts from $r_0 > 0$, it will never reach 0 (a.s.). Furthermore, let us check that the radius process $(\tilde{R}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of $(\tilde{G}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is non-decreasing. Indeed, after an integration by parts, we obtain for all $r \geq 0$:

$$\int_0^r \sinh^{n-1}(u) \, du = \int_0^{\sinh(r)} \frac{v^{n-1}}{\sqrt{1+v^2}} \, dv$$
$$= \frac{\sinh^n(r)}{n\cosh(r)} + \int_0^{\sinh(r)} \frac{v^{n+1}}{n\sqrt{1+v^2}(1+v^2)} \, dv$$
$$\leq \frac{\sinh^n(r)}{n\cosh(r)} + \frac{1}{n} \int_0^{\sinh(r)} \frac{v^{n-1}}{\sqrt{1+v^2}} \, dv.$$

Hence we have for any $r \ge 0$,

$$\int_0^r \sinh^{n-1}(u) \, du \le \frac{\sinh^n(r)}{(n-1)\cosh(r)}$$

namely

$$\frac{\sinh^{n-1}(r)}{J(r)} \ge (n-1)\coth(r)$$

and

$$\frac{2\sinh^{n-1}(r)}{J(r)} - (n-1)\coth(r) \ge \frac{\sinh^{n-1}(r)}{J(r)} \ge 0.$$

This non-negativity and (101) show that $(\widetilde{R}_t)_{t>0}$ is non-decreasing.

From these observations, we get the solution of (101) is defined for all times, i.e., $\tau = \infty$, and finally

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad D_t = B(x_0, \overline{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)$$

provides a solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and starting from $B(x_0, r_0)$.

As in the Euclidean case, by letting r_0 go to zero, we solve the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ starting from the singleton $\{x_0\}$.

5.2.3. Spherical spaces. – Let $V = \mathbb{S}^n$ be the sphere of dimension $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Fix $x_0 \in \mathbb{S}^n$ and $r_0 \in (0, \pi)$, and consider the initial condition $\widetilde{G}_0 = B(x_0, r_0)$, and $C_0 = \partial \widetilde{G}_0$. We have for any $r \in (-r_0, \pi - r_0)$ (note that the normal flow in not well-defined for all positive times):

$$\widetilde{\alpha}_{C_0,r}(x) = 2\frac{\sin^{n-1}(r+r_0)}{I(r+r_0)} - (n-1)\cot(r+r_0),$$

where $I(s) = \int_0^s \sin^{n-1}(u) \, du$, for any $s \in [0, \pi]$.

The solution of (95) is radial, say $\widetilde{G}_t = B(x, \widetilde{R}_t)$. According to (95), starting from $\widetilde{R}_0 = r_0$, we have

(102)
$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad d\widetilde{R}_t = \left(2\frac{\sin^{n-1}(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)}{J(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)} - (n-1)\cot(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)\right)dt,$$

where

$$\tau = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \widetilde{R}_t = \pi - \sqrt{2}B_t \text{ or } \widetilde{R}_t = -\sqrt{2}B_t \text{ or } \widetilde{R}_t = 0\}$$

We get

$$\begin{aligned} \forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad d(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t) \\ = \left(2\frac{\sin^{n-1}(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)}{I(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)} - (n-1)\cot(\widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)\right)dt + \sqrt{2}dB_t \end{aligned}$$

Again, we have as r goes to 0_+ ,

$$2\frac{\sin^{n-1}(r)}{I(r)} - (n-1)\cot(r) \sim \frac{n+1}{r}$$

and this behavior is sufficient to get that 0 is an entrance boundary for the diffusion $(\tilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t)_{t \ge 0}$. It follows that it never hits 0. To show that $(\tilde{R}_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is non-decreasing, let us check that

$$\forall r \in (0,\pi), \qquad 2\frac{\sin^{n-1}(r)}{I(r)} - (n-1)\cot(r) \ge 0.$$

Observe that it is clearly satisfied for $r \in [\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi)$. For $r \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$, we have:

$$\int_0^r \sin^{n-1}(u) \, du = \int_0^{\sin(r)} \frac{v^{n-1}}{\sqrt{1-v^2}} \, dv$$
$$= \frac{\sin^n(r)}{n\cos(r)} - \int_0^{\sin(r)} \frac{v^{n+1}}{n\sqrt{1-v^2}(1-v^2)} \, dv$$
$$\leq \frac{\sin^n(r)}{n\cos(r)} \leq \frac{\sin^n(r)}{(n-1)\cos(r)}.$$

We deduce that $r \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$,

$$2\frac{\sin^{n-1}(r)}{I(r)} - (n-1)\cot(r) \ge \frac{\sin^{n-1}(r)}{I(r)} \ge 0.$$

From these considerations, it appears that the solution to (102) is well-defined until the (a.s. finite) stopping time

$$\tau = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t = \pi\}$$

and we have

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau], \qquad D_t = B(x, \widetilde{R}_t + \sqrt{2}B_t).$$

In fact τ is the hitting time of the whole sphere \mathbb{S}^n by $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$. Since for all $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^n)$, we have $\mathfrak{L}[F_f](\mathbb{S}^n) = 0$, it is natural to let the latter process be absorbed at \mathbb{S}^n , namely to extend it by

$$\forall t \geq \tau, \qquad D_t \coloneqq \mathbb{S}^n$$

so that $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ provides a solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and starting from $B(x_0, r_0)$.

As in the Euclidean and hyperbolic cases, the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and starting from the singleton $\{x_0\}$ is solved by letting r_0 go to zero.

CHAPTER 6

ABOUT THE MARTINGALE PROBLEMS ASSOCIATED TO \mathfrak{L}

After proving Theorem 5, we will show that the martingales naturally associated to \mathfrak{L} are directed by a unique Brownian motion, property corresponding to the radial evolution (3). Next, we will enrich the set of elementary observables and see in the particular example of the diffusion X consisting of the Brownian motion in the Euclidean plane how the enriched martingale problem is sufficient to deduce that the dual domain-valued process ends up looking like a big disk, at least if it can be defined for all times.

6.1. Proof of Theorem 5

As explained above Theorem 5, we assume we are given a stochastic process $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ taking values in \mathcal{G} for positive times and solution to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, defined as in the introduction, except that the elementary observables are defined on \mathcal{G} instead of \mathcal{D} . Despite this generalization, the following arguments are similar to those given in the one-dimensional case treated in [19].

Let a test function $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ be given and consider the process $(S_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad S_t \coloneqq \mathfrak{f}(\mu(D_t)) \\ &= \mathfrak{f}(F_1(D_t)). \end{aligned}$$

Since the mapping $\mathcal{G} \ni D \mapsto \mathfrak{f}(F_1(D))$ belongs to \mathfrak{D} , there exists a local martingale $(M_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ such that for all $t \in [0,\tau)$,

(103)
$$S_t = S_0 + \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{f} \circ F_1](D_s) \, ds + M_t$$

By definition of \mathfrak{L} , we have

$$\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{f} \circ F_1](D) = \mathfrak{f}'(F_1)\mathfrak{L}[F_1] + \mathfrak{f}''(F_1)\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1].$$

Recall that in the proof of Theorem 3, we computed, for any $D \in \mathcal{G}$, with $C \coloneqq \partial D$,

(104)
$$\mathfrak{L}[F_1](D) = 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(C)^2}{\mu(D)}$$

(105)
$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1](D) = \underline{\mu}(C)^2$$

so that

$$\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{f} \circ F_1](D) = \underline{\mu}(C)^2 \left(\mathfrak{f}''(F_1) + 2\frac{\mathfrak{f}'(F_1)}{F_1}\right)(D)$$
$$= 2\underline{\mu}(C)^2 \mathcal{L}[\mathfrak{f}](F_1(D)),$$

where

$$\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^*_+, \qquad \mathcal{L} \coloneqq \frac{1}{2}\partial^2 + \frac{1}{x}\partial$$

is the generator of the Bessel process of dimension 3 on \mathbb{R}_+ (see e.g., Chapter 11 of the book [26] of Revuz and Yor). Thus we obtain, for all $t \in [0, \tau)$,

$$S_t = S_0 + 2 \int_0^t \underline{\mu}(C_s)^2 \mathcal{L}[\mathfrak{f}](\mu(D_s)) \, ds + M_t.$$

It leads us to introduce the time change described by (12) and (13) and

$$\forall t \in [0,\varsigma), \qquad R_t \coloneqq \mu(D_{\theta(t)})$$

to get $(R_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma)}$ is a stopped continuous solution to the martingale problem associated to the generator $(\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+), \mathcal{L})$. It follows that $(R_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma)}$ is a stopped Bessel process of dimension 3. For completeness, let us just recall the underlying argument.

Define for $t \in [0, \varsigma)$,

$$W_t \coloneqq R_t - R_0 - \int_0^t \frac{1}{R_s} \, ds.$$

According to the martingale problem, the process $(W_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma)}$ is a continuous local martingale whose bracket is given by

$$\forall t \in [0, \varsigma), \qquad \langle W \rangle_t = \int_0^t \Gamma_{\mathcal{L}}[\mathrm{id}, \mathrm{id}](R_s) \, ds$$

where $\Gamma_{\mathcal{L}}$ is the carré du champ operator associated to \mathcal{L} and id : $\mathbb{R}^*_+ \ni x \mapsto x$ is the identity mapping on \mathbb{R}^*_+ . Since $\Gamma_{\mathcal{L}}[\mathrm{id}, \mathrm{id}] = (\mathrm{id}')^2 \equiv 1$, we get

$$\forall t \in [0,\varsigma), \qquad \langle W \rangle_t = t$$

so Lévy's theorem shows that $(W_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma)}$ is a stopped Brownian motion. Then $(R_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma)}$ is solution to the stochastic differential solution

$$\forall t \in [0, \varsigma), \qquad dR_t = dW_t + \frac{1}{R_t}dt,$$

which admits a unique strong solution, once R_0 is given. In particular the law of $(R_t)_{t \in [0,\varsigma)}$ is determined by the initial distribution of R_0 , it is the Bessel process of dimension 3 with initial law $\mathcal{L}(X_0)$.

6.2. The stochastic differential equation associated with the martingale problem

With the notation of the above proof, for $\mathfrak{f} = \mathrm{id}$ in (103), we get $M_{\theta_t} = W_t$ for $t \in [0, \varepsilon)$, or

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad M_t = W_{\theta_t^{-1}}$$

where θ^{-1} : $[0, \tau) \to [0, \varepsilon)$ is the inverse mapping of θ given in (13). In particular, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \forall \, t \in [0,\tau), \qquad \left< M \right>_t &= \theta_t^{-1} \\ &= 2 \int_0^t \underline{\mu} (C_s)^2 \, ds \end{aligned}$$

so that we can find a Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ (up to enlarging the underlying probability space) such that

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad M_t = \sqrt{2} \int_0^t \underline{\mu}(C_s) \, dB_s.$$

Namely we have

(106)
$$\forall t \in [0,\tau), \qquad d\mu(D_t) = 2\frac{\underline{\mu}(C_t)^2}{\mu(D_t)} dt + \sqrt{2\underline{\mu}(C_t)} dB_t.$$

The same Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is driving all the $(F_f(D_t))_{t\in[0,\tau)}$, for all $f\in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, and even more:

PROPOSITION 53. – For all $F \in \mathfrak{D}$, we have (107)

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad \mathfrak{F}(D_t) = \mathfrak{F}(D_0) + \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}](D_s) \, ds + \sqrt{2} \int_0^t \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}]}(D_s) \, dB_s,$$

where the determination of the sign of $\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{F}]}$ is

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{F}]}(D) \coloneqq \sum_{l \in [[n]]} \partial_l \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \dots, F_{f_n})(D) \int_C f_l \, do$$

when $\mathfrak{F} = \mathfrak{f}(F_{f_1}, \ldots, F_{f_n})$, with the notation of the introduction.

Proof. – By definition of $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and due to the usual rules of continuous stochastic calculus (see for instance the book [26] of Revuz and Yor), it is sufficient to check the above formula on the elementary observables, namely that for all $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$,

$$\forall t \in [0,\tau), \qquad F_f(D_t) = F_f(D_0) + \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_s) \, ds + \sqrt{2} \int_0^t \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_f]}(D_s) \, dB_s$$

with the determination of sign: $\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_f]} \coloneqq \int f \, d\sigma$. From the martingale problem, we know that for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, the process

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad M_t^f \coloneqq F_f(D_t) - F_f(D_0) - \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_s) \, ds$$

is a local martingale whose bracket is given by

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad \left\langle M^f \right\rangle_t \coloneqq 2 \int_0^t \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_f](D_s) \, ds.$$

So our goal is to check that

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad M_t^f = \int_0^t \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_f]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1]}} (D_s) \, dM_s^1.$$

Since all the considered martingales start from 0, it is equivalent to show that

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad \left\langle M_{\cdot}^{f} - \int_{0}^{\cdot} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]}} (D_{s}) \, dM_{s}^{1} \right\rangle_{t} = 0.$$

Developing by polarization the l.h.s., we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\langle M^{f} \right\rangle_{t} + \left\langle \int_{0}^{\cdot} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]}} (D_{s}) dM_{s}^{1} \right\rangle_{t} - 2 \left\langle M^{f}, \int_{0}^{\cdot} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]}} (D_{s}) dM_{s}^{1} \right\rangle_{t} \\ &= \left\langle M^{f} \right\rangle_{t} + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]} (D_{s}) d\left\langle M^{1} \right\rangle_{s} - 2 \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]}} (D_{s}) d\left\langle M^{f}, M^{1} \right\rangle_{s} \\ &= 2 \int_{0}^{t} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}] (D_{s}) ds + 2 \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]} (D_{s}) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}] (D_{s}) ds \\ &- 4 \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]}} (D_{s}) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{1}] (D_{s}) ds \\ &= 4 \int_{0}^{t} \left(\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}] - \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f}, F_{f}]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{1}]}} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1}, F_{f}] \right) (D_{s}) ds \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

where we used that for any $D \in \mathcal{G}$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_f] - \frac{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f, F_f]}}{\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1]}} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1] \end{pmatrix} (D) = \left(\int_C f \, d\underline{\mu} \right)^2 - \frac{\int_C f \, d\underline{\mu}}{\underline{\mu}(C)} \underline{\mu}(C) \int_C f \, d\underline{\mu}$$
$$= 0. \qquad \Box$$

REMARK 54. – The stopped standard Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ in (107) is (a.s.) on the random interval $[0,\tau)$, the same as the one appearing in Theorem 17, when above, one considers the stochastic process $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ constructed in Theorem 17. This is a consequence, on one hand of (106), which enables to recover $(B_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ from $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$, since $B_0 = 0$ and $\underline{\mu}(C_t) > 0$ for $t \in [0,\tau)$, and on the other hand of the fact that in the proof of Theorem 17, we have

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad M_t = \sqrt{2} \int_0^t \left(\int_{C_s} f \, d\underline{\mu} \right) dB_s,$$

so by taking f = 1, we can recover $(B_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ in the same way.

In the same spirit as Theorem 5 and similarly to [19], we also have

PROPOSITION 55. – Under the setting of Theorem 5, the process $(1/\mu(D_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a positive local martingale. It follows that $\lim_{t\to\tau^-} \mu(D_t)$ exists a.s. in $(0, +\infty]$.

Proof. – Consider the mapping $\mathfrak{F} : \mathcal{G} \ni D \mapsto 1/\mu(D)$, which belongs to \mathfrak{D} . To see that $(1/\mu(D_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a local martingale, it is sufficient to check that $\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}] = 0$. By definition,

$$\begin{aligned} \forall D \in \mathcal{G}, \qquad \mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}](D) &= -\frac{1}{F_1^2(D)} \mathfrak{L}[F_1](D) + \frac{2}{F_1^3(D)} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1, F_1](D) \\ &= -\frac{1}{F_1^2(D)} \frac{\mu(C)^2}{\mu(D)} + \frac{2}{F_1^3(D)} \mu(C)^2 \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

where (104) and (105) were taken into account.

Thus as a positive submartingale $1/\mu(D_t)$, converges a.s. as t goes to τ from below, to a limit belonging to $[0, +\infty)$. By taking the inverse, we get the announced result. \Box

6.3. Enrichment of the elementary observables

Up to now, we only considered elementary observables of type (4), since they were sufficient for our purposes, but other functionals are interesting to go further. To simplify the presentation, we restrict ourselves to the situation of the Brownian motion on a Riemannian manifold, namely we take b = 0, so that $\mu = \lambda$, $\underline{\mu} = \sigma$ and $\rho^b = \rho$. The general case can be treated similarly (see the manipulations of the proof of Theorem 3).

The first of new elementary observables we would like to add have the following form, for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$,

(108)
$$G_f : \mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto G_f(D) \coloneqq \int_C f \, d\sigma.$$

Indeed, the action (6) of the generator \mathfrak{L} can then be rewritten, taking into account Stokes' Theorem (21), as

$$\begin{aligned} \forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D) &= \int_C \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle + 2 \frac{\sigma(C)}{\sigma(D)} f \, d\sigma \\ &= F_{\triangle f}(D) + 2 \frac{G_1(D)G_f(D)}{F_1(D)}, \end{aligned}$$

so it seems natural to study the evolution of $(G_f(D_t))_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, when $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$ is a solution to the martingale problem associated to \mathfrak{L} .

Unfortunately, it seems difficult to work directly from this martingale problem, while we still don't know if it is well-posed. Our hope is that by enriching the domain of functionals to which it is applied, we should be more able to obtain that it is wellposed. So we rather consider the process $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau)}$ given by (52) and construct new martingales for it. More precisely, up to reducing τ (replacing it by its minimum with the first time D_t is no longer included into a nice tubular neighborhood of D_0), we will assume that D_{τ} is defined and belong to \mathcal{D} . Before investigating the functionals of the form (108), we are interested in the composition of the process $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ with the normal flow, which already played a crucial role in the construction of $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau]}$. So define

(109)
$$\mathcal{R} \coloneqq \{r \in \mathbb{R} : \forall t \in [0, \tau], D_t \in \mathcal{D}_r\}$$
$$\mathcal{P}_t^{(r)} \coloneqq \Psi(D_t, r)$$
$$= \Psi(G_t, \sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t + r),$$

where $(G_t)_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ and $(\theta_t)_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ are defined as in (51). For any $r \in \mathbb{R}$, consider

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}_r, \forall x \in C, \qquad \alpha_C^{(r)}(x) \coloneqq \rho_C(x) - \rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))$$

and the operator $\mathfrak{L}^{(r)}$ acting on \mathcal{D}_{-r} via

(110)
$$\begin{aligned} \forall f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V), \forall D \in \mathcal{D}_{-r}, \\ \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}[F_f](D) &= \int_C \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle + \left(2 \frac{\sigma(\Psi(C, -r))}{\lambda(\Psi(D, -r))} + \alpha_C^{(-r)} \right) f \, d\sigma \\ &= \int_D \bigtriangleup f \, d\lambda + 2 \frac{\sigma(\Psi(C, -r)) \int_C f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(\Psi(D, -r))} + \int_C \alpha_C^{(-r)} f \, d\sigma. \end{aligned}$$

Its interest comes from:

LEMMA 56. – For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, $t \in [0, \tau]$ and $r \in \mathcal{R}$, we have

$$F_f(D_t^{(r)}) = F_f(D_0^{(r)}) + \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}[F_f](D_s^{(r)}) \, ds + \sqrt{2} \int_0^t G_f(D_s^{(r)}) \, dB_s$$

Proof. – The arguments are similar to those of the proof of Theorem 17, which lead to

$$\begin{split} dF_f(\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2B_t}+\theta_t+r)) \\ &= -\left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r)}\rho_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)}\circ\psi_{\partial G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t}\circ\psi_{\partial G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r}^{-1}f\,d\sigma\right)dt \\ &+ \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r)}f\,d\sigma\right)(\sqrt{2}dB_t+\partial_t\theta_tdt) \\ &+ \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r)}\langle\nu,\nabla f\rangle\,d\sigma + \int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r)}\rho f\,d\sigma\right)dt \\ &= - \left(\int_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r)}\rho_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t)}\circ\psi_{\partial\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t+\theta_t+r),-r}f\,d\sigma\right)dt \end{split}$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

$$\begin{split} &+ \left(\int_{\partial \Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t + r)} \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \rho f + \partial_t \theta_t f \, d\sigma \right) dt \\ &+ \sqrt{2} \left(\int_{\partial \Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t + r)} f \, d\sigma \right) dB_t \\ &= \left(\int_{\partial \Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t + r)} \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \left(h(\Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t)) + \alpha_{\partial D_t^{(r)}}^{(-r)} \right) f \, d\sigma \right) dt \\ &+ \sqrt{2} \left(\int_{\partial \Psi(G_t,\sqrt{2}B_t + \theta_t + r)} f \, d\sigma \right) dB_t \\ &= \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}[F_f](D_t^{(r)}) \, dt + \sqrt{2} \left(\int_{\partial D_t^{(r)}} f \, d\sigma \right) dB_t. \end{split}$$

For any $D \in \mathcal{D}$, define

(111)
$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \rho_C^{(1)}(x) \coloneqq \partial_r \rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))|_{r=0}$$
$$= -\partial_r \alpha_C^{(r)}(x)|_{r=0}$$
$$= \partial_r \alpha_C^{(-r)}(x)|_{r=0}.$$

By differentiation with respect to r at 0 in Lemma 56, we get:

Proposition 57. – For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, we have $\forall t \in [0, \tau]$,

$$G_f(D_t) = G_f(D_0) + \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}[G_f](D_s) \, ds + \sqrt{2} \int_0^t \left(\int_{C_s} \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle + \rho f \, d\sigma \right) dB_s,$$

where

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \mathfrak{L}[G_f](D) \coloneqq \int_C \triangle f + 2\frac{\sigma(C)}{\lambda(D)} \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \left(2\frac{\sigma(C)}{\lambda(D)}\rho + \rho^{(1)}\right) f \, d\sigma.$$

Proof. – Consider the evolution described in Lemma 56. Certain terms are very easy to differentiate with respect to r: according to the first part of Lemma 10

$$\forall t \in [0, \tau], \qquad \partial_r F_f[D_t^{(r)}]|_{r=0} = G_f[D_t].$$

For the Brownian part, use the second part of Lemma 10:

$$\forall t \in [0,\tau], \qquad \partial_r \int_{\partial D_t^{(r)}} f \, d\sigma = \int_{C_t} \langle \nabla f, \nu \rangle + \rho f \, d\sigma.$$

For the remaining term, we decompose the derivative in

$$\partial_r \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}[F_f](D_t^{(r)})|_{r=0} = (\partial_r \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}|_{r=0})[F_f](D_t) + \partial_r \mathfrak{L}[F_f](D_t^{(r)})|_{r=0}.$$

Use (110) for both terms of the r.h.s. For the first one, we get for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$(\partial_r \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}|_{r=0})[F_f](D) = -2\frac{\int \rho \, d\sigma \int_C f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(D)} + 2\frac{\sigma(C)^2 \int_C f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(D)^2} + \int_C \rho^{(1)} f \, d\sigma.$$

For the second one, again for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$, taking into account that $\alpha_C^{(0)} \equiv 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} \partial_r \mathfrak{L}[F_f](\Psi(D,r))|_{r=0} &= \partial_r \left. \int_{\Psi(D,r)} \bigtriangleup f \, d\lambda + 2 \frac{\sigma(\Psi(C,r)) \int_{\Psi(C,r)} f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(\Psi(D,r))} \right|_{r=0} \\ &= \int_C \bigtriangleup f \, d\sigma + 2 \frac{\int \rho \, d\sigma \int_C f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(D)} - 2 \frac{\sigma(C)^2 \int_C f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(D)^2} \\ &+ 2 \frac{\sigma(C) \int_C \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \rho f \, d\sigma}{\lambda(D)}. \end{split}$$

Putting together these computations, we obtain

$$\partial_r \mathfrak{L}^{(r)}[F_f](D_t^{(r)})|_{r=0} = \int_C \Delta f + \rho^{(1)} f \, d\sigma + 2\frac{\sigma(C)}{\lambda(D)} \int_C \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \rho f \, d\sigma,$$

which leads to the definition of $L[G_f]$.

Note that for any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ and $D \in \mathcal{D}$, we have

$$\mathfrak{L}[G_f](D) = G_{\triangle f}(D) + 2\frac{G_1(D)}{F_1(D)}F_{\triangle f}(D) + 2\frac{G_1(D)}{F_1(D)}\int_C \rho f \,d\sigma + \int_C \rho^{(1)} f \,d\sigma$$

but neither $\int_C \rho f \, d\sigma$ nor $\int_C \rho^{(1)} f \, d\sigma$ are of the form F_g of G_g for some $g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$. We are thus lead to introduce two new types of elementary observables:

$$H_f : \mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto H_f(D) \coloneqq \int_C \rho f \, d\sigma$$
$$H_f^{(1)} : \mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto H_f(D) \coloneqq \int_C \rho^{(1)} f \, d\sigma$$

Investigating the evolution of these observables, one will have to consider more generally for any $l \in \mathbb{Z}_+$

(112)
$$H_f^{(l)} : \mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto H_f(D) \coloneqq \int_C \rho^{(l)} f \, d,$$

where by iteration, for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+$,

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \rho_C^{(n+1)}(x) \coloneqq \partial_r \rho_{\Psi(C,r)}^{(n)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))|_{r=0}.$$

Probably other functionals will also appear (such as $\mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto \int_C \rho \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle \, d\sigma$ or $\mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto \int_C \rho^2 f \, d\sigma$, see the next lemma), but the study of these iterations, as well as their impact on the well-posedness of the corresponding martingale problems, is left for a future work.

In the same spirit, we remark that the introduction of $\rho^{(1)}$ and $H^{(1)}$ are already needed to consider a third derivative in Lemma 10:

LEMMA 58. – For any $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ and $D \in \mathcal{D}$, we have

$$\partial_r H_f(\Psi(D,r))|_{r=0} = \int_C \rho \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \rho^{(1)} f + \rho^2 f \, d\sigma.$$

It follows that

$$\partial_r^3 F_f(D)|_{r=0} = \int_C \Delta f + \rho \langle \nu, \nabla f \rangle + \rho^{(1)} f + \rho^2 f \, d\sigma.$$

Proof. – The domain $D \in \mathcal{D}$ being fixed, consider a tubular neighborhood T of D such that for any $y \in T$, there exists a unique $r \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x \in C$ such that $y = \psi_{C,r}(x)$. Consider then the mapping $\tilde{\rho} : T \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $\tilde{\rho}(y) = \rho_{\Psi(C,r)}(y)$. With this definition, we have for r sufficiently small, $H_f(\Psi(D,r)) = G_{\tilde{\rho}f}(\Psi(D,r))$. It follows that

$$\begin{split} \partial_r H_f(\Psi(D,r))|_{r=0} &= \partial_r G_{\widetilde{\rho}f}(\Psi(D,r)) \\ &= \int_C \left\langle \nu, \nabla(\widetilde{\rho}f) \right\rangle + \rho \widetilde{\rho} f \, d\sigma. \end{split}$$

It remains to note that on C, we have

$$egin{aligned} &\langle
u,
abla(\widetilde{
ho}f)
angle &= \widetilde{
ho} \left\langle
u,
abla f
angle + f \left\langle
u,
abla \widetilde{
ho}
ight
angle \ &=
ho \left\langle
u,
abla f
angle + f
ho^{(1)} \end{aligned}$$

to get the first identity.

The second one comes from the rewriting, in our present context, of the second equality in Lemma 10 as

$$\partial_r^2 F_f(\Psi(D,r)) = \int_{\Psi(D,r)} \Delta f \, d\lambda + \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \rho f \, d\sigma$$
$$= F_{\Delta f}(\Psi(D,r)) + H_f(\Psi(D,r))$$

and by differentiating with respect to r at 0.

The case f = 1 is particularly interesting, since $G_1(D) = \sigma(C)$ for any $D \in \mathcal{D}$. The quantity $\int_C \rho \, d\sigma$ is called the total mean curvature of C and according to the previous lemma, $\int_C \rho^{(1)} + \rho^2 \, d\sigma$ is the derivative of the total mean curvature along the normal radial flow. In the situation of constant curvature in dimension 2, the terms $\rho^{(1)}$ and ρ^2 are in fact comparable:

LEMMA 59. – Assume that V is a surface of constant curvature $K \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we have

$$\forall D \in \mathcal{D}, \qquad \rho^{(1)} = -\rho^2 - K.$$

Proof. – When V is the Euclidean plane, the result follows by differentiating at r = 0 the first formula given in Lemma 48. The other null curvature situations (cylinders and flat torus) can be treated similarly, since they can be up-lifted to their locally isometric covering \mathbb{R}^2 .

For the other constant curvature cases, use instead Lemma 50 of Subsection 5.1. \Box

REMARK 60. - (a) When V is the Euclidean plane, it follows from Lemma 59 that

$$\partial_r \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \rho \, d\sigma = 0,$$

namely locally the normal radial flow leaves the total curvature of a smooth curve invariant. This is in fact a consequence of Hopf's Umlaufsatz Theorem, stating that for any piecewise differentiable curve C in \mathbb{R}^2

(113)
$$\int_C \rho \, d\sigma = 2\pi$$

(with an appropriate convention for the jumps of the tangent vectors, where $\rho d\sigma$ has to be seen as the difference of angles times a Dirac mass at the considered singular point). When C is the smooth boundary of a convex domain, this can be obtained by letting r go to $+\infty$ in

$$\int_C \rho \, d\sigma = \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \rho \, d\sigma$$

and by remarking that for large r > 0, $\Psi(C, r)$ is quite close to a circle of radius r.

It would be interesting to see if this argument could be adapted to treat the general case.

(b) Consider the Euclidean space (or any null curvature space) of dimension larger than 2. From Remark (49), we deduce that

$$\rho^{(1)}(x) = -\sum_{m \in [[n-1]]} \lambda_m^2(x)$$

More generally, when V has a constant sectional curvature K, we get

$$\rho^{(1)}(x) = -K(n-1) - \sum_{m \in [[n-1]]} \lambda_{m,C}^2(x).$$

Recall that the Gauss curvature at $x \in C$ is given by

$$\kappa_C(x) = \prod_{m \in [[n-1]]} \lambda_{m,C}(x).$$

Similarly to (111), we can introduce

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \kappa_C^{(1)}(x) \coloneqq \partial_r \kappa_{\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))|_{r=0}$$

and, if one has indexed in a coherent (e.g., nondecreasing) way the eigenvalues of the second fundamental form,

$$\forall x \in C, \forall m \in [[n-1]], \qquad \lambda_{m,C}^{(1)}(x) \coloneqq \partial_r \lambda_{m,\Psi(C,r)}(\psi_{C,r}(x))|_{r=0}.$$

Then we have, at least if none of the eigenvalues vanishes,

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \kappa_C^{(1)}(x) = \kappa_C(x) \sum_{m \in [[n-1]]} \frac{\lambda_{m,C}^{(1)}}{\lambda_{m,C}}(x).$$

As in the proof of Lemma 58, we deduce that

(114)
$$\partial_r \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \kappa \, d\sigma \bigg|_{r=0} = \int_C \kappa^{(1)} + \rho \kappa \, d\sigma.$$

The last two formulas are valid on any Riemannian manifold V of dimension n.

But when V has a constant sectional curvature K, since

$$\forall x \in C, \forall m \in [[n-1]], \qquad \lambda_{m,C}^{(1)}(x) = -K - \lambda_{m,C}^2$$

we obtain that, at least if none of the eigenvalues vanishes,

$$\forall x \in C, \qquad \kappa_C^{(1)}(x) = -\left(\rho_C(x) + K \sum_{m \in [[n-1]]} \frac{1}{\lambda_{m,C}(x)}\right) \kappa_C(x).$$

Integrating this relation with respect to σ on C, it follows from (114) that

$$\partial_r \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \kappa_C \, d\sigma \bigg|_{r=0} = -K \int_C \sum_{m \in [[n-1]]} \frac{1}{\lambda_{m,C}} \kappa_C \, d\sigma.$$

When n = 3, we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{1,C}} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{2,C}}\right)\kappa_C = \lambda_{1,C} + \lambda_{2,C}$$
$$= \rho_C$$

thus

$$\partial_r \int_{\Psi(C,r)} \kappa_C \, d\sigma \bigg|_{r=0} = -K \int_C \rho_C \, d\sigma$$
$$= -K \, \partial_r \lambda(\Psi(D,r)) \big|_{r=0} \, .$$

Namely the quantity

$$\int_C \kappa_C \, d\sigma + K\lambda(D)$$

is invariant under the normal radial flow (as long as it remains in \mathcal{D}). This is a very special case of the Gauss-Bonnet theorem, asserting that the above quantity is equal to 2π times the Euler characteristic of V.

Again, one is left wondering about possible links between the normal radial flow and the generalized Gauss-Bonnet theorem.

(c) It is also natural to ask for a generalization of Lemma 59 when V is a surface whose curvature is not constant.

Let us come back to our martingale problem and to Proposition 57. The explicit description of the martingale associated to the evolution of $(G_f(D_t))_{t \in [0,\tau]}$ in terms of

the stopped Brownian motion $(B_t)_{t \in [0,\tau]}$, enables us to see that for any $f, g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$ and $D \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f,G_g](D) &= G_f(D) \left(F_{\bigtriangleup g}(D) + H_g(D) \right) \\ \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[G_f,G_g](D) &= \left(F_{\bigtriangleup f}(D) + H_f(D) \right) \left(F_{\bigtriangleup g}(D) + H_g(D) \right) . \end{split}$$

These formulas leads to an enrichment of the algebra \mathfrak{D} of the introduction. Indeed, consider the new algebra \mathfrak{D} consisting of the functionals of the form $\mathfrak{F} \coloneqq \mathfrak{f}(A_1, \ldots, A_n)$, where $n \in \mathbb{Z}_+, A_1, \ldots, A_n$ are elementary observables of the form (4) or (108) and $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a \mathcal{C}^{∞} mapping, with \mathcal{R} an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n containing the image of \mathcal{D} by (A_1, \ldots, A_n) . For such a functional \mathfrak{F} , define

$$\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}] = \sum_{j \in \llbracket 1, n \rrbracket} \partial_j \mathfrak{f}(A_1, \dots, A_n) \mathfrak{L}[A_j] + \sum_{k,l \in \llbracket 1, n \rrbracket} \partial_{k,l} \mathfrak{f}(A_1, \dots, A_n) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[A_k, A_l].$$

To two elements of $\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{F} \coloneqq \mathfrak{f}(A_1, \ldots, A_n)$ and $\mathfrak{G} \coloneqq \mathfrak{g}(\widetilde{A}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{A}_m)$, we also associate

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{G}] \coloneqq \sum_{l \in \llbracket n \rrbracket, k \in \llbracket m \rrbracket} \partial_l \mathfrak{f}(A_1, \ldots, A_n) \partial_k \mathfrak{g}(\widetilde{A}_1, \ldots, \widetilde{A}_m) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[A_l, \widetilde{A}_k].$$

These formulas can be directly obtained as consequences of $It\bar{o}$'s formula applied to the expressions given in (107) and Proposition 57, since the corresponding Brownian motions are the same (cf. Remark 54).

6.4. Asymptotic behavior for large times on the plane

In this last subsection, we present an example of application of the above extension of the domain of \mathfrak{L} . We consider the Laplacian $L = \Delta$ on the Euclidean plane \mathbb{R}^2 . We assume the domain of \mathfrak{L} has been extended to contain all mappings of the forms (4) and (108), defined on \mathcal{G} , an extension of \mathcal{D} as described before Theorem 5. Just make the hypothesis that the boundaries of the elements of \mathcal{G} are piecewise differentiable curves.

THEOREM 61. – Let $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a solution to the martingale problem associated to \mathfrak{L} defined for all times. Then we have a.s. in the Hausdorff metric,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{D_t}{\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)}} = B(0, 1/\sqrt{\pi}),$$

where $B(0, 1/\sqrt{\pi})$ is the Euclidean ball centered at 0 of radius $1/\sqrt{\pi}$.

Proof. – From Theorem 5, we know that for any t > 0, $\lambda(D_t) > 0$, namely D_t is not a singleton and belongs to \mathcal{G} by assumption. Up to replacing $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ by $(D_{1+t})_{t\geq 0}$, we assume in this proof that D_t belongs to \mathcal{G} for all $t \geq 0$.

In the Euclidean plane, the following isoperimetric inequality holds:

(115)
$$\forall D \in \mathcal{G}, \qquad \frac{\sigma(C)^2}{\lambda(D)} \ge 4\pi$$

with equality if and only if D is a ball.

From Proposition 55 and $\tau = +\infty$, we deduce that

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \sigma(C_t) \geq 2 \lim_{t \to +\infty} \sqrt{\pi \lambda(D_t)} > 0.$$

Thus in (12) we get $\varsigma = +\infty$ and in (13), $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \theta_t = +\infty$.

Under these circumstances, Theorem 5 asserts that $(\lambda(D_{\theta_t}))_{t\geq 0}$ is a Bessel process of dimension 3 and in particular

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \lambda(D_t) = +\infty.$$

We now use Proposition 57. From the relation $G_1(D) = \sigma(C)$, we get in general that

$$d\sigma(C_t) = \left(\int_{C_t} \rho^{(1)} + 2\frac{\sigma(C_t)}{\lambda(D_t)}\rho\,d\sigma\right)dt + \sqrt{2}\left(\int_{C_t} \rho\,d\sigma\right)dB_t$$

But for the Euclidean space, we have $\rho^{(1)} = -\rho^2$ and $\int \rho \, d\sigma = 2\pi$, according to Lemma 59 and Hopf's Umlaufsatz Theorem (113) (taking into account that the considered boundaries are piecewise differentiable), respectively. Thus we get

$$d\sigma(C_t) = \left(-\int_{C_t} \rho^2 \, d\sigma + 4\pi \frac{\sigma(C_t)}{\lambda(D_t)}\right) dt + 2\sqrt{2}\pi \, dB_t$$

and

$$d\sigma(C_t)^2 = 2\left(-\int_{C_t} \rho^2 \, d\sigma + 4\pi \frac{\sigma(C_t)}{\lambda(D_t)}\right) \sigma(C_t) \, dt + 4\sqrt{2\pi\sigma(C_t)} \, dB_t + 8\pi^2 dt.$$

Recall from (106) that

$$d\lambda(D_t) = 2\frac{\sigma(C_t)^2}{\lambda(D_t)} dt + \sqrt{2}\sigma(C_t) dB_t.$$

Consider the process $Z \coloneqq (Z_t)_{t \ge 0}$ defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad Z_t \coloneqq \sigma(C_t)^2 - 4\pi\lambda(D_t).$$

From the above computations, we deduce that

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad dZ_t = 2\left(4\pi^2 - \sigma(C_t)\int_{C_t} \rho^2 d\sigma\right)dt.$$

By Cauchy-Schwarz' inequality, we have for any $t \ge 0$,

$$4\pi^2 = \left(\int_{C_t} \rho \, d\sigma\right)^2 \leq \sigma(C_t) \int_{C_t} \rho^2 \, d\sigma,$$

showing that Z is a.s. non-increasing. Thus we have

(116)
$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad Z_t \le Z_0.$$

For any $t \ge 0$, denote $\widetilde{D}_t \coloneqq D_t / \sqrt{\lambda(D_t)}$. We have for any $t \ge 0$,

$$\sigma(\widetilde{C}_t)^2 - 4\pi\lambda(\widetilde{D}_t) = \frac{\sigma(C_t)^2 - 4\pi\lambda(D_t)}{\lambda(D_t)}$$
$$\leq \frac{\sigma(C_0)^2 - 4\pi\lambda(D_0)}{\lambda(D_t)}$$

and the last expression goes to zero as t goes to $+\infty$. From Bonnesen's inequality (see e.g., the book of Burago and Zalgaller [4]), we deduce that as t goes to infinity, \tilde{D}_t becomes closer and closer, in Hausdorff metric, to a disk of volume 1. To see the announced result, it is sufficient to see that the barycenter of \tilde{D}_t , which is the barycenter of D_t divided by $\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)}$, i.e.,

$$\frac{1}{\lambda(D_t)^{3/2}}\int_{D_t}x\,\lambda(dx)$$

converges a.s. to 0 as t goes to $+\infty$. It amounts to see that $F_f/F_1^{3/2}(D_t)$ converges to zero for t large, where f is either the first or the second canonical projection of \mathbb{R}^2 . So let f be the first coordinate mapping (the second coordinate can be treated similarly, note that a symmetry argument cannot be used here, since the well-posedness is missing). Before investigating the evolution of $\mathbb{R}_+ \ni t \mapsto F_f/F_1^{3/2}(D_t)$, we need a preliminary result.

LEMMA 62. – A transition phenomenon occurs:

$$\forall a > 1, \qquad \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(D_t)^a} \, ds < +\infty,$$

while

$$\forall a \leq 1, \qquad \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(D_t)^a} \, ds = +\infty.$$

Furthermore, we have for large $t \ge 0$, a.s.,

$$\int_0^t \frac{1}{\lambda(D_s)} \, ds \sim \frac{\ln(F_1)(D_t)}{4\pi}$$

Proof. – This is based on the fact that $\lambda(D_t)$ goes to infinity as t goes to infinity. More precisely, taking into account (104) and (105), we compute, for any a > 0 and any $D \in \mathcal{G}$,

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{L}\left[\frac{1}{F_{1}^{a}}\right](D) &= -\frac{a}{F_{1}^{a+1}(D)} \mathfrak{L}[F_{1}](D) + \frac{a(a+1)}{F_{1}^{a+2}} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1},F_{1}](D) \\ &= a(a-1) \frac{\sigma(C)^{2}}{\lambda(D)^{a+2}} \end{split}$$

and in the sense of Proposition 53

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}} \left[\frac{1}{F_1^a} \right] (D) &= -\frac{a}{F_1^{a+1}(D)} G_1(D) \\ &= -\frac{a\sigma(C)}{\lambda(D)^{a+1}}, \end{split}$$

where $\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}} [1/F_1^a]$ stands for $\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}} [1/F_1^a, 1/F_1^a]}$. Since for any a > 0, we know that $1/F_1^a(D_t)$ converges to zero as t goes to infinity, we deduce that

$$\frac{1}{F_1^a}(D_t) - \frac{1}{F_1^a}(D_0) = \int_0^t \mathfrak{L}\left[\frac{1}{F_1^a}\right](D_s)\,ds + \sqrt{2}\int_0^t \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}}\left[\frac{1}{F_1^a}\right](D_s)\,dB_s$$
(117)
$$= a(a-1)\int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^{a+2}}\,ds - \sqrt{2}a\int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)}{\lambda(D_s)^{a+1}}\,dB_s$$

converges for large $t \ge 0$. By a contradictory argument, assume that

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^{2a+2}} \, ds = +\infty,$$

which implies in particular that

(118)
$$\int_0^{+\infty} \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^{a+2}} \, ds = +\infty$$

since $\lim_{t\to+\infty} \lambda(D_t) = +\infty$. The bracket of the local martingale $(\int_0^t \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}} [\frac{1}{F_1^a}] (D_s) dB_s)_{t\geq 0}$ is given for any $t \geq 0$ by

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \int_0^{\cdot} \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}} \left[\frac{1}{F_1^a} \right] (D_s) \, dB_s \right\rangle_t &= \int_0^t \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}} \left[\frac{1}{F_1^a} \right] (D_s) \, ds \\ &= a^2 \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^{2a+2}} \, ds, \end{split}$$

so that the iterated logarithm law for continuous local martingales implies

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \int_0^t \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}} \left[\frac{1}{F_1^a} \right] (D_s) \, dB_s = +\infty \\ &\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_0^t \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}} \left[\frac{1}{F_1^a} \right] (D_s) \, dB_s = -\infty. \end{split}$$

In view of (118), it would follow that for large $t \ge 0$, the expression in (117) admits $-\infty$ as limit if $a \le 1$ and $+\infty$ as limit if $a \ge 1$, this is in contradiction with the existence of a finite limit. Thus we get

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^{2a+2}} \, ds < +\infty.$$

We get the first announced result, remembering that for large $t \ge 0$, $\sigma(C_t) \sim 2\sqrt{\pi\lambda(D_t)}$.

For the second result with a = 1, rather consider the observable $\ln(1/F_1)$. We have for any $D \in \mathcal{G}$,

$$\mathfrak{L}[\ln(F_1)](D) = \frac{1}{F_1(D)}\mathfrak{L}[F_1](D) - \frac{1}{F_1^2(D)}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_1](D) = \frac{\sigma(C)^2}{\lambda(D)^2}$$

and

$$\sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}}\left[\ln(F_1)\right](D) = rac{1}{F_1(D)}G_1(D) = rac{\sigma(C)}{\lambda(D)}$$

So via similar contradictory arguments as before with

(119)
$$\ln(F_1)(D_t) - \ln(F_1)(D_0) = \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^2} \, ds - \sqrt{2} \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)}{\lambda(D_s)} \, dB_s,$$

which diverges to $+\infty$ as t goes to infinity, we end up with

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^2} \, ds = +\infty.$$

For the last result, we need to apply more carefully the iterated logarithm law. Let $(M_t)_{t>0}$ be the continuous local martingale defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad M_t \coloneqq \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)}{\lambda(D_s)} \, dB_s.$$

Its bracket is given by

$$\forall \, t \geq 0, \qquad \left\langle M \right\rangle_t \coloneqq \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^2} \, ds.$$

Since $\langle M \rangle_t$ diverges to $+\infty$ for large $t \geq 0$, the iterated logarithm law asserts that

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{|M_t|}{\sqrt{\langle M \rangle_t \ln(\ln(\langle M \rangle_t))}} = 1$$

It follows that for large $t \ge 0$,

$$|M_t| \ll \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^2} \, ds$$

and the last statement of the lemma is a direct consequence of (119) and of the fact that $\sigma(C_t)^2 \sim 4\pi\lambda(D_t)$, for large $t \ge 0$.

Let us come back to our objective to show that ξ_t converges a.s. toward 0, where

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad \xi_t \coloneqq \frac{F_f(D_t)}{F_1^{3/2}(D_t)}$$

with f the first coordinate mapping of \mathbb{R}^2 . Instead of applying the martingale problem directly to the composed observable $\mathcal{D} \ni D \mapsto F_f/F_1^{3/2}(D)$, it seems more convenient to decompose ξ_t into $M_t/\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)}$, where $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad M_t \coloneqq \frac{F_f}{F_1}(D_t) = \Lambda[f](D_t).$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 171

From Theorem (3), we have

$$\mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]](D) = \Lambda[\triangle[f]] = 0,$$

so it follows that $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a local martingale. More precisely, we get from Proposition 53 that

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad M_t = M_0 + \int_0^t h_s \, dB_s,$$

where for any $s \ge 0$,

$$\begin{split} h_s &\coloneqq \sqrt{\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_f/F_1](D_s)} \\ &= \frac{G_f}{F_1}(D_s) - \frac{F_f}{F_1^2}(D_s)G_1(D_s) \\ &= \frac{G_1}{F_1}(D_s) \left(\frac{G_f}{G_1} - \frac{F_f}{F_1}\right)(D_s). \end{split}$$

When f is replaced by the identity mapping id : $\mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$, for any $D \in \mathcal{G}$, the vector $\left(\frac{G_{\mathrm{id}}}{G_1} - \frac{F_{\mathrm{id}}}{F_1}\right)(D)$ is the difference between the barycenter of C and the barycenter of D, so it appears easily that for any $s \geq 0$,

$$|h_s| \leq \frac{\sigma(C_s)}{\lambda(D_s)} \left\| \frac{G_{\mathrm{id}}}{G_1}(D_s) - \frac{F_{\mathrm{id}}}{F_1}(D_s) \right\| \leq \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{2\lambda(D_s)}.$$

More precise computations, separately presented in [20] because they rely on techniques belonging to the field of isoperimetric stability, show that there exists a universal constant c > 0 such that for any $D \in \mathcal{G}$ with $\sigma(C)^2 - 4\pi\lambda(D) \leq \lambda(D)/\pi$, we have

$$\left\|\frac{G_{\rm id}}{G_1}(D) - \frac{F_{\rm id}}{F_1}(D)\right\| \le c\lambda^{1/4}(D)(\sigma(C)^2 - 4\pi\lambda(D))^{1/4}.$$

Thus taking into account the decreasing property (116) and the fact that $\lambda(D_s)$ diverges to $+\infty$ as s goes to infinity, we get there exists (a.s.) a random time S and a constant χ (depending on D_0) such that

$$\forall s \ge S, \qquad |h_s| \le \frac{\chi}{\lambda(D_s)^{1/4}}.$$

From the iterated logarithm law, we deduce that as t goes to $+\infty$,

(120)
$$|M_t| = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}\left(\sqrt{\int_0^t \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda(D_s)}} \, ds}\right),$$

where the notation $\phi(t) = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\varphi(t))$, for two functions $\phi, \varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with $\lim_{t\to+\infty} \varphi(t) = +\infty$, means that

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\phi(t)}{\varphi(t) \ln(\ln(\varphi(t)))} < +\infty.$$

Applying the martingale problem to the composed functional $\sqrt{F_1}$, we get that for any $t \ge 0$,

$$\sqrt{F_1(D_t)} = \sqrt{F_1(D_0)} + \frac{3}{4} \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)^{3/2}} \, ds + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)}{\sqrt{\lambda(D_s)}} \, dB_s.$$

Using again, on one hand that $\sigma(C_s)^2$ and $\lambda(D_s)$ are of the same order for large $s \ge 0$, and on the other hand the iterated logarithm law, we deduce that for large $t \ge 0$,

(121)
$$\int_0^t \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda(D_s)}} \, ds = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)} + \sqrt{t}).$$

Another application of the iterated logarithm law to three independent Brownian motions enables to see that if $(R_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a Bessel process of dimension 3, then a.s.,

(122)
$$R_t = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\sqrt{t}).$$

Recall that $(R_t)_{t\geq 0} \coloneqq \lambda(D_{\theta_t})_{t\geq 0}$ is a Bessel process of dimension 3, according to Theorem 5, where $(\theta_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is defined by

$$\forall t \ge 0, \qquad 2\int_0^{ heta_t} \sigma(C_s)^2 \, ds = t.$$

The martingale problem applied to F_1 shows that for any $t \ge 0$,

$$\lambda(D_t) = \lambda(D_0) + 2\int_0^t \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)} \, ds + \sqrt{2}\int_0^t \sigma(C_s) \, dB_s.$$

Replacing t by θ_t , we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_t &\sim \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^{\theta_t} \frac{\sigma(C_s)^2}{\lambda(D_s)} \, ds \\ &= \frac{1}{8\pi} \left(\lambda(D_{\theta_t}) - \lambda(D_0) - \sqrt{2} \int_0^{\theta_t} \sigma(C_s) \, dB_s \right) \\ &= \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} \left(\sqrt{t} + \sqrt{\int_0^{\theta_s} \sigma(C_s)^2 \, ds} \right) \\ &= \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\sqrt{t}). \end{aligned}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} t^2 &= \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\theta_t^{-1}) \\ &= \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(R^2_{\theta_t^{-1}}) \\ &= \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\lambda(D_t)^2), \end{split}$$

where θ^{-1} stands for the inverse mapping of θ : $\mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$. Finally we obtain (123) $\sqrt{t} = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)})$ and this is sufficient to insure that a.s.

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{M_t}{\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)}} = 0,$$

in view of (120) and (121).

REMARK 63. – From (123), it appears that

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\ln(t)}{\ln(\lambda(D_t))} \le 1.$$

We believe (in accordance with the beginning of Lemma 62) that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\ln(\lambda(D_t))}{\ln(t)} = 1,$$

but we have not been able to show it, even taking into account a lower bound on the rate of escape for the Bessel process $(R_t)_{t\geq 0}$ of dimension 3, stating that for any a > 1,

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \frac{R_t \ln^a(t)}{\sqrt{t}} = +\infty$$

according to Theorem 3.2 (ii) of Shiga and Watanabe [27], see also Motoo [23] (the part (i) of their theorem extends (122) to any Bessel process with a positive parameter). This implies that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\ln(R_t)}{\ln(t)} = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Furthermore, note that in the above proof we did not use the last part Lemma 62, which also gives an equivalent of $\ln(\lambda(D_t))$ for large $t \ge 0$.

These shortcomings are an invitation to study further the asymptotic behavior of the renormalized domains $(D_t/\sqrt{\lambda(D_t)})_{t\geq 0}$, in particular their fluctuations around the convergence of Theorem 61.
CHAPTER 7

ELLIPTIC DENSITY THEOREM REVISITED

Here we assume that Conjecture 6 is true: not only we can construct a solution $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D},\mathfrak{L})$ and starting from any singleton $\{x_0\} \subset V$, but it can be coupled with the primal diffusion X starting from x_0 so that (14) and (15) are satisfied. Let us show how to quickly recover the density theorem for elliptic diffusion from this property.

The proof is based on the following elementary observation:

LEMMA 64. – Let $A \subset V$ be a negligible event with respect to μ and denote f its indicator function. For any measurable $D \subset V$ with $\mu(D) > 0$ and $s \ge 0$, we have

$$\Lambda[P_s[f]](D) = 0,$$

where $(P_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is the Markov semi-group associated to L, seen as a family of Markov kernels.

Proof. – Taking into account that μ is invariant for $(P_t)_{t\geq 0}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda[P_s[f]](D) &= \frac{\mu[1_D P_s[f]]}{\mu(D)} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu[P_s[f]]}{\mu(D)} \\ &= \frac{\mu[f]}{\mu(D)} \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

We can now come to the

Proof of Corollary 7. – With the notations of the above lemma and Corollary 7, we want to check that for any $x_0 \in V$ and any r > 0, $P_r[f](x_0) := \mathbb{E}_{x_0}[f(X_r)] = 0$.

For any $t \ge 0$, let \mathcal{F}_t be the σ -field generated by $X_{[0,t]}$ and $D_{[0,t\wedge\tau]}$. From (14), we get the diffusion $X \coloneqq (X_t)_{t\ge 0}$ is also strongly Markovian with respect to the

filtration $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$. Remark that $\tau > 0$, the stopping time entering into the definition of $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$, is also a stopping time with respect to $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$. It follows that

$$\mathbb{E}_{x_0}[f(X_r)] = \mathbb{E}_{x_0}[\mathbb{E}_{x_0}[f(X_r)|\mathcal{F}_{r\wedge\tau}]]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_{x_0}[P_{r-r\wedge\tau}[f](X_{r\wedge\tau})].$$

For any $t \ge 0$, let \mathcal{D}_t be the σ -field generated by $D_{[0,t\wedge\tau]}$. It follows from (14) with $T = r \wedge \tau$, that

$$\mathbb{E}[h(r \wedge \tau, X_{r \wedge \tau}) | \mathcal{D}_{r \wedge \tau}] = \Lambda(D_{r \wedge \tau}, h(r \wedge \tau, \cdot))$$

for any non-negative measurable mapping $h : \mathbb{R}_+ \times V \to \mathbb{R}_+$. We deduce that

$$\mathbb{E}_{x_0}[f(X_r)] = \mathbb{E}_{x_0}[\mathbb{E}_{x_0}[P_{r-r\wedge\tau}[f](X_{r\wedge\tau})|\mathcal{D}_{r\wedge\tau}]]$$

= $\mathbb{E}_{x_0}[\Lambda[P_{r-r\wedge\tau}[f]](D_{r\wedge\tau})]$
= 0

according to Lemma 64. Indeed, we took into account Theorem 5, insuring that for any $t \in (0, \tau]$, we have $\mu(D_t) > 0$.

With Marc Arnaudon, we are currently working on the existence of a coupling as in Conjecture 6 and some results in this direction will be presented in a future paper.

When the solutions to the martingale problems associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and to initial singleton sets can be defined for all times, there is no need to have such a coupling at our disposal to recover the density theorem for elliptic diffusions. Indeed, assume that for any $x_0 \in V$, we can construct a solution $(D_t)_{t\geq 0}$ to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and starting from the singleton $\{x_0\} \subset V$. First, we remark that we can enrich the martingale problem by adding a temporal component. Let us just sketch the argument: when $\mathfrak{F} \in \mathfrak{D}$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, t])$ with t > 0 are given, define

(124)
$$\forall (s,D) \in [0,t] \times \mathcal{D}, \qquad \overline{\mathfrak{L}}[f \otimes \mathfrak{F}](s,D) \coloneqq \partial_s f(s)\mathfrak{F}(D) + f(s)\mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}](D).$$

A simple computation shows that the process $(M_s^{f \otimes \mathfrak{F}})_{s \in [0,t]}$ given by

$$\forall s \in [0,t], \qquad M_s^{f \otimes \mathfrak{F}} \coloneqq f(s)\mathfrak{F}(D_s) - f(0)\mathfrak{F}(D_0) - \int_0^s \overline{\mathfrak{L}}[f \otimes \mathfrak{F}](u, D_u) \, du$$

is a martingale, whose bracket process is given by

$$\forall s \in [0,t], \qquad \left\langle M^{f \otimes \mathfrak{F}}_{\cdot} \right\rangle_s = \int_0^s f^2(u) \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F},\mathfrak{F}](D_u) \, du.$$

By traditional approximations, these considerations can be generalized to more general mappings $\mathfrak{F} : [0, t] \times \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{R}$, in particular they must be \mathcal{C}^1 with respect to the time component so that (124) can be extended to

$$\forall (s,D) \in [0,t] \times \mathcal{D}, \qquad \overline{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F}](s,D) \coloneqq \partial_s \mathfrak{F}(s,D) + \mathfrak{L}[\mathfrak{F}(s,\cdot)](D).$$

The fact that the corresponding process defined by

$$\forall \, s \in [0,t], \qquad M_s^{\mathfrak{F}} \coloneqq \mathfrak{F}(s,D_s) - \mathfrak{F}(0,D_0) - \int_0^s \overline{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathfrak{F}](u,D_u) \, du$$

is a martingale is called the Dynkin's formula.

Fix $g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V)$, the above considerations can be applied to the mapping

$$\mathfrak{F}: [0,t] \times \mathcal{D} \ni (s,D) \mapsto \Lambda[P_{t-s}[g]](D),$$

for which we compute $\overline{\mathcal{L}}[\mathfrak{F}] = 0$, due to the intertwining relation of Theorem 3. Taking expectations, it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}_{\{x_0\}}[\Lambda[g](D_t)] = \Lambda[P_t[g]](\{x_0\}),$$

which amounts to intertwining relations at the level of semi-groups:

$$egin{aligned} &orall g \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(V), \qquad \mathfrak{P}_t[\Lambda[g]](\{x_0\}) &= \Lambda[P_t[g]](\{x_0\}) \ &= P_t[g](x_0), \end{aligned}$$

where $(\mathfrak{P}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is the Markov semi-group associated to \mathfrak{L} . Since both the l.h.s. and the r.h.s. can be seen as integration of the mapping g, this relation is extended to any non-negative measurable function g. When we take for g the indicator function of a measurable set negligible with respect to μ , we get

$$\forall t > 0, \qquad \mathbb{E}_{\{x_0\}}[\Lambda[g](D_t)] = 0,$$

according to Lemma 64 and due to the fact that $\mu(D_t) > 0$, from Theorem 5. We deduce that $P_t[g](x_0) = 0$, for any t > 0 and $x_0 \in V$, as wanted.

An immediate extension is:

PROPOSITION 65. – Assume that there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that for any $x_0 \in V$, we can construct a solution $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\epsilon]}$ to the martingale problem associated to $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$ and starting from the singleton $\{x_0\} \subset V$. Then for any t > 0 and whatever the initial law $\mathcal{L}(X_0)$, the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to μ .

Proof. – The arguments presented above the statement of this proposition show that for any $s \in (0, \epsilon]$ and any function $f : V \to \mathbb{R}_+$ negligible with respect to μ , we have that $P_s[f] = 0$. By invariance of μ , we also have that for any $u \ge 0$, $P_u[f]$ is negligible with respect to μ : $\mu[P_u[f]] = \mu[f] = 0$. We deduce that $P_{s+u}[f] = P_s[P_u[f]] = 0$ and the announced result follows.

Of course Corollary 7 and Proposition 65 are well-known in the present elliptic diffusion framework. Nevertheless, we think this new approach can be adapted to more complicated context, as Theorem 5 is quite universal (it was shown to hold also for hypoelliptic diffusions, for the moment in dimension 1, in [18]). We believe it should always be possible to associate to a diffusion some evolving sets (as mentioned in the introduction) whose weights for an invariant measure behave like a continuous martingale. By conditioning the primal diffusion X to remain inside these sets, we would be led to a Bessel-3 process, up to a time-change and at least if the randomness of X is sufficient, as the Brownian motion conditioned to stay positive ends up being a Bessel-3 process.

Another noticeable downside of Corollary 7 is that it requires the a priori knowledge that μ is absolutely continuous with respect to the Riemannian measure. A more

general statement would only conclude, at positive times, to the absolute continuity of the time-marginal laws with respect to the invariante measure. In this paper we only considered kernels Λ which are directly related to the invariant measure μ , but it would be instructive to condition with respect to other measures, even time-dependent ones.

APPENDIX

ABOUT PRODUCT SITUATIONS

As already mentioned in the introduction, there are in general several dual generators intertwined through Λ with a given generator L. We consider in this appendix the product situation, where this multiplicity is particularly obvious.

Let \widetilde{L} and \widehat{L} be two smooth generators on the manifolds \widetilde{V} and \widehat{V} of dimension larger or equal to 1. Consider $V \coloneqq \widetilde{V} \times \widehat{V}$ endowed with $L \coloneqq \widetilde{L} \otimes \widehat{I} + \widetilde{I} \otimes \widehat{L}$ (\widetilde{I} and \widehat{I} are the identity operators acting on $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{V})$ and $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\widehat{V})$ respectively). All the notions relative to \widetilde{L} (respectively \widehat{L}) will receive a tilde (resp. a hat). Assume that \widetilde{L} admits an invariant Radon measure $\widetilde{\mu}$ and consider on $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$, an appropriate set of compact subsets of \widetilde{V} with positive measures, the kernel $\widetilde{\Lambda}$ naturally associated with $\widetilde{\mu}$. Let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}$ be an algebra of observables on $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$ on which we are given an operator $\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}$, intertwined with \widetilde{L} through $\widetilde{\Lambda} \colon \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}\widetilde{\Lambda} = \widetilde{\Lambda}\widetilde{L}$. Make similar hypotheses for \widehat{L} . Next define

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{G}_{\text{indep}} &\coloneqq \{ \widetilde{D} \times \widehat{D} \,:\, \widetilde{D} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{G}} \text{ and } \widehat{D} \in \widehat{\mathcal{G}} \} \\ \mathfrak{D}_{\text{indep}} &\coloneqq \widetilde{\mathfrak{D}} \otimes \widehat{\mathfrak{D}} \\ \mathfrak{L}_{\text{indep}} &\coloneqq \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}} \otimes I_{\widehat{\mathfrak{D}}} + I_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}} \otimes \widehat{\mathfrak{L}}, \end{split}$$

where $I_{\widehat{\mathfrak{D}}}$ and $I_{\widehat{\mathfrak{D}}}$ are the identity operators on $\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $\widehat{\mathfrak{D}}$ respectively. It is immediate to check that $\mathfrak{L}_{indep}\Lambda = \Lambda L$, where $\Lambda \coloneqq \widetilde{\Lambda} \otimes \widehat{\Lambda}$ is the natural Markov kernel associated with the measure $\mu \coloneqq \widetilde{\mu} \otimes \widehat{\mu}$, invariant for L. When $(\widetilde{D}_t)_{t \in [0,\widetilde{\tau})}$ and $(\widehat{D}_t)_{t \in [0,\widehat{\tau})}$ are independent processes satisfying the martingale problems associated with $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}, \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}})$ and $(\widehat{\mathfrak{D}}, \widehat{\mathfrak{L}})$ respectively, then $(D_t)_{t \in [0,\tau)}$, defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \tau &\coloneqq \widetilde{\tau} \wedge \widehat{\tau} \\ \forall t \in [0, \tau), \qquad D_t \coloneqq (\widetilde{D}_t, \widehat{D}_t) \in \mathcal{G}_{\text{indep}} \end{aligned}$$

is a solution to the martingale problem associated with $(\mathfrak{D}_{indep}, \mathfrak{L}_{indep})$.

It should be clear that such a solution is very different from the one obtained from Theorem 4, due to the fact that the evolutions on $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ and $\hat{\mathcal{G}}$ are independent. In fact, the state spaces \mathcal{G}_{indep} and \mathcal{D} are even disjoint. Consider the example where $\tilde{L} = \hat{L}$ is the Laplacian on \mathbb{R} and add the singletons to \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{D} . Starting from a singleton, the solution associated with \mathfrak{L}_{indep} evolves as rectangles (centered at the initial point) with independent side-lengths behaving as Bessel processes of dimension 3, while the solution associated with Theorem 4 evolves as disks (centered at the initial point) whose radius are Bessel process of dimension 4 (according to Subsection 2.1). It could be objected that this argument is not really valid, since we did not show uniqueness of the solution to the martingale problem associated with $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, or with formal extensions of $(\mathfrak{D}, \mathfrak{L})$, in the sense that exactly the same definitions are applied to more general subsets than those from \mathcal{D} . But in Proposition 61, it is proven that a solution to such a martingale problem, which is furthermore defined for all times, ends up looking like a big disk and this is not true for the processes associated with $(\mathfrak{D}_{indep}, \mathfrak{L}_{indep})$, since starting from a rectangle, it remains in the set of rectangles.

The fact that under \mathfrak{L} the evolutions of different parts of the boundary of a domain are strongly correlated could suggest to try to couple the evolutions under $\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}$ and $\widehat{\mathfrak{L}}$. More precisely, assume that $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ and that $\widetilde{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}$ are constructed as in the introduction, similarly for $(\widehat{\mathcal{G}}, \widehat{\mathfrak{D}}, \widehat{\mathfrak{L}})$. Let $(\widetilde{D}_t)_{t \in [0, \widetilde{\tau})}$ and $(\widehat{D}_t)_{t \in [0, \widetilde{\tau})}$ be solutions to the corresponding martingale problems. According to Proposition 53, there exist Brownian motions $(\widetilde{B}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ and $(\widehat{B}_t)_{t \geq 0}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \forall \, \widetilde{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{V}), \, \forall \, t \in [0, \widetilde{\tau}), \qquad dF_{\widetilde{f}}(\widetilde{D}_t) = \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widetilde{f}}](\widetilde{D}_t) \, dt + \sqrt{2} \sqrt{\Gamma_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}}[F_{\widetilde{f}}](\widetilde{D}_t) \, d\widetilde{B}_t} \\ &= \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widetilde{f}}](\widetilde{D}_t) \, dt + \sqrt{2} G_{\widetilde{f}}(\widetilde{D}_t) \, d\widetilde{B}_t \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \forall \, \widehat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\widehat{V}), \, \forall \, t \in [0, \widehat{\tau}), \qquad dF_{\widehat{f}}(\widehat{D}_t) = \widehat{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widehat{f}}](\widetilde{D}_t) \, dt + \sqrt{2} \sqrt{\Gamma_{\widehat{\mathfrak{L}}}}[F_{\widehat{f}}](\widehat{D}_t) \, d\widehat{B}_t \\ &= \widehat{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widehat{f}}](\widetilde{D}_t) \, dt + \sqrt{2} G_{\widehat{f}}(\widehat{D}_t) \, d\widehat{B}_t. \end{split}$$

In the previous independent framework, $(\tilde{B}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and $(\hat{B}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ are independent and we end up with the generator \mathfrak{L}_{indep} . Now we would like to couple $(\tilde{D}_t)_{t\in[0,\tilde{\tau})}$ with $(\hat{D}_t)_{t\in[0,\tilde{\tau})}$ by taking $(\tilde{B}_t)_{t\geq 0} = (\hat{B}_t)_{t\geq 0}$, since this is suggested by a naive extension of the radial evolution (3) to the domains belonging to \mathcal{G}_{indep} . But again we end up with a process different from the one obtained from Theorem 4, for the same reason as above: in the case $\tilde{L} = \hat{L} = \partial^2$, it will evolve as squares if it is started from a square. It can also be seen on the action of the generators on observables of the form $F_{\tilde{f}\otimes\hat{f}}$, where $\tilde{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$ and $\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\hat{V})$. In the general setting, Itō's formula leads for the above coupling to the generator \mathfrak{L}_{equal} acting on \mathcal{G}_{indep} as

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] = F_{\widehat{f}}\otimes\widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widetilde{f}}] + F_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes\widehat{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widehat{f}}] + 2G_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes G_{\widehat{f}}$$

with the notation of Subsection 6.3. But simple computations show that the formal extension of \mathfrak{L} to \mathcal{G}_{indep} should be given by

$$\mathfrak{L}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] = \widetilde{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widetilde{f}}] \otimes F_{\widehat{f}} + F_{\widetilde{f}} \otimes \widehat{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widehat{f}}] + 2\frac{G_{\widetilde{1}}}{F_{\widetilde{1}}}F_{\widetilde{f}} \otimes G_{\widehat{f}} + 2G_{\widetilde{f}} \otimes \frac{G_{\widehat{1}}}{F_{\widehat{1}}}F_{\widehat{f}},$$

where $\tilde{1} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$ and $\hat{1} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\hat{V})$ are the functions always taking the value 1.

But in both cases, we have the same carré du champs: for any $\tilde{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$ and $\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] &= \Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] \\ &= \left(F_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes G_{\widehat{f}} + G_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes F_{\widehat{f}}\right)^2 \end{split}$$

which is different from

$$\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}_{\mathrm{indep}}}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] = F_{\widetilde{f}}^2 \otimes G_{\widehat{f}}^2 + G_{\widetilde{f}}^2 \otimes F_{\widehat{f}}^2.$$

Nevertheless, the generator \mathfrak{L}_{equal} is not intertwined with L through Λ . Indeed, for any $\tilde{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$ and $\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$, denote

$$\Re_{\widetilde{f}\otimes \widehat{f}}\coloneqq G_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes G_{\widehat{f}}-\frac{G_{\widetilde{1}}}{F_{\widetilde{1}}}F_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes G_{\widehat{f}}-G_{\widetilde{f}}\otimes \frac{G_{\widehat{1}}}{F_{\widehat{1}}}F_{\widehat{f}}$$

so that

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] = \mathfrak{L}[F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}] + 2\mathfrak{R}_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}.$$

From the proof of Theorem 3, we have, with $f \coloneqq \widetilde{f} \otimes \widehat{f}$ and $1 \coloneqq \widetilde{1} \otimes \widehat{1}$,

$$\begin{split} F_{1}\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[\Lambda[f]] &= \mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[F_{f}] - \frac{2}{F_{1}}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}}[F_{f},F_{1}] + F_{f}\left(\frac{2}{F_{1}^{2}}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}}[F_{1},F_{1}] - \frac{1}{F_{1}}\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[F_{1}]\right) \\ &= \mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[F_{f}] - \frac{2}{F_{1}}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{f},F_{1}] + F_{f}\left(\frac{2}{F_{1}^{2}}\Gamma_{\mathfrak{L}}[F_{1},F_{1}] - \frac{1}{F_{1}}\mathfrak{L}_{\text{equal}}[F_{1}]\right) \\ &= F_{1}\mathfrak{L}[\Lambda[f]] + 2\mathfrak{R}_{f} - 2\frac{F_{f}}{F_{1}}\mathfrak{R}_{1} \\ &= F_{1}\Lambda[L[f]] + 2\mathfrak{R}_{f} - 2\frac{F_{f}}{F_{1}}\mathfrak{R}_{1}. \end{split}$$

Thus if the generator \mathfrak{L}_{equal} was to be intertwined with L through Λ , we would have for any $\tilde{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\tilde{V})$ and $\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\hat{V})$,

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{R}_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}} &= \frac{F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}}{F_1}\mathfrak{R}_1 \\ &= -\frac{F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}}{F_1}G_{\widetilde{1}}\otimes G_{\widehat{1}}. \end{split}$$

This equality holds on \mathcal{G}_{indep} , namely for any $\widetilde{D} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ and $\widehat{D} \in \widehat{\mathcal{D}}$, we have

$$F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes \widehat{f}}(\widetilde{D}\times \widehat{D}) = -\frac{\widetilde{\mu}(D)\widehat{\mu}(\widetilde{D})}{\widetilde{\underline{\mu}}(\partial \widetilde{D})\underline{\widehat{\mu}}(\partial \widehat{D})} \Re_{\widetilde{f}\otimes \widehat{f}}(\widetilde{D}\times \widehat{D}).$$

The sets \widetilde{D} and \widehat{D} being fixed, the mapping $\widetilde{f} \otimes \widehat{f} \mapsto \Re_{\widetilde{f} \otimes \widetilde{f}}(\widetilde{D} \times \widehat{D})$ corresponds to an integration of $\widetilde{f} \otimes \widehat{f}$ on the boundary of $\widetilde{D} \otimes \widehat{D}$, while $\widetilde{f} \otimes \widehat{f} \mapsto F_{\widetilde{f} \otimes \widehat{f}}(\widetilde{D} \times \widehat{D})$ correspond to an integration of $\widetilde{f} \otimes \widehat{f}$ on the interior of $\widetilde{D} \otimes \widehat{D}$. Thus for any function \widetilde{f} (respectively \widehat{f}) whose support is included in the interior of \widetilde{D} (resp. \widehat{D}), we get $F_{\widetilde{f}\otimes\widehat{f}}(\widetilde{D}\times\widehat{D})=0$, i.e., $\widetilde{\mu}\otimes\widehat{\mu}$ vanishes on the interior of $\widetilde{D}\otimes\widehat{D}$. Since this is true for any $\widetilde{D}\in\widetilde{D}$ and $\widehat{D}\in\widehat{D}$, we would conclude that $\widetilde{\mu}=0$ and $\widehat{\mu}=0$, a contradiction.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] J. W. ANDERSON *Hyperbolic geometry*, second ed., Springer Undergraduate Mathematics Series, Springer, 2005.
- [2] M. ARNAUDON, K. COULIBALY-PASQUIER & L. MICLO "Construction of setvalued dual processes on manifolds", in progress, 2020.
- [3] D. BAKRY, I. GENTIL & M. LEDOUX Analysis and geometry of Markov diffusion operators, Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 348, Springer, 2014.
- [4] Y. D. BURAGO & V. A. ZALGALLER Geometric inequalities, Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 285, Springer, 1988.
- [5] P. DIACONIS & J. A. FILL "Strong stationary times via a new form of duality", Ann. Probab. 18 (1990), p. 1483–1522.
- [6] H. Doss "Liens entre équations différentielles stochastiques et ordinaires", Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Sect. B (N.S.) 13 (1977), p. 99–125.
- [7] S. N. ETHIER & T. G. KURTZ Markov processes, Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Probability and Mathematical Statistics, John Wiley & Sons, 1986.
- [8] L. C. EVANS Partial differential equations, second ed., Graduate Studies in Math., vol. 19, Amer. Math. Soc., 2010.
- J. A. FILL & V. LYZINSKI "Strong stationary duality for diffusion processes", J. Theoret. Probab. 29 (2016), p. 1298–1338.
- [10] S. GALLOT, D. HULIN & J. LAFONTAINE *Riemannian geometry*, third ed., Universitext, Springer, 2004.
- [11] L. HÖRMANDER "Hypoelliptic second order differential equations", Acta Math. 119 (1967), p. 147–171.
- [12] H. HUANG "The Cauchy problem for fully nonlinear parabolic systems on manifolds", preprint arXiv:1506.05030.

- [13] N. IKEDA & S. WATANABE Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes, North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 24, North-Holland Publishing; Kodansha, 1981.
- [14] S. KARLIN & H. M. TAYLOR A second course in stochastic processes, Academic Press, 1981.
- [15] A. LUNARDI Analytic semigroups and optimal regularity in parabolic problems, Modern Birkhäuser Classics, Birkhäuser, 1995.
- [16] M. MACHIDA "Λ-linked coupling for drifting Brownian motions", preprint arXiv:1908.07559.
- [17] C. MANTEGAZZA Lecture notes on mean curvature flow, Progress in Math., vol. 290, Birkhäuser, 2011.
- [18] L. MICLO "Duality and hypoellipticity: one-dimensional case studies", *Electron. J. Probab.* 22 (2017), Paper No. 91.
- [19] _____, "Strong stationary times for one-dimensional diffusions", Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré Probab. Stat. 53 (2017), p. 957–996.
- [20] _____, "Isoperimetric stability of boundary barycenters in the plane", Ann. Math. Blaise Pascal 26 (2019), p. 67–80.
- [21] _____, "On the construction of measure-valued dual processes", *Electron. J. Probab.* 25 (2020), Paper No. 6.
- [22] B. MORRIS & Y. PERES "Evolving sets, mixing and heat kernel bounds", Probab. Theory Related Fields 133 (2005), p. 245–266.
- [23] M. MOTOO "Proof of the law of iterated logarithm through diffusion equation", Ann. Inst. Statist. Math. 10 (1958), p. 21–28.
- [24] J. PARKKONEN "Hyperbolic geometry", Unpublished review available at users. jyu.fi/~parkkone/RG2012/HypGeom.pdf.
- [25] J. W. PITMAN "One-dimensional Brownian motion and the three-dimensional Bessel process", Advances in Appl. Probability 7 (1975), p. 511–526.
- [26] D. REVUZ & M. YOR Continuous martingales and Brownian motion, third ed., Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 293, Springer, 1999.
- [27] T. SHIGA & S. WATANABE "Bessel diffusions as a one-parameter family of diffusion processes", Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 27 (1973), p. 37–46.
- [28] H. J. SUSSMANN "On the gap between deterministic and stochastic ordinary differential equations", Ann. Probability 6 (1978), p. 19–41.

Série MÉMOIRES DE LA S.M.F.

2021

- 170. A. ARABIA Espaces de configuration généralisés. Espaces topologiques *i*-acycliques. Suites spectrales basiques
- 169. C. ERIGNOU Hydrodynamic limit for an active exclusion process
- 168. V. A. DOLGUSHEV Stable Formality Quasi-isomorphisms for Hochschild Cochains

2020

- 167. D. BENOIS p-adic height and p-adic Hodge theory
- 166. Y. ALMOG & B. HELFFER The spectrum of a Schrödinger operator in a wire-like domain with a purely imaginary degenerate potential in the semiclassical limit
- 165. D. ARA & G. MALTSINIOTIS Joint et tranches pour les ∞-catégories strictes
- 164. S. GHAZOUANI & L. PIRIO Moduli spaces of flat tori and elliptic hypergeometric functions

2019

- 163. D. XU Lifting the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky module p^n
- 162. J.-H. CHIENG, C.-Y. HSIAO & I-H. TSAI Heat kernel asymptotics, local index theorem and trace integrals for Cauchy-Riemann manifolds with S^1 action
- 161. F. JAUBERTEAU, Y. ROLLIN & S. TAPIE Discrete geometry and isotropic surfaces
- 160. P. VIDOTTO Ergodic properties of some negatively curved manifolds with infinite measure

2018

- 159. L. POSITSELSKI Weakly curved A_{∞} -algebras over a topological local ring
- 158. T. LUPU Poisson ensembles of loops of one-dimensional diffusions
- 157. M. SPITZWECK A commutative \mathbb{P}^1 -spectrum representing motivic cohomology over Dedekind domains
- 156. C. SABBAH Irregular Hodge Theory

2017

- 155. Y. DING Formes modulaires *p*-adiques sur les courbes de Shimura unitaires et compatibilité local-global
- 154. G. MASSUYEAU, V. TURAEV Brackets in the Pontryagin algebras of manifolds
- 153. M.P. GUALDANI, S. MISCHLER, C. MOUHOT Factorization of non-symmetric operators and exponential H-theorem
- 152. M. MACULAN Diophantine applications of geometric invariant theory
- 151. T. SCHOENEBERG Semisimple Lie algebras and their classification over p-adic fields
- 150. P.G. LEFLOCH, Y. MA The mathematical validity of the f(R) theory of modified gravity

2016

- 149. R. BEUZART-PLESSIS La conjecture locale de Gross-Prasad pour les représentations tempérées des groupes unitaires
- 148. M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI Compactness properties of perturbed sub-stochastic C_0 -semigroups on $L^1(\mu)$ with applications to discreteness and spectral gaps
- 147. Y. CHITOUR, P. KOKKONEN Rolling of manifolds and controllability in dimension three
- 146. N. KARALIOLIOS Global aspects of the reducibility of quasiperiodic cocycles in compact Lie groups
- 145. V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, M. DAUGE, N. POPOFF Ground state energy of the magnetic Laplacian on corner domains
- 144. P. AUSCHER, S. STAHLHUT Functional calculus for first order systems of Dirac type and boundary value problems

- 143. R. DANCHIN, P.B. MUCHA Critical functional framework and maximal regularity in action on systems of incompressible flows
- 142. J. AYOUB Motifs des variétés analytiques rigides
- 140/141. Y. LU, B. TEXIER A stability criterion for high-frequency oscillations

2014

- 138/139. T. MOCHIZUKI Holonomic D-modules with Betti structures
 - 137. P. SEIDEL Abstract analogues of flux as symplectic invariants
 - 136. J. SJÖSTRAND Weyl law for semi-classical resonances with randomly perturbed potentials

2013

- 135. L. PRELLI Microlocalization of subanalytic sheaves
- 134. P. BERGER Persistence of stratification of normally expanded laminations
- 133. L. DESIDERI Problème de Plateau, équations fuchsiennes et problème de Riemann Hilbert
- 132. X. BRESSAUD, N. FOURNIER One-dimensional general forest fire processes

2012

- 130/131. Y. NAKKAJIMA Weight filtration and slope filtration on the rigid cohomology of a variety in characteristic p > 0
 - 129. W. A STEINMETZ-ZIKESCH Algèbres de Lie de dimension infinie et théorie de la descente
 - 128. D. DOLGOPYAT Repulsion from resonances

2011

127. B. LE STUM – The overconvergent site

- 125/126. J. BERTIN, M. ROMAGNY Champs de Hurwitz
 - 124. G. HENNIART, B. LEMAIRE Changement de base et induction automorphe pour GL_n en caractéristique non nulle

2010

- 123. C.-H. HSIAO Projections in several complex variables
- 122. H. DE THÉLIN, G. VIGNY Entropy of meromorphic maps and dynamics of birational maps
- 121. M. REES A Fundamental Domain for V₃
- 120. H. CHEN Convergence des polygones de Harder-Narasimhan

2009

- 119. B. DEMANGE Uncertainty principles associated to non-degenerate quadratic forms
- 118. A. SIEGEL, J. M. THUSWALDNER Topological properties of Rauzy fractals
- 117. D. HÄFNER Creation of fermions by rotating charged black holes
- 116. P. BOYER Faisceaux pervers des cycles évanescents des variétés de Drinfeld et groupes de cohomologie du modèle de Deligne-Carayol

2008

- 115. R. ZHAO, K. ZHU Theory of Bergman Spaces in the Unit Ball of \mathbb{C}^n
- 114. M. ENOCK Measured quantum groupoids in action
- 113. J. FASEL Groupes de Chow orientés
- 112. O. BRINON Représentations p-adiques cristallines et de de Rham dans le cas relatif

2007

- 111. A. DJAMENT Foncteurs en grassmanniennes, filtration de Krull et cohomologie des foncteurs
- 110. S. SZABÓ Nahm transform for integrable connections on the Riemann sphere
- 109. F. LESIEUR Measured quantum groupoids
- 108. J. GASQUI, H. GOLDSCHMIDT Infinitesimal isospectral deformations of the Grassmannian of 3-planes in \mathbb{R}^6

Mémoires de la S.M.F.

Instructions aux auteurs / Instructions to Authors

Les *Mémoires* de la SMF publient, en français ou en anglais, des articles longs de recherche ou des monographies de la plus grande qualité qui font au moins 80 pages. Les *Mémoires* sont le supplément du *Bulletin* de la SMF et couvrent l'ensemble des mathématiques. Son comité de rédaction est commun avec celui du *Bulletin*.

Le manuscrit doit être envoyé au format pdf au comité de rédaction, à l'adresse électronique memoires@smf.emath.fr Les articles acceptés doivent être composés en LATEX avec la classe smfart ou smfbook, disponible sur le site de la SMF http://smf.emath.fr/ ou avec toute classe standard. In the Mémoires of the SMF are published, in French or in English, long research articles or monographs of the highest mathematical quality, that are at least 80 pages long. Articles in all areas of mathematics are considered. The Mémoires are the supplement of the Bulletin of the SMF. They share the same editorial board.

The manuscript must be sent in pdf format to the editorial board to the email address memoires@smf.emath.fr. The accepted articles must be composed in $E^{A}T_{E}X$ with the smfart or the smfbook class available on the SMF website http://smf.emath.fr/ or with any standard class. On a manifold, consider an elliptic diffusion X admitting an invariant measure μ . The goal of this paper is to introduce and investigate the first properties of stochastic domain evolutions $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ which are intertwining dual processes for X (where τ is an appropriate positive stopping time before the potential emergence of singularities). They provide an extension of Pitman's theorem, as it turns out that $(\mu(D_t))_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ is a Bessel-3 process, up to a natural time-change. When X is a Brownian motion on a Riemannian manifold, the dual domain-valued process is a stochastic modification of the mean curvature flow to which is added an isoperimetric ratio drift to prevent it from collapsing into singletons.

Sur une variété, considérons une diffusion elliptique X de mesure invariante μ . Le but de ce papier est d'introduire et d'étudier les premières propriétés d'évolutions stochastiques de domaines $(D_t)_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ qui sont des processus duaux par entrelacement de X (où τ est un temps d'arrêt strictement positif précédant l'apparition éventuelle de singularités). Il s'agit d'une extension du théorème de Pitman, puisqu'il ressort que $(\mu(D_t))_{t\in[0,\tau]}$ est un processus de Bessel-3, à un changement naturel de temps près. Quand X est un mouvement brownien sur une variété compacte, ce processus dual à valeurs domaines est une modification stochastique du flot par courbure moyenne auquel est ajouté une dérive fournie par un quotient isopérimétrique qui l'empêche de s'effondrer en des singletons.